
 

 
Telephone Enquiries: Democratic Services, Democratic Services (01254) 

380116/380109/380184 
Email: memberservices@hyndburnbc.gov.uk 
Published on Wednesday, 5 January 2022 

Page 1 of 3 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Council 
 
Thursday, 13 January 2022 at 7.00 pm, 
Ballroom, Town Hall, Accrington 
 
Membership 
 
Councillor Kath Pratt (Mayor) in the Chair,  
Councillors Judith Addison, Dominik Allen, Josh Allen, Mohammad Ayub, Noordad Aziz, 
Peter Britcliffe, Andrew Clegg, Loraine Cox, Paul Cox, Munsif Dad BEM JP, Diane Fielding, 
Melissa Fisher, June Harrison, Marlene Haworth, Susan Hayes, Carole Haythornthwaite, 
Eamonn Higgins, Michael Hindley, Terry Hurn, Abdul Khan, Chris Knight, Sajid Mahmood, 
Patrick McGinley, Michael Miller, Jenny Molineux, Caroline Montague, Tim O'Kane, Dave Parkins, 
Bernadette Parkinson, Miles Parkinson OBE, Joyce Plummer, Paddy Short, Steven Smithson and 
Kate Walsh 
 

 

A G E N D A 
 
 

1.   Apologies for absence   
 
 

2.   Declarations of Interest and Dispensations   
 
 

3.   Announcements   
 
a) Mayor 
 
b) Leader of the Council 
 
c) Chief Executive 
 

Public Document Pack



 

Page 2 of 3 

 

 

4.   Confirmation of Minutes  (Pages 5 - 12) 
 
To confirm as a correct record the Minutes of the meeting held on 18th November 2021 
(attached). 
 

5.   Question Time   
 
To deal with any questions submitted under Council Procedure Rule A2.2(vi). 
 

6.   Town Centre Investment Plan and Levelling Up Funding Bid  (Pages 13 - 94) 
 
Report attached. 
 

7.   Performance Indicators Monitoring & Treasury Management Strategy Update  
(Pages 95 - 100) 
 
Report attached. 
 

8.   Minutes of Cabinet  (Pages 101 - 112) 
 
To receive the Minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 8th December 2021 (attached). 
 
Rules of Debate 
 

 The Leader of the Council will move the Minutes, the Deputy Leader of the 
Council will second the Minutes. 

 Non-executive Members will be invited to make comment or ask questions on the 
Minutes (5 Minutes). 

 Cabinet Members will be invited to make comments and respond to any points 
raised (5 Minutes). 

 The Leader of the Council will be given up to 15 Minutes to respond and to 
answer any questions raised. 

 

9.   Minutes of Committees  (Pages 113 - 122) 
 
To receive the Minutes of committees, as set out below: 
 
Rules of Debate 
 

 The Leader of the Council will introduce the Minutes as a whole. 

 Any Member may raise any issue from the Minutes; the Chair of the relevant 
Committee may respond (5 Minutes). 

 The Leader of the Council will close the debate (5 Minutes). 
 

Meeting (Municipal Year 2021/22) Date 

Licensing Sub-Committee 15th November 2021 



 

Page 3 of 3 

 

Planning Committee 30th November 2021 

Standards Committee 9th December 2021 
 

10.   Motion(s) submitted on Notice  (Pages 123 - 124) 
 
Report attached. 
 

 
 
 

 
Chief Executive 
Scaitcliffe House, 
Ormerod Street, 
ACCRINGTON BB5 OPF 
 
Wednesday, 5 January 2022 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
1 

 
COUNCIL 

 

 
Thursday, 18th November, 2021 

 
 

Present:  The Mayor, Councillor Kath Pratt (in the Chair); Councillors Judith Addison, 
Dominik Allen, Josh Allen, Mohammad Ayub, Noordad Aziz, Peter Britcliffe, 
Andrew Clegg, Loraine Cox, Paul Cox, Munsif Dad BEM JP, Diane Fielding, 
Melissa Fisher, June Harrison, Marlene Haworth, Susan Hayes, 
Carole Haythornthwaite, Eamonn Higgins, Terry Hurn, Abdul Khan, 
Chris Knight, Sajid Mahmood, Patrick McGinley, Michael Miller, 
Jenny Molineux, Tim O'Kane, Dave Parkins, Bernadette Parkinson, 
Miles Parkinson OBE, Joyce Plummer, Steven Smithson and Kate Walsh 
 

Apologies:  Councillors Michael Hindley, Caroline Montague and Paddy Short 
 

 
170 Apologies for absence 

 
Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Councillors Michael Hindley, Caroline 
Montague and Paddy Short. 
 

171 Declarations of Interest and Dispensations 
 
Councillor Munsif Dad BEM JP declared a personal interest in Agenda Item 6, Climate 
Change Emergency – Creation of a £1M Reserve, due to its connection with the 
decarbonisation elements of the Hyndburn Leisure Transformation project and, in view of 
his role as member of the Board of Trustees of Hyndburn Leisure. 
 
There were no declarations of dispensations submitted. 
 

172 Announcements 
 
The Mayor made the following announcements: 
 
1. Remembrance Sunday 
 
Last week had seen a multitude of services and parades taking place across the Borough 
to commemorate Armistice Day on 11th November and Remembrance Sunday on the 14th 
November.  The Mayor felt privileged to attend a number of those events to say a few 
words and to lay wreaths in honour of those who had sacrificed everything for the freedoms 
that we enjoy today.  We will remember them. 
 
The Mayor offered her thanks to the Royal British Legion, clergy, voluntary groups, staff 
and members of the public who had continued to ensure that these events went from 
strength to strength each year. 
 
Prior to these very important and memorable events the Mayor had attended several 
engagements, both within and outside of the Borough. 
 
2. September Engagements 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 4.



 
 
 

 

 
2 

In September there had been visits to the Heritage Celebration at Stanhill Methodist 
Church, where the Mayor had been shown around the Textile Museum and memorabilia.  
Then she had attended Rossendale’s Civic Lunch at the Whitaker Museum, preceded by a 
tour of the museum. 
 
3. October Engagements 
 
In October there had been a visit to The Park Child and Family Centre, where the Mayor 
had a first class view of the wonderful artistic exhibitions done by the children.  In addition, 
Accrington and Rossendale College had held their awards ceremony in the Borough’s 
magnificent Ballroom, at the Town Hall. 
 
On Saturday and Sunday, 2nd and 3rd October there had been a visit to Trinity Church Open 
Day and Church Service, which had enabled the Mayor to see how things were recovering 
after such a long lock-down. 
 
A visit to the Judges’ Service at Preston Minster on 4th October had been something not to 
be missed, with all the legal professions on display in their wigs and costumes. 
 
Numerous other events had taken place, to include the Lancashire Women’s Community 
Hub AGM, the opening of the Food Pantry on Broadway, an invitation from Getshangry and 
a visit to the High Sheriff of Lancashire’s event at Booths in Lytham on 27th October. 
 
4. November Engagements 
 
On 3rd November a visit had taken place to Spring into Action.  The Mayor and Mayoress 
had attended the long-awaited opening of the newly renovated Rhyddings School on 5th 
November and how well those renovations had gone! 
 
Other engagements included the induction of the new vicar of St Peter and St Paul’s in 
Rishton by the Bishop of Blackburn on 8th November.  Then on 12th November there had 
been an invitation to visit the Unique Ladies Club of Hyndburn, which had been a very 
enjoyable morning where the Mayor had been able to meet with several of the Borough’s 
up and coming entrepreneurs.  This had been followed in the evening by Hyndburn and 
Ribble Valley Volunteer Hub presentations.  Finally, on 11th November, with Blackburn 
Cathedral appropriately beautifully lit-up with red diffused lighting, the High Sheriff of 
Lancashire’s and The Dean’s Banquet had taken place in the nave of Blackburn Cathedral. 
 
5. Christmas 2021  
 
Soon everyone would start to see the beginning of the festive season, with the switching on 
of Christmas lights in Hyndburn’s townships.  The Mayor encouraged member of the public 
to keep an eye out for the events in Accrington Town Centre and in local communties and 
to come along with their ‘own little elves’ to enjoy the spectacle. 
 
Residents were reminded to support local shops and businesses when searching for 
presents and when stocking up for the Christmas celebrations. 
 
The Mayor wished everyone all the very best, however they chose to enjoy the Christmas 
period. 
 
The Leader of the Council, Councillor Miles Parkinson OBE, made the following 
announcements: 
 
6. County Deal 

Page 6



 
 
 

 

 
3 

 
Lancashire local government leaders had agreed to work together on their aspiration for a 
County Deal.  Discussions were on-going and productive.  Detailed plans were now being 
developed and would be presented in the New Year. 
 
The proposals were about the devolution of Government powers and funding to the area.  
Leaders across the county were working closely together to secure the right deal. 
 
7. Market Hall Rent Concessions 
 
This was the last full Council before Christmas.  Market traders had been lobbying for an 
extension to the 22.5% rent concession currently in place, which was due to expire in 
December 2021.  A report would be prepared for Cabinet on 8th December 2021 seeking to 
retain the 22.5% concession until March 2023. 
 
Mr David Welsby, Chief Executive, made the following announcement: 
 
8. Welcome 
 
The Chief Executive introduced the new Civic Attendant, Gordon Lucas, to councillors.  All 
present welcomed him into his new role. 
 
The Mayor announced that she had received a request to speak under this agenda Item 
from Councillor Jenny Molineux.  Under the circumstances, the Mayor had agreed to this 
request.  However, she confirmed that it would not be appropriate to allow any questions or 
debate on the matter.  Any queries could be raised outside of the meeting. 
 
9. Resignation 
 
Councillor Molineux delivered a personal account of her recent experiences.  She explained 
that a complaint had been made about her conduct to the Labour Party, following her 
attendance, as spouse, with her husband (a Conservative candidate at the last election) at 
a Conservative Party social event.  The complaint had resulted in her suspension from the 
Labour Party.  Councillor Molineux considered that she had been the victim of on-going 
harassment from certain individuals within her own Party due to her husband’s political 
affiliations.  She had remained loyal to her Labour convictions, but alleged that the actions 
of some individuals had taken a toll on her mental health, which had now brought matters to 
a head. 
 
Councillor Molineux placed on record her thanks to the following Members for their personal 
support during this extremely difficult time: Councillors J Harrison, J Plummer, B Parkinson, 
P Short, L Cox, C Montague, P Cox and M Parkinson OBE. 
 
Councillor Molineux announced her intention not to re-stand at the next local election and 
gave notice of her resignation from the Labour Group with immediate effect.  She gave an 
undertaking to continue to serve the electorate to the best of her ability and to see out her 
term of office as an Independent councillor. 
 
Councillor Molineux received a round of applause in response to her speech. 
 

173 Confirmation of Minutes 
 
The Minutes of the Council meeting held on 23rd September 2021 were submitted for 
approval as a correct record. 
 

Page 7



 
 
 

 

 
4 

Resolved - That the Minutes of the Council meeting held on the 
23rd September 2021 be approved as a correct 
record.  

 
174 Question Time 

 
The Mayor reported that no questions had been submitted under this Agenda Item. 
 

175 Climate Change Emergency - Creation of £1m Reserve 
 
Members considered a report of Councillor Miles Parkinson OBE, Leader of the Council, 
seeking approval to the redesignation of £1m of reserves held for a variety of purposes to a 
new reserve to help the Council combat climate change. 
 
Councillor M Parkinson introduced the report and explained the background to the Council’s 
commitment to tackling climate change.  The recent Conference of the Parties (COP 26) in 
Glasgow had recognised the continuing environmental challenges faced by the whole 
planet.  The Council wished to send out a strong message that it supported addressing 
these challenges through action on buildings, parks and vehicles.  The matter was 
important to the Borough’s residents, especially the young. 
 
The report indicated that the Council had previously discussed extensively the threat posed 
by Climate Change and declared a Climate Change Emergency at its meeting on the 19th 
September 2019.  At that time the Leader of the Council had indicated that he wished to 
make a financial commitment of £1m towards action to deal with Climate Change.  Due to 
the impact of COVID 19 it had not been possible to implement this change when setting the 
2021/22 Budget.  However, as the danger from COVID 19 appeared to have stabilised and 
the threat around the need to spend significant additional sums by the Council to help fight 
it had receded, it was now appropriate for the Council to approve the creation of the new 
Reserve, which would allow projects and action to be undertaken as required. 
 
The report highlighted a number of issues as follows: 
 

 The global impact of climate change; 

 International agreements to combat global warming; 

 The impact on the UK of climate change; 

 The Council’s response to the emerging threats, including the Green Review; 

 Declaration of a Climate Change Emergency; 

 Budget speech commitments made in February 2020; 

 Progress on existing actions around decarbonisation; 

 Future Council priorities and leading the community to reduce its carbon footprint; 

 Targets; and 

 Funding sources for the new Reserve. 
 
The following Members spoke in favour of the proposals: Councillors Noordad Aziz, 
Marlene Haworth and Patrick McGinley.  Members affirmed that there was cross-party 
support for these initiatives. 
 
Resolved (1) That the Council approves the creation of a Climate 

Change Emergency Reserve of £1m via the transfers 
of funds from other reserves currently held by the 
Council, as detailed in the report (at Paragraph 3.21). 

 

Page 8



 
 
 

 

 
5 

(2) That the Council’s Chief Executive is made the 
Budget Holder for the financial management and 
authorisation of sums from this Reserve. 

 
176 Gambling Act 2005 - Review of Statement of Principles 

 
Members considered a report of Councillor Joyce Plummer, Portfolio Holder for Resources, 
advising Members of the responses received to the consultation in respect of the Council’s 
draft revised Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Principles.  The report also proposed a 
revised policy for approval, having regard to the responses received. 
 
Councillor Plummer outlined the rationale for the review, the consultation process and the 
outcome.  If approved, the revised policy would be published on the Council’s website. 
 
The report indicated that Section 349 of the Gambling Act 2005 required that the Licensing 
Authority (the Council) prepare and publish a Statement of Principles (the Policy) every 
three years.  The existing Policy had been kept under review since coming into force in 
January 2019. 
  
In producing the draft policy the Licensing Authority had had due regard to – 
 

 The Gambling Act 2005 licensing objectives; 

 The Guidance to Licensing Authorities issued by the Gambling Commission (5th 
edition); and 

 Responses from those consulted on the Gambling Policy. 
 
The draft proposals had been advertised on the Council’s website, with the consultation 
period running for 12 weeks from 5th July 2021 to 27th September 2021.  Letters had been 
sent out to the gambling trade and a public notice and information about the policy and 
consultation had been placed in all of Hyndburn’s public libraries.  The consultees 
comprised: 
 

 Council chief officers and service heads; 

 Gambling Commission; 

 HM Revenue and Customs;  

 Lancashire Constabulary;  

 Lancashire Fire and Rescue Service Authority;  

 Lancashire County Council – including Lancashire Area Child Protection Committee 
and Trading Standards Section;  

 All neighbouring Councils;  

 Licensing Solicitors; 

 The British Casino Association; 

 Casino Operators Association of the UK; 

 Company Secretary, Casino Operators Association of the UK; 

 Business in Sport and Leisure; 

 Racecourse Association Ltd; 

 British Holiday & Home Parks Association; 

 Community Trade Union; 

 All Gambling and Licensing Premise Licence Holders; 

 All Small Lottery Licence Holders; and 

 The general public by way of the Council’s website 
 

Page 9



 
 
 

 

 
6 

One representation had been received in response to the consultation and the response to 
the comments received in that letter had also been detailed in the report. 
 
Resolved - That the Council agrees the final draft of the 

revised Gambling Act 2005 Statement of 
Principles, as set out at Appendix 1 of the 
report. 

 
177 Minutes of Cabinet 

 
The minutes of the meetings of Cabinet held on 15th September and 20th October 2021 
were submitted. 
 
Councillor Miles Parkinson OBE highlighted the positive progress being made around 
regeneration, as illustrated by Minutes 122 – Sale of Clayton Civic Hall, Minute 124 - 
Levelling Up Fund Bid and Minute 158 – Huncoat Garden Village Masterplan. 
 
In respect of Minute 122 (15th September 2021) - Clayton Civic Hall, Councillor Peter 
Britcliffe congratulated the Leader on the successful sale of this facility.  The facility would 
be well used by Clayton Amateur Boxing Club.  He commented that Councillor Carole 
Haythornthwaite had also spent a significant amount of time working on this project. 
 
The above Minute raised the issue of the future use of other public buildings, such as the 
Community Centre on Harvey Street, Oswaldtwistle, which was a base for the Women’s 
Institute, dog training and other activities, but was currently under threat of closure. 
 
The Leader reiterated his delight at the proposals for Clayton Civic Hall, which had been 
transferred to Hyndburn Leisure for £1, but which had attracted external grant funding of 
£185k.  The Leader was aware of the situation regarding the lease for the Community 
Centre on Harvey Street, Oswaldtwistle, which had not been renewed by the current 
operator.  The matter was being looked into and Estates would market the property.  These 
types of premises were likely to form part of the wider Leisure Transformation agenda. 
 
The Leader commented that the Levelling Up Fund bid was very important, along with the 
Town Centre Investment Plan.  The project was based on strong partnership working, 
involving a wide range of stakeholders.  The support of the MP was also crucial.  Politicians 
were working cross-party and had adopted a bottom up approach with stakeholders to lever 
in millions of pounds of grant funding.  Stakeholders would meet again in the next few 
weeks, prior to proposals being submitted to Cabinet.  Members would also meet with 
Lancashire County Council about highways improvements both in Accrington Town Centre 
and at Junction 8 M65. 
 
The Huncoat Garden Village Masterplan represented the long term strategy for high quality 
housing with ecological and environmental benefits.  Councillor Eamonn Higgins and Dave 
Parkins and the community had worked together to make the development environmentally 
friendly. 
 
Resolved - That the Minutes be received and noted. 
 

178 Minutes of Committees 
 
The Minutes of the following meetings were submitted: 
 

Meeting (Municipal Year 2021/22) Date 

Communities and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny Committee 8th September 2021 

Page 10



 
 
 

 

 
7 

Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee 9th September 2021 

Cabinet Committee (Street Naming) 15th September 2021 

Planning Committee 5th October 2021 

Judicial Committee (Private Hire and Hackney Carriage 
Licensing) 

13th October 2021 

 
Resolved - That the Minutes be received and noted. 
 

 
 
 
 

Signed:…………………………………………… 
 

Date: …………….………………………………………… 
 

Chair of the meeting 
At which the minutes were confirmed 

 
 

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

REPORT TO: Council 

DATE: 13 January 2022 

PORTFOLIO: Miles Parkinson OBE – Leader of the Council 

REPORT AUTHOR: Steve Riley – Executive Director (Environment) 

TITLE OF REPORT: Town Centre Investment Plan and Levelling Up 
Funding bid 

EXEMPT REPORT  
(Local Government 
Act 1972, Schedule 
12A)  

Options Not applicable 

KEY DECISION: No If yes, date of publication:  

 
 
1. Purpose of Report 
 
1.1 To present to Council a proposed Town Centre Investment Plan for Accrington and the 

Stakeholder Board’s recommended Interventions for the Council’s Levelling Up Funding 
bid. 
 

2. Recommendations  
 
2.1 Council supports the Town Centre Investment Plan (TCIP) as set out in Appendix A, 

(noting paragraphs 3.4 and 3.5 of the report) and makes a recommendation to Cabinet 
for formal approval of the TCIP. 

 
2.2 Council supports the recommendations tabled by the Stakeholder Board with regards to 

the three principal interventions to be included within Hyndburn Council’s Levelling Up 
Funding bid, as set out in paragraph 3.6 of the report. 

 
2.3 Council is asked to note that formal approval of the funding bid is a function of Cabinet 

and that amendments or alternative interventions may be brought forward for 
consideration as further progress is made around refining the costs and project viability.  

 
2.4 Council approves the creation of a Levelling Up Bid Contingency Reserve in the sum of 

£2 Million via the transfer of funds from other reserves currently held by the Council, as 
detailed in paragraph 3.13 of the report. The purpose of this reserve is to support the 
delivery of the interventions subject to the bid being successful. 

 
2.5 The Council’s Chief Executive is made the Budget Holder for the financial management 

and authorisation of sums from this reserve following consultation with the Leader of the 
Council. 

 

Page 13

Agenda Item 6.



 

 

3. Reasons for Recommendations and Background 
 
 Summary 
3.1 The Levelling Up Fund (LUF) was announced at the Government’s 2020 Spending 

Review and will focus on capital investment in local infrastructure projects, with up to 
£20m of funding available for lower tier authorities and up to £50 Million for upper tier 
Highways Authorities for major transport projects. This funding builds on prior 
programmes such as the ‘Local Growth Fund’ and ‘Towns Fund’.  

 
3.2 A report to Cabinet in September 2021 confirmed the need for the Council to engage an 

external independent experienced bid writing consultant. Bradshaw Advisory was 
appointed to deliver two specific projects: The first, the production of a strategic Town 
Centre Investment Plan, (TCIP) which includes a revised town centre vision and builds 
on/updates the adopted Accrington Area Action Plan. The second, to prepare and write 
the Council’s LUF bid, including documenting the financial, statistical and other 
necessary evidential information required as part of the bid submission. 

 
3.3  That report also provided details of the Stakeholders and those members making up the 

Strategic Board, chaired by David Sanderson, the Deputy Lord Lieutenant and Chief 
Executive of the Rank Foundation Trust Ltd. Responses from the stakeholder members 
and resident polling and an agreed rigorous and transparent evaluation process, helped 
to identify interventions that best fit the vison for the town centre and the levelling up 
funding criteria. Board members have been advised and guided throughout the process 
by the independent external consultant.  

 
 Town Centre Investment Plan 
3.4 The TCIP is not part of the Council’s Local Plan so it would not have “Development Plan” 

weight. Notwithstanding this, the Council’s Core Strategy will be drafted in a way that 
would support initiatives within TCIP that have land use / planning implications.  
Furthermore, most of the TCIP interventions are supported by the Accrington AAP and 
other planning policies at national and or local level.   

 
3.5 The interventions within the TCIP are schemes that are supported by policy and have 

been developed in consultation with key stakeholders. That being the case, the TCIP 
would become Council policy and as far as it affects planning, would be a material 
consideration. It would still mean that the Council would need to have regard to other 
policy, particularly heritage issues when or if they apply. 

 
 Funding Bid Interventions 
3.6 The Board has recommended the following three principal interventions, which best fit 

with the vision of the town centre and the funding criteria and seeks to respond to 
suggestions from the resident poling and also offers the best opportunity for kick-starting 
a wider town centre regeneration.  

  
I. Refurbish the Indoor Market Hall by transforming part of the ground floor into a 

higher-end eating, drinking and community venue with more modern facilities for 
small local/regional independent traders. The removal of excess market capacity 
from inside the external pavilions and continuation of the town square paving and 

Page 14



 

 

the repair and improvement to the external façades of the Market Hall and Town 
Hall. 
 

II. In order to consolidate the improvements works around the new Town Square, 
the Board recommended improvements to the blocks that consist of 43-59 
Blackburn Road / 2 Church Street, together with the block commonly known as 
the Burton’s Chambers. At this stage ideas that are being brought forward in 
relation to these buildings are around: improving the façades, revitalising the 
ground floor premises into independent cafes, restaurants or higher-end retailers. 
Repurposing upper floors into a museum or arts/cultural space or into co-working 
space or higher quality, modern commercial space to support Hyndburn’s 
entrepreneurs and independent traders. 

 
III. To improve the visual appeal of the high street shops/businesses by working with 

local independent property owners to deliver façade improvements, which are 
historically sympathetic and aesthetically appealing. In the first instance, 
shops/businesses that are in close proximity to or on the main gateways into the 
‘Accrington Acre’ will be prioritised for investment but where funding remains 
others would be considered. 

 
External Match Funding 

3.7 The funding criteria requires each bid to include a minimum 10% external contribution 
as match funding. Assuming the Council’s bid will be around the maximum £20 Million 
permitted, the bid will require at least £2 Million additional match funding. This can be a 
combination of funding from local government or other funding organisations. However, 
there must be contribution from the private sector, where a property owner would benefit 
from any funding received. The more external funding the bid can draw in, the better the 
Benefit Cost Ratio analysis for the bid. 

 
3.8 The Council is awaiting the outcome of a £500,000 funding bid submitted into the 

Lancashire Economic Recovery and Growth Fund, for external work around the Market 
Hall, which would be in addition to £1.7 Million already allocated for improvement works 
on the Market Hall/Town Hall within the Council’s Capital Works Programme.  

 
3.9 Those property owners who expressed an interest in the façade improvement scheme 

are being asked to complete a simple Memorandum of Understanding confirming their 
willingness and capability to a minimum 10% contribution and will be included as 
evidence within the Council’s bid. This could realise anything from £100,000 to £300,000 
depending on the take-up or allocation from the overall funding bid.   

 
3.10 Work will continue to identify other match funding opportunities ahead of the formal 

approval of the bid by Cabinet. 
 

Project Management / Contingency Reserve 
3.11 Due to the lack of internal resource, and to safeguard the deliverability of the 

interventions, where the Council’s bid is successful, suitably experienced external 
Project Managers will be appointed. These will act on behalf of the Council, with the day 
to day management of the contractors / consultants and financial management to ensure 

Page 15



 

 

delivery of the interventions. These will be highly regarded members of the team, 
reporting back to senior officers within the Council throughout the programme. 

 
3.12 Delivering projects across multiple sites with a potential financial value circa £20+ Million, 

carries many unknowns risks, even more so given the continued uncertainties around 
material and labour shortages, plus increased costs resulting from Brexit and the world 
wide pandemic. 

  
3.13 It is good project management practice that construction schemes have a financial 

contingency fund. It is common practice for this to be anywhere from 10 to 15% of the 
total project cost and used to cover unknown and/or unavoidable costs. Agreement to 
create the contingency fund will need to be documented within the bid and based on a 
minimum 10%, this would require the Council to identify a contingency fund level circa 
£2 Million. 

 
3.14 On notification the bid has been successful and the Council is awarded funding, the 

proposal is to reassign funding from Reserves the Council already holds and transfer 
them to a new reserve named: Levelling Up Bid Contingency Reserve. It is proposed the 
Budget Holder for these funds is the Council’s Chief Executive. Details of the proposed 
changes will be outlined in the Council’s Budget proposals for 2022/23 at the February 
Council Meeting on the 24th February 2022. 

 
  
4. Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 
4.1 The Council could choose not to support the Stakeholder Board recommendations and 

select other interventions for the funding bid. However, this is not recommended as the 
schemes identified by the Board came out of a rigorous, transparent and lengthy 
selection process, steered by the Council’s expert independent consultant. The 
recommendations made by the Board have been endorsed by the independent 
consultant as the best fit for both the Town Centre Vision and levelling up funding criteria. 

 It is inevitable that any redirection at this stage of the bid process will have a material 
impact on the ability to submit a bid when the second round submission dates are 
released. 

  
4.2 The Council could choose not to create a reserve and attempt to fund any additional 

unforeseen/overrun costs from existing budgets or via the Capital Programme process. 
Existing budgets are however limited due to the overall financial pressures the Council 
faces and the Capital Programme is an annual exercise approved as part of the Council’s 
budget setting process, which will not be sufficiently flexible to allow the Council to act 
quickly if required. Providing this reserve will allow rapid access to funds to ensure the 
Council delivers the agreed schemes if necessary. 

 
5. Consultations 
 
5.1 In response to the recommendations from the Future High Streets feedback report for 

wider and greater stakeholder involvement, the Council brought together key local town 
centre businesses, individuals and wider organisations to create a large and diverse 
Stakeholder Group and from this, a smaller Board which would make the necessary 

Page 16



 

 

decisions. Stakeholders and the Council have been guided by government appointed 
experts from the High Street and the Design Council and also from the independent 
expert bid writing consultant. Dates of all the meetings are highlighted below: 

 

 The High Street Task Force, (HSTF) delivered an expert’s support workshop with 
the Council on 24/2/2. This looked at progressing the recommendations from the 
Unlocking Your Place Potential diagnostic visit that was carried out in 2020 
through the Future High Streets. 

 Experts from the Design Council, facilitated two meetings with the Stakeholder 
Group on the 16/3/21 and 23/3/21, around unlocking projects and creating a town 
centre vision. 

 HSTF experts facilitated two meetings with the Stakeholder Group on 12/4/21 and 
25/5/21 around partnership development. 

 The Stakeholder Group came together for further meeting on 6/7/21 and 1/9/21. 

 The Board held meetings on 5/9/21, 7/9/21, 14/9/21, 4/11/21 and 20/12/21 to 
agree a town centre vision, discuss the suggested intervention and ultimately 
made a recommendation to the Council on which should be included in the 
funding bid. 

 There is a standing item on the Council’s Chief Executive weekly meetings with 
the Party Leaders, the MP for updates on the TCIP and LUF bid. 

 A government recognised independent polling and market research agency 
undertook the polling of 500 residents aged 18+ living in the Borough during 
August 2021 (see Appendix B). The questions looked at how residents view the 
town centre, how often they visited, what would make them visit the town centre 
etc. This information helped the stakeholders and board understand the needs 
and priorities when considering all town centre interventions.  

 Members have received updated briefings around the development of the TCIP 
and suggested interventions on 26/9/21 and 7/12/21. 

 There was a report to Cabinet on 15/9/21 on the LUF bid progress. 
 
5.2  
6. Implications 
 

Financial implications (including 
any future financial commitments 
for the Council) 
 

The report identifies the potential areas for 
the match funding as required under the 
guidance. 
 
Whilst the report recommends the creation of 
the Contingency Fund, it would only be 
required on the Council’s bid being 
successful and being awarded Levelling Up 
funding. 
 

Legal and human rights 
implications 
 

N/A for this report 

Assessment of risk 
 

N/A for this report 
 

Page 17



 

 

Equality and diversity implications 
A Customer First Analysis should be 
completed in relation to policy 
decisions and should be attached as 
an appendix to the report.  
 

The Council is subject to the public sector 
equality duty introduced by the Equality Act 
2010. When making a decision in respect of 
the recommendations in this report Council 
must have regard to the need to: 
 

 eliminate unlawful discrimination, 
harassment and victimisation; and 
 

 advance equality of opportunity between 
those who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and those who don’t; and 

 

 foster good relations between those who 
share a relevant protected characteristic 
and those who don’t. 

 
 For these purposes the relevant protected 
characteristics are: age, disability, gender 
reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, 
race, religion or belief, sex and sexual 
orientation. To assist the Council in this 
regard a Customer First Analysis has been 
carried out as part of the review process and 
is attached as Appendix B to this report.  
 
Council is advised to consider the Customer 
First Analysis and its obligations in respect of 
the public sector equality duty when making 
a decision in respect of the recommendations 
contained in this report. 

  

 
 
7. Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985: 

List of Background Papers  
 
7.1  

https://democracy.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=133&MId=2611&Ver
=4  

 
 https://democracy.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=133&MId=2609&Ver

=4  

Page 18

http://hyntranet/index.php?option=com_remository&Itemid=80&func=startdown&id=1407
https://democracy.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=133&MId=2611&Ver=4
https://democracy.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=133&MId=2611&Ver=4
https://democracy.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=133&MId=2609&Ver=4
https://democracy.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=133&MId=2609&Ver=4


Accrington Town 
Centre Investment 
Plan 2022-2032

January 2022

P
age 19



Contents

P
age 20



Foreword  02

Executive Summary 04
• The Vision 

An Introduction to Accrington  06
• Accrington Town Centre in maps 
• Recent investments in Accrington Town Centre 

The Context  12
• Facts and figures 

• Challenges and opportunities

The Approach 28
• Engagement 

• Polling results from Hyndburn residents

• Guiding principles 

• Our future vision for Accrington Town Centre

The Strategy  34
• Strategic objectives

• Accrington Town Centre logic model 

• Assessment and development of potential interventions

• Proposed interventions 

• Strategic alignment with Local Plan and Accrington Area Action Plan 

The Impact  48

Appendices 53

ACCRINGTON TOWN CENTRE INVESTMENT PLAN 01

P
age 21



Foreword

P
age 22



We want Accrington to be a vibrant, bustling and proud market 

town underpinned by the many strengths that it already has to 

offer and the new ones yet to be built. We are surrounded by 

beautiful Pennine countryside with outstanding architectural 

highlights and a rich industrial history. We want to tap into 

the visitor economy as the quickest way to improve the town, 

opportunities for local people and wealth coming into the local 

economy.

 

We want to provide a strong anchor and focal point for the town 

centred around the existing heritage assets of our Grade II listed 

Town Hall, Victorian Market Hall and the newly redeveloped 

town square. The people of Accrington deserve a town that 

they are proud to call home and that offers a wide range of local 

restaurants, independent shops, green spaces and activities for 

all the family, not only to them but to attract the visitors that will 

make our town a destination once again.

 

This Town Centre Investment Plan also encompasses many lessons 

learned. We have approached this plan with the seriousness 

that it deserves working with experts and consultants and in 

collaboration with a diverse range of partners. Most importantly 

we have worked hand-in-hand with the community, residents 

and stakeholders across the public and private sector to really 

understand our town, the residents who live here and the visitors 

who pass through.

From interviews and polling to visits and meetings we have 

distilled a wide range of diverse views to develop our vision for 

Accrington Town Centre - a statement of how the people of 

Accrington want their town to be now and for future generations 

to come. It is underpinned by a set of guiding principles and 

forms the basis for the strategy we have deployed to produce the 

well thought through and specific interventions our town needs.

Importantly this plan is heritage-led, focussing on the rich, unique 

and engaging architectural and cultural assets that Accrington 

has, from its ornate Victorian buildings to outstanding visitor 

assets such as the Haworth Gallery. We must protect and 

preserve our heritage, repairing and regenerating so that it is fit 

for the 21st century and beyond. 

 

Realising the ambitions of this plan will take many years and we 

are committed to the vision and realising the interventions over 

the long term, seeing Accrington’s prospects transformed and by 

working together, restoring pride in the town.

 
David Sanderson MBE DL 
Interim Chair of the Town Centre Partnership Board

ACCRINGTON TOWN CENTRE INVESTMENT PLAN 03

We want to provide a strong 
anchor and focal point for 
the town centred around the 
existing heritage assets of 
our Grade II listed Town Hall, 
Victorian Market Hall and 
the newly redeveloped town 
square.

I am proud to present Accrington’s Town Centre Investment Plan as Interim 
Chair of the Town Centre Partnership Board. It is the culmination of months 
of hard work yet marks the beginning of a new chapter for Accrington in the 
years to come. 

P
age 23



Executive  
Summary

P
age 24



ACCRINGTON TOWN CENTRE INVESTMENT PLAN 05

Accrington has many of the 
essential ingredients required to be 
a thriving and successful modern 
market town. From its proud local 
industrial and cultural heritage and 
a strong sense of community to its 
grand historical architecture. Like 
many Northern towns, it also has a 
number of challenges that need to 
be overcome.

This Town Centre Investment Plan (TCIP) sets out potential 

investments totalling around £70m that we believe will radically 

transform Accrington’s prospects for the future and improve the 

lives and opportunities of local residents. It is important to note 

that this TCIP builds on the more than £55m of public and private 

investment secured locally since 2010.

In creating this TCIP we engaged regularly with the Accrington 

Town Centre Stakeholder Group and the Accrington Town 

Centre Partnership Board which represent a diverse range of local 

sectors and interests. We also engaged Survation to undertake 

representative polling of Hyndburn residents who were asked a 

range of 15 questions between the 10th and 23rd of August 2021.

The Vision 
We created a new vision for Accrington Town Centre to drive its 

regeneration, together as a whole community:

We are a vibrant, bustling and proud market town steeped in 

industrial, cultural and architectural heritage. Visitors and locals 

come together to sample the best of Lancashire’s homegrown 

produce and diverse mix of local eateries, browse our thriving 

independent shops and cultural venues and relax in our family-

friendly and green spaces. 

Surrounded by beautiful Lancashire countryside, Accrington is 
the gateway to the Pennines, Lake District, Ribble Valley and 
Forest of Bowland making the most of its unique landscapes 
and ample cycling and walking routes. Our attractive, inclusive 

and accessible town hosts numerous popular events, has diverse 

leisure facilities for all ages, and supports its flourishing business 

community to prosper and grow.

We have a remarkable legacy built on the hard work, dedication 
and entrepreneurship of the people of Accrington - we made 

bricks for the Empire State Building, revolutionised the textile 

trade by inventing the spinning jenny and mechanised cotton 

printing, and house the largest collection of Tiffany glass in 

Europe. We are proud of our history and look forward to a 
renewed and exciting future.  

P
age 25



Key facts & figures
• The population of both Hyndburn and Accrington has been 

broadly stable over the past five years. However, the population 

of England as a whole is predicted to increase by 10.3% between 

2018 and 2043, yet Hyndburn is forecast to rise by just 4.3%1.

• In common with almost every other local authority in England, 

Hyndburn has a growing older population in both absolute and 

relative terms. The share of its older population –  those 65 

years old or over – was around 14% in 2001 and 18.5% in 2020.

• Hyndburn is currently the 16th most deprived out of 317 local 

authority districts in England, according to the 2019 Index of 

Multiple Deprivation (IMD)2. Deprivation has increased steadily 

over the last 20 years.

• Skills levels in Hyndburn are below the average for the North 

West. The proportion of residents aged 16-64 with NVQ level 

4 qualifications and above is 31% in Hyndburn, compared with 

39% in the North West and 43% in Great Britain3.

• Life expectancy in Hyndburn is 77 years for men and 81 years 

for women - around 3 and 2 years lower than the national 

averages for men and women, respectively4. 

• Hyndburn has a low wage economy. With a high proportion 

of the workforce in low-skilled jobs, the average gross weekly 

income for full-time workers is £471.5, which is 16% lower 

than the average for the North West and 20% lower than the 

national average. 

• The dominant workforce sector in Accrington Town Centre and 

Hyndburn overall is retail and wholesale, accounting for 24% of 

local jobs, substantially higher than the national proportion of 

15%. Human health and social work also constitutes a significant 

portion of the local workforce, with 23% of jobs in Accrington 

and 17.2% in Hyndburn.

• Around 1-in-4 retail premises in Accrington are vacant which 

reflects not just a substantial lack of demand, but also a 

significant oversupply. There is 3.7 square meters of retail 

space per resident in Accrington Town Centre compared to 2.5 

in Hyndburn and 1.8 in England. 

• Hyndburn - including Accrington - has good average broadband 

speeds and is in the top 50% of local authorities in England and 

Wales for download speeds specifically. Over 70% of premises 

in Hyndburn have access to ultrafast broadband, which is very 

good.5  

Challenges & opportunities
1.   Economy and visitors
 

There is a high level of economically inactive people in Hyndburn 

and those who are working have low income levels when 

compared to national averages. Yet, there are opportunities to 

diversify the local economy to provide more and higher paying 

jobs in existing and higher value-added sectors. 

2.  Living standards and housing 

Accrington has severe pockets of deprivation – particularly 

around employment, income and living environment - which 

has been getting worse during the last 20 years. There is also an 

oversupply of retail space which contributes to the high number 

of vacant units in the town centre.

1. https://www.lancashire.gov.uk/lancashire-insight/area-profiles/local-authority-
profiles/hyndburn-district/#People

2. English Indices of Deprivation, Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local 
Government, 2019

3. Labour Market Profile, NOMIS, https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/reports/lmp/
la/1946157094/report.aspx

4. Public Health England, Local Authority Health Profiles, https://fingertips.phe.org.
uk/profile/health-profiles/data#page/1/gid/1938132701/pat/6/par/E12000002/
ati/101/are/E07000120

5. Connected Nations 2020 - Ofcom

P
age 26



This TCIP should create new jobs that will provide an opportunity 

for local people from disadvantaged backgrounds – including 

young people and those on benefits - to work in Accrington. 

There is also an opportunity to improve health outcomes by 

encouraging cycling and walking in Accrington and creating new 

green spaces or ‘greening’ existing ones. The Local Plan includes 

new employment land allocations and a large-scale housing 

development, Huncoat Garden Village. 

3.  Education and skills 
 

Hyndburn sees a significant divergence from the national average 

of those having A-level qualifications or above. The 2011 Census 

data (most recent available) also shows that around 20% of 

Hyndburn’s residents have no qualifications versus around 15% 

nationally.

Turning to enterprise, significant economic growth comes from 

new start-ups and SMEs. In 2019, business start-up numbers 

were broadly in line with the Lancashire and national averages. 

However, it is observed that business failures in Hyndburn are 

much higher than the national average. 

Extra adult learning provision could be an ‘quick win’ to lift the 

educational attainment of higher-potential disadvantaged young 

people. 

Strategic objectives
Over a 10-15 year timeframe we will measure the overall success 

of this TCIP against the following objectives for Accrington Town 

Centre:

• Increased visitor and tourist numbers 

• An improved and diversified the retail offer

• Reduced dependency on retail sector for jobs 

• Fewer empty shops and other empty commercial premises 

• Improved living environment and diversity of household types

• More residents enjoying green spaces and walking/ cycling 

regularly

• More adults from disadvantaged backgrounds gaining good 

qualifications 

Assessment & development 
of potential interventions
An expression of interest process was run between June and 

September 2021 seeking ideas for possible TCIP interventions. 

Bradshaw Advisory established a rigorous and evidence-led 

assessment process for all schemes that were put forward 

which was based on the HM Treasury ‘Five Case Model’. More 

than 30 schemes were put forward with 18 - at various stages of 

development and detail - being included within this TCIP.

Potential interventions
1. Market Hall  

It is proposed that the Market Hall and town square would form 

the centre of the ‘Accrington Acre’. We propose the Market Hall is 

refurbished and transformed in whole or in part into a higher-end 

eating, drinking and cultural venue with more modern facilities 

for small independent traders.

2. Town Hall façade improvements 

A programme of facade improvements to restore worn and 

defective aspects of the building will further improve the exterior 

appearance of the Town Hall building and protect this cultural 

asset for future generations and visitors alike. 

ACCRINGTON TOWN CENTRE INVESTMENT PLAN 07

P
age 27



3. Transformation of properties at 43-59 
Blackburn Road and 2-18 Church Street

There may be potential for transforming the upper floors into co-

working space or higher quality, modern commercial space to 

support Hyndburn’s entrepreneurs, independent traders or public 

sector providers. Alternatively a museum or arts and cultural 

space could be created.

Facade improvements should take place to bring properties up 

to a standard in-keeping with the vision for Accrington.

4. Transformation of Burton’s Chambers

We would like to see this important Art Deco heritage building 

brought back into full use by potentially repurposing its ground 

floor premises into independent cafes, restaurants and higher-

end retailers which would include improving the facade of the 

building.

Our analysis does not support the creation of additional residential 

units within the town centre, however there may be potential for 

transforming the upper floors into co-working space or higher 

quality, modern commercial premises to support Hyndburn’s 

entrepreneurs, independent traders or public sector providers.

5. Transformation of the Victorian Arcade 

We would like to see the Victorian Arcade renovated to attract 

higher-end independent retailers and traders that complement 

those already operating on Warner Street.  

6. Improved streetscapes 

Important gateways and streets linking into the Accrington Acre 

should be aesthetically improved in a style in keeping with a 

historic market town. This could include more sympathetic street 

lighting and the cobblestoning of selected streets in whole or in 

part.

7. Improved shop fronts (supporting the 
Accrington Acre)

To improve the visual appeal of streets, it is proposed that the council 

will work with shop owners and landlords to provide upgraded, 

more historically sympathetic and aesthetically appealing shop 

frontages. In the first instance, shops that are in close proximity to 

the Accrington Acre will be prioritised for investment. 

8. Improved signage

Signage on major roads could be improved to raise awareness of 

the Accrington Acre and draw in and direct visitors to attractions. 

Within the town centre, improved signage (done in a historically 

sympathetic style) at street level would aid those navigating the 

town either by road or on foot. 

9. Upgrade the Town Hall Extension 

The proposal is to make facade improvements and renovate the 

interior of the building, bringing it up to a standard suitable for 

rent on the open market. 

10. Junction access improvements 

Proposed improvements would see the creation of  a boulevard 

along Eastgate, with the removal of some of the existing barriers 

to improve the experience of transport users particularly 

pedestrians. Additional alterations at several gateway junctions 

around the town centre are proposed to improve access by car 

and those on bicycles.  The operation of the one way system 

around St James’s church should be reconsidered. Improvements 

should be made at the junction of Paradise Street and St James’ 

Street to aid crossing for pedestrians and cyclists. 

11. Warner Street footway 

It is proposed that a full highway-width footway on the street 

could be created to improve the shopping experience and 

P
age 28



ACCRINGTON TOWN CENTRE INVESTMENT PLAN 09

increase the capacity of the street to accommodate growing 

numbers of shoppers and visitors. 

12. Repurpose old Yorkshire Bank building

The former Yorkshire Bank building sits in a prime location 

adjacent to the town square and Accrington Acre and is another 

example of Accrington’s high quality architecture. We would 

like to see that building brought back into use potentially as the 

location for a restaurant or cafe, a community space, museum or 

commercial office. 

13. Greening of the Town Centre  

There is potential to create or improve green spaces at several 

sites around the town centre which should be explored and 

progressed further. 

14. Development of Charlie Brown’s site 

Redevelopment has been suggested for the former Charlie Brown’s 

site on the corner of Abbey Street and Stanley Street. A proposal 

is for the demolition of the old Charlie Brown store on the site, to 

be replaced with the creation of a car park, and a small amount of 

green space replacing the disused buildings on Abbey Street.

15. Park and ride scheme 

Achieving the vision set out for the town centre will see visitor 

numbers to Accrington increase. With this in mind, it may be that 

a park and ride scheme needs to be established in the future to 

bring people easily and conveniently into the town centre. Clearly 

this would be dependent on demand, the success of realising the 

vision and technology and usage patterns at that time.

16. Restoration/renovation of old police station 

The former Accrington police station is a Grade II listed building 

on the edge of the town centre which closed in 2016. We would 

like to see this asset restored and repurposed for hospitality and/

or another visitor attraction such as an escape room. 

17. Platts Lodge Waterpark  

Platt’s Lodge, to the south-east of Accrington, contains a small 

body of water on a former industrial site. It is proposed that this 

site could potentially become a waterpark and visitor’s centre/

cafe.

18. Accrington Arndale 

Accrington suffers from an oversupply of retail units. Additionally, 

the Arndale has been identified through engagement work as 

being extremely unpopular. While there are no firm proposals at 

this time, there may be potential for that site to be repurposed 

- in whole or in part - to support the vision within this TCIP. To 

be clear our analysis does not support the addition of residential 

units within the town centre within the medium term timeframe.

The Impact
While it is impossible to determine what the impact of the TCIP 

investments will be in driving up footfall, GVA and jobs with any 

real certainty, we can make some high-level assumptions to 

illustrate what might be possible by drawing comparisons with 

other similar regeneration investments from around the country. 

Illustrative modelling suggests that an investment around the 

size of the Levelling Up Fund could see an additional +73,000 to 

+821,250 visitors a year in Accrington (depending on the success 

of the investments) a £9.6 million per year economic boost to the 

town centre economy and between +250 to +275 created and 

supported through higher demand. P
age 29



An Introduction  
to Accrington 

P
age 30



ACCRINGTON TOWN CENTRE INVESTMENT PLAN 11

It’s location, between the four major towns of Blackburn (4 miles) 

and Preston (13 miles) to the west, Burnley (6 miles) to the east 

and Manchester (20 miles) to the south, makes Accrington a prime 

location for day trips and as a base to explore nearby outstanding 

natural beauty. The town has impressive architectural prowess 

and an important cultural legacy.

Accrington’s history began when four waterways met along 

the road from Whalley Abbey - one of the country’s richest 

monasteries in the 14th century - to Manchester. These waterways, 

and the hills that surround Accrington, became the catalyst for 

the burgeoning textile trade first driven by the mills fed by these 

streams. The fabric being manufactured here brought with it the 

invention of the world-changing spinning jenny in 1764 and later, 

the mechanisation of calico printing in the 1840’s, transforming 

the industry across not only the town and region, but the UK and 

the world. 

The grand and imposing architecture of Accrington’s town centre, 

including the historic Town Hall and Market Hall, are reminders of the 

significance and wealth of the local textile industry which brought 

with it huge prosperity. The streets, houses and buildings in the town 

centre lay testament to the rising populations of Accrington during 

the 19th Century. The people of Accrington served the textile trade 

as well as the local coal mining and engineering industry during the 

Victorian era right up until the 1950’s. 

The Town Hall was previously named the Peel Institute, after 

Sir Robert Peel, and it was his grandfather Robert Peel who 

first used the spinning jennies in his Accrington mills. Sir Robert 

Peel became our 29th Prime Minister serving twice from 1834 to 

1835 and 1841 to 1846. The famous ‘Accrington Nori’ (iron spelt 

backwards) bricks were manufactured in the town from the 

1880’s to the present day. Nori bricks are known as the hardest 

and densest bricks in the world, used in the construction of 

famous architectural structures such as the Empire State Building 

in New York and Blackpool Tower. 

The First World War put Accrington on the map once more when 

Kitchener called for volunteers: Accrington and surrounding 

towns and villages raised a battalion of men in only 10 short 

days. The recently restored town square proudly recognises the 

Accrington Pals’ patriotism and showcases new commemorative 

benches and bespoke artworks which allows the community to 

both remember and celebrate their lives. These sculptures also 

celebrate Accrington’s other ambassadors and achievements.

The Haworth Art Gallery, bequeathed to the people of Accrington 

in 1920 by brother and sister William and Anne Haworth, now 

displays the largest collection of Tiffany glass outside of New 

York. Gifted by Joseph Briggs, he began his career as a Tiffany’s 

errand boy and finished up as the President of the Tiffany Glass 

Company. He moved his beloved Tiffany glass collection back to 

his hometown of Accrington in 1933. 

The original town football team, Accrington F.C. was founded in 

1876 with Accrington Stanley F.C. being later established in 1891. 

The club was one of the 12 founding members of the Football 

League which the team played in between 1921 and 1962. In 

1968, the team was reborn and brought back the glory of its 

distinguished history, competing in League One.

Since 1974, Accrington has formed part of the larger Borough 

of Hyndburn together with the former districts of Oswaldtwistle, 

Church, Clayton-le-Moors, Great Harwood and Rishton. Like a 

lot of post-industrial areas in the North of England, more recent 

history paints a picture of a town in decline. Accrington has 

struggled to adapt to the rise of online shopping, out of town 

retail, a lack of investment and rising levels of deprivation. With 

the added impact of Covid-19, jobs and future prospects for local 

people have suffered. 

Accrington is a town rich in industrial and cultural history shaped 

by hard working local people. With the right mindset, leadership 

and actions it can have an exciting future ahead. 

Surrounded by beautiful Lancashire countryside on the western edge of 
the Pennines with the Forest of Bowland to the North, Accrington is a large 
market town, with even larger potential. 

P
age 31



Fig
ure 1: T

o
w

n
 c

e
n

tre
 b

o
u

n
d

a
ry

, 
c
o

n
se

rv
a
tio

n
 a

re
a
 a

n
d

 liste
d

 b
u

ild
in

g
s

Fig
ure 2: O

c
c
u

p
a
tio

n
 o

f 
to

w
n

 c
e
n

tre
 u

n
its b

y
 u

se

Accrington Town Centre in Maps

P
age 32



ACCRINGTON TOWN CENTRE INVESTMENT PLAN 13

Fig
ure 2: O

c
c
u

p
a
tio

n
 o

f 
to

w
n

 c
e
n

tre
 u

n
its b

y
 u

se
P

age 33



In the same year the new ‘Eco’ Accrington Railway station 

opened as part of a £2.5 million investment (£400,000 for the 

station and £2.1 million for a new bridge and car parking facilities). 

The station achieved an ‘excellent’ BREEAM rating. It was built 

using locally sourced and/or recycled ‘green’ materials, solar 

panels to generate its electricity and the station toilets are flushed 

with collected rainwater. 

In 2012 the new £32 million Tesco Extra store opened. The store, 

next to the train station on Eagle Street and just off Blackburn 

Road, and the investment was estimated to have created 450 

jobs. Hyndburn Borough Council received around £1.4 million 

from Tesco from two Section 106 contributions. This included 

£450,000 for schemes in the Accrington Masterplan, £385,000 

for public realm, and £365,000 towards public transport 

(including improvements to the railway station and a new bus 

interchange).

In 2016 the new modern purpose-built £5 million ‘George Slynn’ 

bus station (interchange) near Accrington Railway Station 

opened. This was part of an £11.4 million investment in Hyndburn 

(mostly Accrington) including the £6.4 million land assembly 

necessary for the bus station and bus lanes on the rapid transit 

route. This in turn was part of the £40 million Pennine Reach 

public transport scheme which aimed to improve transport 

links between Accrington and Blackburn. It was funded by the 

Department for Transport. 

2016 also saw work commence to renovate the historic Grade II* 

listed Town Hall in a £1.5 million investment to develop it into a 

conference, events and wedding venue. The works included the 

full restoration of the ballroom, new bars including the feature 

cocktail lounge, improvements to catering facilities, stage 

facilities, and refurbishment of the second-floor balcony including 

access. 

2016 also saw the new £500,000 police station on Broadway 

opened, with the police moving from the Grade II listed Spring 

In total, the THI scheme was 
funded by £1.5 million from 
the Heritage Lottery Fund, a 
£1 million Transition Grant by 
Hyndburn Borough Council, 
£816,000 of Section 106, and 
£482,000 from Lancashire 
County Council for the 
highway works. 

Recent 
investments 
in Accrington 
Town Centre 

In 2010 the Market Hall refurbishment was completed. The works included 
repairs to the roof, the conversion of storage space at balcony level into an 
‘enterprise haven’ and refurbishment of the main sales floor and existing 
stalls. The balcony was extended with a mezzanine floor to provide a new 
café and exhibition space. The £2.4 million project was jointly funded 
by owners Hyndburn Borough Council (£1.8 million) and the [then] 
Government’s Local Enterprise Growth Initiative (£600,000).

P
age 34



Gardens building on Manchester Road. The new station provides 

a front counter for the public as well as a base for local officers. 

The Spring Gardens building is now used as business premises.

In 2017 the old Grade II-listed fire station building – purchased 

a year earlier by Totally Wicked E-Liquid – was refurbished 

and repurposed to accommodate new offices, a warehouse 

distribution facility, small shop, roof garden and a gym. This 

investment was privately funded and brought the building back 

into use after 15 years of being empty.

In 2018 the Townscape Heritage Initiative (THI) to transform 

the Town Square – outside Market Hall and the Town Hall - was 

completed. Under the initiative, the square was redesigned and 

pedestrianised (by landscape architects) and resurfaced using 

locally-sourced York stone and designed to allow for a wide 

variety of events and activities. The restored Town Square also 

commemorates the sacrifice and bravery of the Accrington Pals 

with bespoke benches that incorporate granite artwork and 

paving that represent the trenches of the Somme, as well as 

bespoke sculptures to engage people young and old. 

The THI also offered grants to building owners in the western 

half of the THI boundary. This was part of the Blackburn Road 
building facade improvements, to help fund the reinstatement 

of lost architectural and historic features such as period shop 

fronts and windows, as well as structural and external repairs. 

In addition, the highway and public realm along Blackburn Road 

have been greatly improved by levelling off the pavements, laying 

York stone paving, improving street lighting, street furniture, 

landscaping and parking. 

This included reversing the direction of travel and opening up St 
James Street to divert traffic into the town centre. 

In total, the THI scheme was funded by £1.5 million from the 

Heritage Lottery Fund, a £1 million Transition Grant by Hyndburn 

Borough Council, £816,000 of Section 106, and £482,000 from 

Lancashire County Council for the highway works. 

In 2019 the final phase (phase 4) of the renovation of the Town 

Hall was completed. This comprised the transformation of under-

utilised office and storage into an attractive additional bar area, 

function rooms and conference space which can be used in 

addition to the main ballroom. There is also a small exhibition 

space in the entrance area that houses a bespoke, interactive 

installation dedicated to the Accrington Pals. The cost of phase 

4 was £286,000.

In 2020, the Council improved two vacant shops on Broadway, 
investing over £80,000. One of these was let almost immediately 

and terms have been agreed on the second. This range of shops 

also provides the Constituency Office of the local MP and the 

Accrington Police Station.

Globe Enterprises acquired Castle House next to the viaduct on 

Eastgate in 2020. The former tax office building provides the 

potential for a c.20,000 sq ft redevelopment. Plans are yet to be 

formulated but Globe has a strong track record in regeneration. 

ACCRINGTON TOWN CENTRE INVESTMENT PLAN 15

This amounts to total 
investment - public and 
private - of over £55 million 
since 2010, much of this 
stemming from the Accrington 
Area Action Plan.

P
age 35



The Context

P
age 36



Accrington has many of the 
essential ingredients required to be 
a thriving and successful modern 
market town. From its proud local 
industrial and cultural heritage and 
a strong sense of community to its 
grand historical architecture. Like 
many Northern towns, it also has a 
number of challenges that need to 
be overcome. 

It is important that this Town Centre Investment Plan not only looks 

to build on the positive ingredients and strong vision that exist, 

but ensures that there is a clear picture of issues the town centre 

faces now. It is also important to discuss both the challenges and 

opportunities, so that the interventions and schemes proposed 

in this Plan, can deliver the greatest benefits for the people of 

Accrington. It is vital that any plan for Accrington’s town centre 

is built upon its strengths, a realistic assessment of the current 

opportunities and a shared vision for its future, making sure that 

it is both viable and sustainable. 

The Context is broken down into two sections 1) Facts and 

Figures and 2) Challenges and Opportunities.

The following pages detail the key characteristics of Accrington 

Town Centre. Using official data, quantitative local context is 

provided in terms of population demographics, deprivation, 
skills and education, health and wellbeing, income and 
employment, and the structure of the local economy. 

Facts & figures
Population demographics
Hyndburn is one of the smallest local authorities in Lancashire, but 

its population of around 81,000 makes it one of the most densely 

populated in the county1. Of the 81,000 residents, approximately 

35,000 people (44%) live in Accrington - Hyndburn’s largest 

town and the administrative centre for the local authority. 

The population of both Hyndburn and Accrington has been 

broadly stable over the past five years, as has the proportion of 

younger adults aged 18-29 at around 14% to 16% of the general 

population, similar to the national proportion of 15%. Hyndburn’s 

population, however, is not expected to increase in line with the 

national figures. While the population of England as a whole is 

predicted to increase by 10.3% between 2018 and 2043, Hyndburn 

is forecast to rise by just 4.3%2.

In common with almost every other local authority in England, 

Hyndburn has a growing older population in both absolute and 

relative terms. The share of its older population – those 65 years 

old or over – was around 14% in 2001 and 18.5% in 2020 (England 

16% and 18.5%). The share of older residents in Accrington Town 

Centre is lower than in the surrounding borough, with 13% of 

residents aged 65 years and over. 

The ethnic mix in Hyndburn is similar to other authorities in East 

Lancashire, with 88% of the population being White. Pakistani is 

the largest minority ethnic group, representing just over 9% of 

the population. Data from the 2011 census show that Accrington 

Town Centre was more ethnically diverse than the wider 

borough. Just over 60% of the town centre population in 2011 

was White, and 21% was Pakistani. There was significant variation 

in the ethnic mix between different wards in the town centre. For 

example, in the Central ward, 34% of the population was White, 

and 58% was Pakistani. In comparison, in Milnshaw, 92% and 6% 

were White and Pakistani, respectively.

ACCRINGTON TOWN CENTRE INVESTMENT PLAN 17

1. https://www.lancashire.gov.uk/lancashire-insight/population-and-households/
population/area-and-population-density/

2. https://www.lancashire.gov.uk/lancashire-insight/area-profiles/local-authority-
profiles/hyndburn-district/#People

P
age 37



Deprivation

Hyndburn is currently the 16th most deprived out of 317 local 

authority districts in England, according to the 2019 Index of 

Multiple Deprivation (IMD)3. Deprivation in the area has increased 

steadily over the last 20 years. In 2004, Hyndburn was ranked 

as the 58th most deprived local authority. Since then, there has 

been a consistent rise in the level of deprivation to now. 

At a more granular level there is a wide disparity in deprivation 

across the local authority. According to the IMD, while some 

parts of the district are relatively affluent, others are amongst 

the worst-performing areas in England. The most deprived wards 

in Hyndburn are found in Accrington, some of which are among  

England’s poorest performing.

The ward level results from the IMD for Accrington show that 

five of the six wards covering the town centre (Central, Barnfield, 

Peel, Church and Spring Hill) are amongst the 5% most deprived 

in the country5.

Table 1 shows IMD rankings across the various domains of the 

index for each ward in the town centre. These statistics highlight 

the relatively high levels of deprivation across all domains, with 

the exception of ‘barriers to housing and services’. 

The IMD domain rankings for the Central ward in Accrington 

highlight some exceptional challenges. The ward ranks in the 

bottom 2% nationally for income, employment, education, health 

and living environment. In the domain of ‘living environment’, which 

measures the quality of both the ‘indoors’ living environment (i.e. 

the quality of housing) and the ‘outdoors’ living environment (i.e. 

air quality and road traffic accidents), the Central ward is ranked 

the 4th most deprived in the country. 

3. English Indices of Deprivation, Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local 
Government, 2019

5. Bradshaw Advisory, 2021

NOTE: Rankings in this table are out of 7,180. 1 = most deprived, 7,180 = least deprived

Tab
le 1: IM

D
 d

o
m

a
in

 ra
n

k
s fo

r th
e
 six

 w
a
rd

s 
c
o

v
e
rin

g
 A

c
c
rin

g
to

n
 T

o
w

n
 C

e
n

tre

Barnfield  237 409 1,895 127 376 7,111 1,026

Central 143 60 30 106 663 7,134 4

Church 145 106 331 51 483 7,072 436

Milnshaw 722 1195 2,537 488 1,527 7,159 1,430

Peel 320 338 1,290 100 144 7,177 30

Spring Hill  105 152 117 73 382 7,131 293

IMD domains

Employment Income Education Health 
deprivation  
and disability 

Crime Barriers to 
housing and 
services

Living 
environment

P
age 38



Skills & education 

Skills levels in Hyndburn are below the average for the North 

West. The proportion of residents aged 16-64 with NVQ level 4 

qualifications and above is 31% in Hyndburn, compared with 39% 

in the North West and 43% in Great Britain6. However, the share 

of the population holding NVQ level 2 qualifications as a minimum 

is broadly in line with the regional and national rates. Around 76%  

of residents in Hyndburn are qualified to NVQ level 2, compared 

to 77% and 78% in the North West and Great Britain, respectively. 

The Census 2011 data suggests that Accrington Town Centre 

overall had a lower level of qualifications than Hyndburn, with 

significant variation from one ward to the next (Table 2).

Health & wellbeing

People in Hyndburn and Accrington suffer from various health 

and wellbeing issues that affect life expectancy and quality of life. 

Life expectancy in Hyndburn is 77 years for men and 81 years for 

women - around 3 and 2 years lower than the national averages 

for men and women, respectively9. 

Lifestyle factors also contribute to poorer overall standards of 

health in Hyndburn. For example, there is a higher than average 

prevalence of smoking in the district - 15.5% of the population 

are smokers, compared with 10.4% in England. In addition, almost 

69% of adults are classified as overweight or obese compared 

with 62.8% in England. People in Hyndburn are also significantly 

less physically active than the rest of the population, with just 

59% physically active compared to 66.4% in England.

Although educational outcomes in Accrington fall below 

national and regional levels, there have been some significant 

improvements in the town since the turn of the century. In the 

year 2000 there was no provision for sixth form education in 

Accrington, whereas now, there are a number of schools and 

colleges providing this level of education. 

Now measured at Key Stage 4 by ‘Attainment 8’ scores, 

educational outcomes in Hyndburn also fall below the average 

level for England. The average Attainment 8 score in Hyndburn 

was 42.4 in 2018/19, the second-lowest in Lancashire. The 

average score in the Lancashire County Council area was 46.7, 

and nationally the average is 50.28. 

ACCRINGTON TOWN CENTRE INVESTMENT PLAN 19

Accrington Town CentreHyndburn 

63.6%

6. Labour Market Profile, NOMIS, https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/reports/lmp/
la/1946157094/report.aspx

7. Census, 2011

8. Lancashire Local Authority, Local Area Profiles, https://www.lancashire.gov.uk/
lancashire-insight/area-profiles/local-authority-profiles/hyndburn-district/

9. Public Health England, Local Authority Health Profiles, https://fingertips.phe.org.
uk/profile/health-profiles/data#page/1/gid/1938132701/pat/6/par/E12000002/
ati/101/are/E07000120

Tab
le 2: S

h
a
re

 o
f re

sid
e
n

tia
l p

o
p

u
la

tio
n

 a
g

e
d

 
16

-6
4

 w
ith

 N
V

Q
 le

v
e
l 2

 o
r a

b
o

v
e
, 2

0
11

7

Barnfield Central Church Milnshaw Peel Spring Hill

64.8%  46.8%  55.2%  62.4%  58.4%  49.4% 

P
age 39



Income & unemployment 

Hyndburn has a low wage economy. With a high proportion 

of the workforce in low-skilled jobs, the average gross weekly 

income for full-time workers is £471.5, which is 16% lower than 

the average for the North West and 20% lower than the national 

average. 

Unemployment in Hyndburn is slightly higher than the national 

level, with 5% of people unemployed compared with 4.6% in  

Great Britain overall. However, this figure is subject to fluctuation 

and depends quite heavily on when it is measured.

The 2011 Census suggests that labour market weakness is more 

acute in most parts of Accrington Town Centre than Hyndburn 

- aligned with pockets of deprivation - and worse there overall 

(Table 3).

There is also a high level of economic inactivity in Hyndburn - 

26% compared to 21% in Great Britain. Of this proportion of 

economically inactive residents, 86% do not want a job, almost 

10% higher than the average national percentage. 

Reliance on out-of-work benefits is higher in Hyndburn than the 

averages for the North West and Great Britain. In the borough 

7.4% of the population are currently benefit claimants. Younger 

people are significantly overrepresented amongst those claiming 

benefits. The most recent data shows that 12.8% of people aged 18 

to 21 claim out-of-work benefits, compared with 7.7% nationally11.

Of the different types of benefits the working-age population 

receives in Hyndburn, ESA and Incapacity Benefit are particularly 

prevalent. Over 9% of working-age residents claim these benefits, 

compared with just 6% overall in Great Britain. This higher rate 

is likely reflective of the health and wellbeing issues highlighted 

above. 

10. Census, 2011

11. Labour Market Profile - Hyndburn, NOMIS

Tab
le 3: E

c
o

n
o

m
ic

a
lly

 a
c
tiv

e
 sh

a
re

 o
f 

w
o

rk
in

g
 a

g
e
 p

o
p

u
la

tio
n

 b
y
 a

re
a
, 2

0
11

10
 

Accrington Town CentreHyndburn 

74.7%

Barnfield Central Church Milnshaw Peel Spring Hill

72.4%  55.5%  68.8%  72.4%  75.3%  62.5% 

P
age 40



ACCRINGTON TOWN CENTRE INVESTMENT PLAN 21

12. Office for National Statistics, Business Register and Employment Survey 

13. Office for National Statistics, Business Register and Employment Survey

14. Office for National Statistics, Business Register and Employment Survey

Tab
le 5: R

e
ta

il a
n

d
 w

h
o

le
sa

le
 

w
o

rk
fo

rc
e
 in

 A
c
c
rin

g
to

n
 

T
o

w
n

 C
e
n

tre
14

 

Tab
le 4

: M
a
n

u
fa

c
tu

rin
g

 
w

o
rk

fo
rc

e
 in

 A
c
c
rin

g
to

n
 

T
o

w
n

 C
e
n

tre
13

 

Local economy 

Despite Accrington’s manufacturing heritage, recent years have 

seen the reliance on manufacturing decline as service-based 

sectors grew. However, the town and the wider Hyndburn 

district maintains a strong bias towards manufacturing. Just over 

11% of the workforce in Accrington Town Centre is employed in 

manufacturing jobs, and in Hyndburn overall the proportion is 

just over 17%, making this the second-largest employment sector  

in the borough. This proportion is significantly higher than the 

national manufacturing workforce, which stands at 8%12.

As Table 4 indicates, the majority of manufacturing jobs are 

outside the town centre, with Milnshaw being the only ward in 

the town centre that has a higher proportion of manufacturing 

jobs than Hyndburn overall.

The dominant workforce sector in Accrington Town Centre and 

Hyndburn overall is retail and wholesale, accounting for 24% 

of local jobs at both the town and borough level, substantially 

higher than the national proportion of 15%. There is considerable 

variation in the size of the retail and wholesale sector workforce 

across Accrington. Table 5 shows the percentage of workers in 

the industry for the six wards covering the town centre.

Human health and social work also constitutes a significant 

portion of the local workforce, with 23% of jobs in Accrington and 

17.2% in Hyndburn within this sector. Again, the distribution of 

workers in this sector is unevenly spread across the town centre, 

ranging from just under 8% in the Church ward to over 53% in 

Spring Hill (Table 6).

Accrington Town Centre Hyndburn North West Great  
Britain 

Barnfield Central Church Milnshaw Peel Spring Hill   

5.7% 5.0% 11.1% 35.0% 11.1% 6.7% 17.2% 9.3% 8.0%

Accrington Town Centre Hyndburn North West Great  
Britain 

Barnfield Central Church Milnshaw Peel Spring Hill   

28.6% 11.7% 55.6% 11.2% 25.0% 6.7% 24.1% 16.3% 15%

P
age 41



Higher-skilled jobs make up only a small proportion of the 

workforce in Accrington and Hyndburn. Less than 4% of jobs in 

the town centre and the borough as a whole are in professional, 

scientific and technical activities, compared with 8.8% nationally. 

Hyndburn’s distribution of workers across the Standard 

Occupational Classification (SOC) hierarchy is skewed towards 

lower-skilled groups. The SOC hierarchy contains nine major 

groups of occupations16 ranging from managers, directors and 

senior officials in group 1, to low-skilled workers in group 9.

Over one in five of the workforce is employed in the major groups 

8 and 9, covering low-skilled jobs such as machine operatives, 

building caretakers, street vendors and cleaners. By comparison, 

in the North West overall just over 16% of workers are employed 

in these groups. 

There is a dearth of senior professionals in Hyndburn, with 

just under 35% of workers employed in SOC major groups 1-3, 

covering managers, directors and professional occupations. In 

the North West, 47% of workers are employed in these groups, 

and in Great Britain, the proportion is half of the workforce17.

In addition to the analysis above of the local workforce structure 

in Accrington and Hyndburn, it is important to consider the 

business start-up rate. New businesses and SMEs help to drive 

economic growth and create jobs. Table 7 shows that the 

rate of business start-ups in Hyndburn in 2019 (measured as a 

percentage of existing businesses) was broadly comparable with 

the average rates in Lancashire and England. 

15. Office for National Statistics, Business Register and Employment Survey

16. SOC hierarchy: Group 1 - Managers, directors and senior officials; Group 2 - Professional occupations; Group 3 - Associate professional and technical occupations; Group 4: 
Administrative and secretarial occupations; Group 5 - Skilled trades occupations; Group 6 - Caring , leisure and other service occupations; Group 7 - Sales and customer service 
occupations; Group 8 - Process, plant and machine operatives; Group 9 - Elementary occupations

17. Office for National Statistics, Annual Population Survey, Apr 2020 - Mar 2021

18. ONS Inter-Departmental Business Register, 2019

Tab
le 7: B

u
sin

e
ss c

o
u

n
ts a

n
d

 
sta

rt-u
p

s b
y
 a

re
a
, 2

0
19

18
 

Tab
le 6

: H
u

m
a
n

 h
e
a
lth

 a
n

d
 so

c
ia

l 
w

o
rk

 in
 A

c
c
rin

g
to

n
 T

o
w

n
 C

e
n

tre
15

 

Accrington Town Centre Hyndburn North West Great  
Britain 

Barnfield Central Church Milnshaw Peel Spring Hill   

11.4% 30.0% 7.8% 30.0% 19.4% 53.3% 17.2% 14.2% 13.1%

 Existing business count Business start-ups 
  (% of existing business count)

Hyndburn 2,570 320 (12.5%)

Lancashire 46,790 5,390 (11.5%)

England 2,639,250 349,675 (13.2%)

P
age 42



Challenges & 
opportunities

ACCRINGTON TOWN CENTRE INVESTMENT PLAN 23

This section sets out the main 
challenges and opportunities that 
this Town Centre Investment Plan 
will both address and build on - the 
challenges are the things that need 
to change and the opportunities are 
avenues we can use to try to change 
them. 

 

Economy & visitors

Challenges

The relatively high level of economic inactivity of the working 

age population in Hyndburn and the high level of economically 

inactive people who do not want a job, compared to national 

averages, is a definite challenge in the borough. In Accrington 

Town Centre overall the situation is even more extreme, with 

approaching half of all working age people in Central ward 

economically inactive, according to the 2011 Census (latest 

published). Economic inactivity – as opposed to unemployment – 

is more a structural issue than a cyclical one, and unlikely to have 

moved on significantly in the last ten years.

The disproportionately high number of inactive people 

on Employment and Support Allowance (ESA) and its 

predecessor Incapacity Benefit (IB) suggests a correspondingly 

disproportionate number of disabled people and those 

furthest from the labour market. Getting significant numbers 

of economically inactive people into work is a difficult task. It is 

also likely that there are low levels of aspiration as another key 

challenge, especially where it is intergenerational.

High concentrations of economically inactive people are resident in 

large parts of Accrington Town Centre, which is not only a social 

problem but also an economic one. Accrington’s economy suffers 

due to a lack of spending power and low demand. Put simply, 

average disposable incomes are not high enough to support the 

everyday spending in the town necessary for it to be a vibrant place.

The Covid-19 pandemic has had a larger impact on Accrington’s 

economy than other areas because of its larger retail and 

manufacturing sectors. Accrington’s workforce have faced greater 

disruption than other sectors including less scope for home 

working, unlike office-based professions, meaning they have faced 

greater disruption compared to other parts of the country. 

Accrington’s economy being dominated by retail is problematic 

on many levels. The first problem is that retail is a relatively 

low value-added sector, which means lower levels of average 

pay, in turn reflective of lower levels of productivity (economic 

The content has been grouped into 
the following three themes: 

1. Economy and visitors
2. Living standards and housing 
3. Education and skills

P
age 43



output per worker). As with high levels of economic inactivity, 

lower average earnings of residents also contributes to a lack of 

spending power and lower demand in the town. 

The second problem is that the fortunes of Accrington are 

effectively leveraged on the fortunes of physical retail more 

generally. Given the decline of physical retail nationally with the 

advent of online shopping, and the adverse impact on the sector 

of the Covid-19 pandemic, Accrington Town Centre has suffered 

more than most.

The challenge therefore is to rebalance Accrington’s economy, 

diversifying it away from retail, making it less dependent on the 

relative success or failure of physical retail (likely to continue 

declining over the next decade) and less susceptible to economic 

shocks.

One sector that Accrington could potentially grow is its 

accommodation and food service activities sector, that is most 

associated with tourism and the visitor economy. Although there 

is no data for Accrington specifically, Hyndburn’s visitor economy 

is relatively small - it struggles to attract visitors - suggesting a 

relatively high proportion of spending locally comes from its own 

residents. This is clearly an issue when resident demand itself 

is low (as a result of low disposable incomes) and contributes 

further to the lack of demand in the town’s economy. 

Hyndburn’s population accounts for 6.6% of the Lancashire 

population. Yet, of an estimated 68.7 million visitor days to 

Lancashire in 2018, only 2.1 million visitor days (3.1%) were in 

Hyndburn, hence visitors to Hyndburn per head of population are 

under half the Lancashire average.19 The visitor spending figures 

are even less encouraging, with only £93.5m spent by visitors to 

Hyndburn of the £4.41bn spent by visitors to Lancashire overall 

(2.1%).20 In other words, if visitor spending in Hyndburn was in line 

with the Lancashire average it would be over three times higher 

and demand in its economy higher. 

 

These findings are consistent with Hyndburn’s sectoral make-

up: only 4.3% of employees are in the accommodation and food 

service activities sector, compared to 7.7% nationally. The lack 

of a visitor economy in Hyndburn - including Accrington - is a 

significant challenge.

 Access to the town by car is reportedly difficult – complicated 

one way systems abound and people cannot get to where they 

want to go without some effort and much patience. This is likely 

to constrict trade throughput and footfall in the town centre and 

contribute to the ailing fortunes of the town’s retail.

Opportunities

There is the opportunity to significantly diversify Accrington’s 

economy away from physical retail, boosting employment 

opportunities with improved earnings prospects for local residents.

 

There is an opportunity to support retail through greater trade 

throughput and footfall with some quick wins around access 

from out of town, particularly by car, including the reversal of one 

way systems and junction improvements.

 

There is the potential to create entry level jobs by diversifying the 

town’s economy not only into higher value-added sectors such 

as manufacturing, but also into other lower value-added sectors 

such as accommodation and food service activities. Diversifying 

the economy in this way could provide a potential first rung 

on the employment ladder for young and/or disadvantaged 

residents moving into the labour market.

 

There is a big opportunity to rapidly grow the visitor economy 

drawing on the town’s heritage assets and beautiful surrounding 

countryside to bolster demand in the town’s economy in the near 

term. Starting from a low base means even greater potential.

 

Manufacturing can be a moderately high value-added sector and 

this is a strength. With the significant manufacturing concentration 

in Milnshaw ward, where 35% of the workforce is employed in the 

manufacturing sector, there may be an opportunity to grow this 

cluster and create high value-added jobs in the town, building on 

its industrial heritage.

19. https://www.marketinglancashire.com/app/uploads/2019/10/Lancashire-STEAM-
Infographic-2018.pdf

20. ibid

P
age 44



ACCRINGTON TOWN CENTRE INVESTMENT PLAN 25

Living standards & housing 

Challenges

Accrington has severe pockets of deprivation – five of its six wards 

are amongst the 5% most deprived wards in England. The situation 

has been getting worse during the last 20 years. Life is tough for a 

very significant proportion of residents living in the town and the 

situation has worsened due to the Covid-19 pandemic.

Deprivation is a key overriding challenge, but it is also symptomatic. 

Digging beneath the surface of overall deprivation, employment 
deprivation and income deprivation are particularly acute in 

Accrington. These are indicative of labour market weakness 

there, with structural (supply-side) issues, such as low levels of 

skills or educational attainment, as well as lack of demand for 

employees from local businesses. The latter is underscored by 

the fact that Hyndburn has a much lower than national average 

‘jobs density’ of only 0.68 jobs per working age resident, versus 

0.87 in England. 

Income and education deprivation in Central ward (amongst the 

1% most deprived wards in England on this measure) suggests a 

concentration of disadvantaged people living there with deep-

seated challenges. This includes a lack of qualifications and years 

of economic inactivity meaning many are far removed from the 

labour market and dependent on benefits, often because of 

disability or long-standing health issues. 

Specific challenges for residents include: 

1.  creating employment for local people (creating new 

businesses, growing those existing) – this in turn rests on 

getting more demand into the town centre’s economy

2. improving the educational outcomes of school children from 

disadvantaged backgrounds for the long term, as well as 

equipping older disadvantaged people for work, giving them a 

second chance where possible 

There is severe living environment deprivation in Central 

and Peel wards – Central being the 4thmost deprived ward in 

England (of which there are over 7,000) – and this is likely to 

reflect challenges around the quality of the housing stock. Living 

environment deprivation could also reflect traffic accidents and 

air quality, though this seems unlikely. 

Information held by Hyndburn Borough Council suggests poor 

conditions in the private rented sector pervade and more recent 

improvements in the selective landlord licensing scheme may 

not yet have filtered through into the deprivation data. The age 

and nature of the existing housing stock are likely contributory 

factors. The living environment therefore registers as another key 

challenge but more pertinent to these two wards than others in 

the town.

The town centre is experiencing increasing problems associated 

with vulnerable single people with ‘chaotic lifestyles’ who 

are constantly failing tenancies, having been thrown out of 

their parent’s home with nowhere else to go. This is having an 

increasingly visible impact in the town which is becoming ‘the 

destination’ for this vulnerable group. There has been an increase 

in town centre accommodation through conversions to flats 

taken up by poorer unemployed single people more generally. 

Bringing more demographic diversity to the town and community 

mix generally is therefore a further challenge.

The town has a high number of vacant dwellings – the share in 

the housing stock being around 4% is around double the national 

average. There is also a high number of vacant shops, with 

around a quarter empty in the town centre, partly reflecting the 

problems facing physical retail nationally, but still around double 

the national average. 

The high number of vacant buildings has contributed to a 

‘hollowing out’ of the town centre. These vacant buildings are 

also contributory factors to a decline of the built environment and 

fraying urban fabric over recent decades, leading to dereliction 

and blight. 

There is an oversupply of retail space – whether judged on the 

number of shops or retail square footage contributing to the high 

number of vacants, and a dearth of alternative uses for these.

Housing is cheap in Hyndburn, amongst the cheapest in the 

country, and it is cheaper still in Accrington where house prices 

P
age 45



are half the Hyndburn average in the cheapest ward of Barnfield. 

This cheaper housing attracts a certain demographic and is 

reflected in low market desirability, including in terms of amenity 

value.

It has been noted already that health outcomes for people living 

in Hyndburn overall are much worse than the national average 

with, for example, more of them smokers and fewer taking 

regular physical exercise as contributory factors. The deprivation 

data strongly implies that the health outcomes for the residents 

of Accrington are far worse than for Hyndburn overall, with a high 

prevalence of those with longstanding health conditions. Health 

and disability deprivation in the town centre is amongst the most 

severe and it is widespread there – all six wards are doing badly; 

5 being in the 2% most deprived wards and the sixth in the 10% 

most deprived wards in England in this respect.

The prevalence of poor mental health of residents in the town, 

as well as the lack of green spaces in the very centre is an issue 

in terms of health and wellbeing as well as the aesthetics of the 

town.

Opportunities

Accrington Town Centre has a broadly stable population and 

the younger population is not declining, in contrast to many ‘left 

behind’ places. Whilst the vulnerable nature of many of these 

young people is undoubtedly a challenge it could also present an 

opportunity if they can be turned around and equipped to thrive.

 

Encouraging more local people from disadvantaged backgrounds 

– including young people - into work in Accrington more generally 

could be an opportunity, particularly under current labour market 

conditions nationally and the shortage of workers. Supporting 

people into work and off benefits, where possible, is the only way 

to significantly bolster their incomes, in effect ‘killing two birds 

with one stone’ (no employment, low incomes) when it comes to 

tackling overall deprivation.

There is an opportunity to vastly improve health outcomes with 

relatively cost-effective interventions, getting more people 

physically active by encouraging cycling and walking in Accrington. 

Cheap land is relatively abundant: there is scope to create new 

outdoor green spaces and improve existing ones.Increased 

provision of outdoor green spaces is linked to better health and 

wellbeing outcomes. 

Cheap housing is an opportunity as it raises the prospect of a 

‘tipping point’ where more affluent first-time buyers and young 

families priced out of other markets could be attracted to the 

town, should its fortunes and attractiveness be turned around 

sufficiently.

The Local Plan review provides a framework to facilitate new 

housing and employment growth. This includes new employment 

land allocations and a large-scale nearby housing development 

development, Huncoat Garden Village. 

19. https://www.marketinglancashire.com/app/uploads/2019/10/Lancashire-STEAM-
Infographic-2018.pdf

20. ibid

There is an oversupply of retail 
space – whether judged on 
the number of shops or retail 
square footage contributing 
to the high number of vacants, 
and a dearth of alternative 
uses for these

P
age 46



ACCRINGTON TOWN CENTRE INVESTMENT PLAN 27

Education & skills 

Challenges

There is a strong link between educational attainment and raised 

productivity (and lifetime earnings), with a premium from having 

5 good GCSEs, which is in turn linked to going onto study at A 

level. 

 

As already described, Hyndburn is similar to the national average 

when it comes to the educational attainment of residents to NVQ 

level 2 or above – having 5 good GCSEs or equivalent. However, 

there is a significant divergence when it comes to NVQ level 3 or 

above – having A-levels or more. 

 

Some stakeholders have commented that there is a lack of A-level 

schooling provision in Hyndburn although others highlight that 

there has been some improvement in recent years. The lack of 

educational attainment beyond GCSE level, both for older adults 

and young people going through school now or recently, is a clear 

challenge and one that is likely just as relevant to Accrington as 

to Hyndburn, if not more so.

 

There is significant polarisation of educational attainment in 

secondary schools in and around Accrington specifically, with 

attainment at half the secondary schools significantly below the 

national average, and two judged to require improvement by 

Ofsted. Again, this polarisation is likely to reflect the gap between 

young people from disadvantaged backgrounds and those not, 

to a significant degree. There is therefore a clear challenge 

around encouraging more of Accrington’s young people from 

disadvantaged backgrounds to stay on at school, partly around 

gaining better GCSE results. And whilst A-level provision may 

have improved, there is more to do in this respect as an additional 

challenge.

 

Arguably the more serious challenge is the high concentration 

of those with no qualifications living in the town centre. The 

Census 2011 data (most recent available) shows that around 20% 

of Hyndburn’s residents have no qualifications versus around 

15% nationally, not massively dissimilar. Yet taken on aggregate 

across half of Accrington’s wards – namely Central, Church and 

Spring Hill - around a third of residents have no qualifications. This 

is a major challenge and labour market barrier for these people.
 

Turning to enterprise, significant economic growth comes from 

new start-ups and SMEs. Start-ups are also an indicator of 

entrepreneurship. Business start-ups (as a percentage of existing 

businesses) in Hyndburn in 2019 were broadly in line with the 

Lancashire and national averages, according to the ONS Inter-

Departmental Business Register. However, it is observed that 

business failures (again, as a share of existing businesses) in 

Hyndburn and Lancashire are much higher than the national 

average. So there is a challenge for Hyndburn, including 

Accrington as its administrative capital, around arresting failures 

and improving the longevity of start-up businesses. 
 
 

Opportunities
 

Extra adult learning provision could be an ‘quick win’ to lift the 

educational attainment of higher-potential disadvantaged young 

people. This could be through GCSE retakes for those that have 

left school recently, or within the last 5 years, and targeted 

elementary adult learning for disadvantaged people with no 

qualifications living in the most deprived wards of the town, 

giving them a ‘second chance’. 
 

There is an opportunity to build on the recent expansion of 

A-level course provision - with the precedent set - throughout 

Hyndburn including in Accrington, to plug the gap in A-level 

attainment with the rest of the country. 
 

An abundance of cheap commercial premises (including retail) in 

Accrington may enable a better provision of shared office space 

and business incubator hubs to support start-ups. 
 

Hyndburn - including Accrington - also has good average 

broadband speeds and is in the top 50% of local authorities in 

England and Wales for download speeds specifically. Over 70% 

of premises in Hyndburn have access to ultrafast broadband, 

which is very good.21 Combined with cheap office space, this may 

present an opportunity to grow Accrington’s digital economy.

 

21. Connected Nations 2020 - Ofcom

P
age 47



The Approach

P
age 48



Addressing the challenges and 
seizing the opportunities that 
Accrington has to offer requires 
a considered and systematic 
approach. In order to help build a 
long-term and sustainable future 
for Accrington we ensured that a 
broad and diverse range of views 
were taken into account from a wide 
range of stakeholders.

We conducted polling of Hyndburn residents to find out what 

they thought of the town in which they live, what is good and 

bad about it and what they think could be improved to make 

Accrington a better place to live and work for them and future 

generations. We set out and agreed on some guiding principles 

to help us in our decision making.

We took all the feedback, views and information from this 

process, and directed by the guiding principles, created a new 

vision for Accrington Town Centre.

Engagement

Accrington has many passionate local business owners, 

volunteers, stakeholders and residents who want to see it become 

a more prosperous and thriving place once again. Stakeholders 

also possess a huge wealth of knowledge, expertise and ideas 

that were crucial in helping to shape the direction and content of 

this Town Centre Investment Plan.

In March 2020 a team of experts - including Professor Cathy 

Parker, Dr Steve Millington and Dr Chloe Steadman - from the 

High Streets Task Force undertook some diagnostic work and 

interviews with a range of stakeholders from the town. Their 

report identified that the main obstacle to improving the town 

for businesses and residents was the lack of collaboration and 

structures to encourage joint decision making and discussion.

As a result of the work of the High Street Task Force a Town 

Centre Stakeholder Group was created, meeting quarterly and 

consisting of 24 members from a diverse range of sectors, 

backgrounds and perspectives important to the town (full list of 

members can be found in Appendix A). 

In June 2021, following an open competition Hyndburn Borough 

Council appointed Bradshaw Advisory as consultants to assist in 

further diagnostic work, data gathering, stakeholder engagement 

and advice on decision making processes in the creation of this plan.

As a result, it was advised that a smaller board would be 

formed as a subset of the wider Stakeholder Group to expedite 

decision making as well as a small core team which would form 

a Delivery Group, meeting weekly. In June 2021 a Town Centre 

Partnership Board was established consisting of 13 members (full 

list of members can be found in Appendix B). The Delivery Group 

consists of Bradshaw Advisory, the Chief Executive of Hyndburn 

Borough Council and other senior council officers. The Partnership 

Board has met monthly to constructively and robustly discuss 

the strategic direction of this plan, its structure, background data 

and analysis, modelling and intervention proposals as they arose. 

Collaboratively, this group created and decided on the new vision 

for Accrington, accepted the findings of the diagnostic work 

ACCRINGTON TOWN CENTRE INVESTMENT PLAN 29

The Approach is broken down into:  

1. Engagement 

2. Views of Hyndburn residents

3. Guiding principles 

4. Our future vision for Accrington 
Town Centre.

P
age 49



undertaken by Bradshaw Advisory (summarised in the context 

section of this document) and the guiding principles which 

were used to filter and select schemes for inclusion in this Town 

Centre Investment Plan. These groups will continue to meet on a 

rolling basis to oversee the implementation of this plan and the 

application process for various grants and funding packages. 

 

In addition to the Town Centre Stakeholder Group and 

Partnership Board meetings, Bradshaw Advisory has undertaken 

over 25 stakeholder meetings and interviews and presented and 

discussed findings with all elected members from Hyndburn 

Borough Council. Representative polling was also commissioned 

with British Polling Council member Survation to understand 

the views and wishes of the residents of Hyndburn (discussed in 

detail in the following section).

A diagram explaining the decision making process and how 

the Delivery Group, Town Centre Stakeholder Group and Town 

Centre Partnership Board interact with each other and make 

decisions is shown in Figure 3.

Fig
ure 3: G

o
v
e
rn

a
n

c
e
 stru

c
tu

re
 

a
n

d
 sig

n
 o

ff p
ro

c
e
ss

Bradshaw Advisory 
outputs

Partnership Board (monthly) 
13 members

Stakeholder Group (quarterly) 
24 members

Decision making 

Consultative

Delivery Group (weekly)

Key outputs Full Council Cabinet

P
age 50



Polling result from 
Hyndburn residents

British Polling Council member Survation was commissioned to 

undertake representative polling of the residents of Hyndburn. A 

representative poll (i.e. a sample which mirrors the demographics 

of the local area) of 15 questions was conducted by telephone 

between the 10th and 23rd of August 2021 of all residents aged 

18+ with a sample size of 505 people. 

Because only a sample of the full population was interviewed, 

all results are subject to margin of error, meaning that not all 

differences are statistically significant. For example, in a question 

where 50% (the worst case scenario as far as margin of error is 

concerned) gave a particular answer, with a sample of 505 it is 

95% certain that the ‘true’ value will fall within the range of plus 

or minus 4.4% from the sample result. That means that, in simple 

terms, when results are within ±4.4% of each other they should be 

treated as registering the same level of response.

Full data tables of all 15 questions can be found in Appendix 

C, but in the following paragraphs we discuss some of the key 

findings and conclusions that can be drawn. 

Around half of Hyndburn residents visited Accrington Town Centre 

weekly or daily (including to work) with the other half visiting once 

or twice a month (26%), a few times a year (14%) or never (12%).

A significant majority of residents felt that the provision of shops 

and retail, restaurants and cafes, pubs and nightlife and green and 

communal spaces were all poor. The range of ‘leisure’ activities 

such as music and food festivals, children’s activities or public 

art works were also rated very poorly. 85% of residents did not 

feel proud when they visited Accrington Town Centre, with 77% 

of people thinking it was a poor place to visit and 65% thinking it 

was poor for job opportunities.

On the more positive side, 68% of residents liked Accrington’s 

historic buildings and architecture, with around a third of people 

highlighting the Market Hall, good transport links, the Town Hall 

and sense of community as things they liked.

Only 13% of people liked the Accrington Arndale, with only 6% 

liking the range and choice of shops in Accrington Town Centre.

A majority of residents felt that there were too many discount, 

pound shops and charity shops as well as too many betting 

shops and takeaway food venues. Conversely, a majority of 

residents felt that there were too few small/independent shops, 

shops selling locally sourced goods and produce, independent 

cafes/restaurants and large chain stores. A large proportion 

(75%) of residents said they felt there were too few venues for 

entertainment (other than betting shops).

90% of residents felt Accrington is in need of regeneration and 

investment with a majority thinking there was a strong sense of 

community and that they felt safe when they visited (50% and 

64% respectively). In terms of what needs improving, the top five 

suggestions were shopping (68% of respondents), restaurants 

and cafes (36%), nightlife (27%), aesthetics and how the town 

looks (27%) and finally events and activities (19%).

Approximately as many Hyndburn residents choose to shop in 

Blackburn or Manchester as Accrington, with Manchester selected 

as the first choice of residents (24%) for eating or socialising.

In summary, a large number of local people are rarely visiting 

Accrington Town Centre as they feel that the Arndale, choice 

of shops, cafes and restaurants are poor, instead choosing to 

go to Blackburn or Manchester. When they do visit, people like 

the historic buildings, architecture and heritage of the place 

- highlighting the Market Hall and Town Hall in particular - and 

would like to see investment that improves the shopping, eating 

and drinking experience moving away from ‘too many’ betting, 

charity and discount shops. There was particular fondness for 

small independent traders and those selling local produce and 

goods.

ACCRINGTON TOWN CENTRE INVESTMENT PLAN 31

Decision making 

Consultative

P
age 51



Guiding Principles

The Partnership Board agreed on a set of guiding principles to 

help to realise the vision and guide decision making. These were:

• Data and evidence-led in our decision making (where possible).

• Heritage-led regeneration that makes Accrington’s heritage 

assets fit for the future and uses them as a catalyst for wider 

economic growth.

• Interventions (taken together) will seek to reduce the total 

retail unit provision. 

• We will seek to increase the quality and choice of cafes, 

restaurants and bars both during the day and evening.

• Interventions will align with our vision including the aesthetics 

of a traditional market town.

• We will seek to reach new audiences, particularly targeting 

the 2.7 million people (with more than £30bn of disposable 

income) within a 40 minute drive of Accrington that will help 

to boost economic growth and opportunities for local people.

• We will be prepared to take tough decisions and act in the best 

interests of the people of Accrington which may not align with 

the interests of individual stakeholders, but has the support of 

wider stakeholders.

• Where appropriate we will seek external organisations and 

individuals with the right skills and expertise to run, manage or 

deliver interventions.

• We will keep the ‘visitor journey’ at the forefront of our minds 

throughout Accrington’s transformation.

• Interventions will seek to improve the connectivity, accessibility 

and flow of the routes into and around our town centre.

• We will diversify our housing stock to attract and cater to a 

wider range of demographics and income levels than are 

currently provided for.

• We will champion and encourage local independent businesses, 

especially start-ups and those set up and run by a new 

generation of Accrington entrepreneurs.

• We will hold a “can do” mindset and look for solutions and 

ways forward rather than blockers.

• We will aim to secure and maximise investment funding from 

the right blend of private, public and voluntary sectors.

• As the transformation of Accrington will take time, we 

will commit to working together collaboratively and in a 

constructive manner for the long term.

Our future vision for 
Accrington Town Centre

Through our wide ranging engagement with a variety of diverse 

stakeholders and specific feedback on Accrington, including from 

the above polling, we created a new vision for Accrington Town 

Centre to drive its regeneration, together as a whole community. 

This vision represents the future Accrington that residents and 

visitors, young and old want to see. It underpins and guides 

the strategy and interventions presented in this Town Centre 

Investment Plan, detailed in the following chapter. 

P
age 52



The Vision 

We are a vibrant, bustling and proud market town steeped in 

industrial, cultural and architectural heritage. Visitors and locals 

come together to sample the best of Lancashire’s homegrown 

produce and diverse mix of local eateries, browse our thriving 

independent shops and cultural venues and relax in our family-

friendly and green spaces. 

Surrounded by beautiful Lancashire countryside, Accrington is 
the gateway to the Pennines, Lake District, Ribble Valley and 
Forest of Bowland making the most of its unique landscapes 
and ample cycling and walking routes. Our attractive, inclusive 

and accessible town hosts numerous popular events, has diverse 

leisure facilities for all ages, and supports its flourishing business 

community to prosper and grow.

We have a remarkable legacy built on the hard work, dedication 
and entrepreneurship of the people of Accrington - we made 

bricks for the Empire State Building, revolutionised the textile 

trade by inventing the spinning jenny and mechanised cotton 

printing, and house the largest collection of Tiffany glass in 

Europe. We are proud of our history and look forward to a 
renewed and exciting future. 

We will do this by:

• Creating “The Accrington Acre” (to be known as “The Acre”) 

by transforming the area around the Town Square and nearby 

architectural highlights into the town’s ‘anchor’ and central 

food, drink, shopping and leisure hub and establishing a range 

of specialist markets to cater to the people of Accrington and 

visitors alike. 

• Revamping the Market Hall into an independent food and drink 

destination - recognised across the North - that showcases the 

best of our local produce and provides a hub for the night-time 

economy, independent retailers and local entrepreneurs. 

• Improving the facades of outlets in “The Acre” creating a 

welcoming feel and more engaging image in-keeping with 

existing heritage assets and historic market town. 

• Creating a more sustainable and healthy environment with 

new green spaces for visitors, locals and families to play, meet, 

eat, relax and spend time together, as well as an engaging 

programme of town centre culinary, cultural and community 

events.

• Improving the connectivity, accessibility and flow of the routes 

into and around our town centre to boost footfall and promote 

trade, with a revamped ‘Acorn Trail’, improved parking and 

vintage signage.

• Modernising and diversifying our housing stock to attract and 

cater to a wider range of demographics and income levels.

• Championing and encouraging local independent businesses, 

especially start-ups and those set up and run by a new 

generation of Accrington entrepreneurs.

• Partnering with a range of organisations who have the skills, 

expertise and focus to deliver or operate local events and 

assets.

ACCRINGTON TOWN CENTRE INVESTMENT PLAN 33

We have a remarkable 
legacy built on the hard 
work, dedication and 
entrepreneurship of the people 
of Accrington - we made bricks 
for the Empire State Building.

P
age 53



The Strategy 

P
age 54



This section sets out a way forward 
for Accrington having set out the 
context - including the challenges 
and opportunities. The Strategy 
brings together an agreed future 
vision for Accrington over a ten 
year period, sets out how we 
gathered information and selected 
interventions for the town centre to 
meet the vision and what outcomes 
we would like to see.

To ensure these outcomes are reached, a range of town centre 

interventions have been proposed in order to realise the vision. 

This process is detailed in a ‘logic model’.

All our findings were assessed rigorously to ensure that only 

the best interventions for Accrington were taken forward for 

inclusion in the Town Centre Investment Plan schemes and for 

consideration in future proposals. We have put forward a range 

of interventions for Accrington Town Centre to achieve these 

outcomes. 

This chapter includes 1) strategic objectives 2) accrington town 

centre - logic model 3) assessment and development of potential 

interventions 4) proposed interventions 5) logic and rationale of 

the proposed interventions 6) strategic alignment with Local Plan 

and Accrington Area Action Plan. 

Strategic objectives

We will measure our overall success against the following 

objectives. These are SMART (specific, measurable, agreed, 

realistic, timebound) and ‘outcome-based’, linking to the 

outcomes in the logic model presented later and to realising the 

vision.

Within a 10-year timeframe of the Town Centre Investment Plan 

being adopted:

• Increased visitor and tourist numbers to Accrington Town 

Centre and commensurately increased footfall in the primary 

shopping areas, and increased spending per head

• An improved and diversified the retail offer, including more 

independent shops and retailers than currently

• Reduced dependency of Accrington on the retail sector for 

jobs – with commensurate growth in jobs in other sectors, 

including in food and drink, manufacturing, and office-based 

professions

• Fewer empty shops and other empty commercial premises in 

Accrington

• Improved living environment and diversity of household types 

living in Accrington Town Centre

• More of Accrington’s residents enjoying green spaces, and 

walking and/or cycling regularly 

• More of Accrington’s residents from disadvantaged 

backgrounds - including young people - gaining a qualification 

for the first time, and more young people from disadvantaged 

backgrounds gaining 5 good GCSEs 

ACCRINGTON TOWN CENTRE INVESTMENT PLAN 35

P
age 55



Outcome 1:  
Increased visitor and tourist numbers

Aggregate demand in Accrington Town Centre (i.e. spending by 

people) is low as a result of too few visitors and the generally low 

spending power of residents, impaired further by a lower than 

average economic activity (and employment) rate. Significantly 

improved disposable income of residents may take many years 

to achieve, even decades. Attracting visitors and their spending 

power into the town centre is the quickest route to increasing 

aggregate demand in the town’s economy. Visitor spend is only 

1/3 of the Lancashire average which suggests huge potential.

To do this, we need to:

• provide a clear draw and focus to the town centre and a reason 

to visit Accrington supported by an effective marketing and 

tourism strategy

• improve access to the town centre by car

• create a more joined-up town centre

Outcome 2:  
An improved and diversified retail offer

The quality of the retail on offer in Accrington needs to rise as well 

as decreasing the number of retail outlets, many of which are left 

vacant. This will both improve the town’s image and reputation 

as a retail destination. This will encourage more of the town’s 

residents to spend there and help increase its draw to visitors.

To do this, we need to:

• actively encourage existing higher-end retail to remain and 

discourage lower end retail

• improve the appeal of the existing building stock and make 

retail premises - and the public realm generally - more attractive 

to retail tenants

• build on existing successful retail clusters and try to establish 

new ones

 

Outcome 3:  
Reduced dependency on the retail sector

Again, a key reason Accrington’s fortunes have declined so much 

over the last two decades is because it is intertwined with the 

fortunes of physical retail, which has been hit by the rise of online 

shopping and out of town retail parks since the early 2000s. The 

local economy needs to be diversified away from retail not just 

because of this trend, but also to increase its resilience – physical 

retail has been impacted enormously by COVID-19. Retail is also 

low value added, meaning that it locks in lower-than-average 

earnings for those working in it, contributing to the low wage/

low demand local economy. Nearly 1-in-4 employee jobs in 

Accrington Town Centre are in the retail & wholesale sector. 

To do this, we need to:

• grow under-represented sectors e.g. create a significant high 

quality food and drink offer in the town centre

• boost high potential/growth business sectors

• ensure better survival rates of business start-ups

Outcome 4:  
Fewer empty shops

Around 1-in-4 retail premises in Accrington are vacant (around 

50% of the Arndale Centre is vacant or charity shops) and this 

reflects not just a substantial lack of demand, but also a significant 

oversupply in the demand-supply equation. There is 3.7 square 

meters of retail space per resident in Accrington Town Centre 

compared to 2.5 in Hyndburn and 1.8 in England. Addressing this 

significant imbalance will require both increased demand (and 

enticement of the right types of retail tenants), reduced supply 

of retail space, and more productive and imaginative use of our 

spaces more generally.

To do this, we need to:

• reduce supply of retail premises - make better use of land and 

buildings that serves the public interest, which includes reducing 

the number of retail premises via changes of use or demolition

• increase demand for retail premises by increasing footfall and 

spend (links to outcome 1)

P
age 56



Outcome 5:  
Improved living environment and diversity of 
household types

Hyndburn has become much more deprived relative to other 

English local authorities over the last 20 years and this trend 

looks set to continue. Deprivation is concentrated in and around 

Accrington with all but one of its wards within the most 5% 

deprived in England.

To do this we need to:

• tackle head on the issues related to the living environment 

(indoors and out) in the most disadvantaged wards, poor 

housing conditions in existing properties, including housing 

renewal

• reduce the number of empty residential properties

• increase the appeal of Accrington to more ‘middle’ income 

groups of different tenures - e.g. first time buyers, to increase 

community mix and reduce social ghettoisation 

Outcome 6:  
More residents enjoying green spaces and walking 
/ cycling regularly

Accrington’s health deprivation is the worst of its deprivation 

metrics. Health deprivation measures the risk of premature 

death and impairment of quality of life through poor physical or 

mental health. Being physically active helps to improve physical 

and mental health outcomes and proximity to green spaces also 

supports mental wellbeing. 

To do this we need to:

• create more opportunities for people to cycle and/or walk 

• provide a greener town centre environment and proximate 

open accessible green spaces for residents to enjoy

Outcome 7:  
More adults from disadvantaged backgrounds 
gaining good qualifications

More of Accrington’s young people need to be getting 5 ‘good 

GCSEs’ - again, this is one of the most important determinants of 

going onto further education and a key determinant of increased 

life-time earnings (and productivity). But disadvantaged older 

residents, too, need opportunities to participate in training and 

work, especially those with no qualifications. 

To do this we need to:

• support and encourage more disadvantaged adults, especially 

those who have underachieved at school, including recently, to 

undertake further learning which could include: GCSE retakes; 

further education studying for A-levels or T-levels; or

• other training and skilling (including apprenticeships/flexible 

apprenticeships)

ACCRINGTON TOWN CENTRE INVESTMENT PLAN 37

P
age 57



Accrington Town Centre 
- Logic model

The logic model for Accrington links the context of the 

problems this Town Centre Investment Plan is trying 

to address, to the proposed policy interventions to 

address them, or the inputs, and then to the envisaged 

outputs from these policy interventions, and then onto 

the outcomes - i.e. what we are trying to achieve. Again, 

the outcomes are the same thing as the Town Centre 

Investment Plan’s objectives, because the objectives are 

outcome-based. Finally, the impacts are on the standard 

of living, quality of life or wellbeing, generally at the 

societal level.

CONTEXT INPUTS

Consultation and strategic planning, stakeholder 
group, expert consultants
 
Engagement with community groups / voluntary 
sector & harnessing of social capital
 
Investments to acquire empty buildings by 
consent
 
Partnerships to refurbish / repurpose and bring 
buildings back into use
 
Changes in land and property use for the needs 
of the present day
 
Partnerships with, and support for, businesses in 
marginal sectors to grow (food & drink)
 
Investment to demolish / green
 
Investment in historic building facades
 
Investment in public realm and public open 
space (e.g. cobblestones)
 
Review and improve traffic management 
arrangements to improve car access to town 
centre
 
Investment in cycle routes, pedestrian routes, 
signposting
 
Investment in better access roads and car 
parking for out-of-town visitors
 
Investment in / design a ‘2nd chance’ education 
signposting, prep and bursaries scheme for 
disadvantaged residents

Decades of relative economic decline but stable 
population
 
Heavy economic dependence on retail sector
 
Low employment rate, high economic inactivity
 
High proportion of disadvantaged people with 
low or no qualifications, poor aspiration
 
Low average earnings
 
Loss of footfall and business: shops, cafes, pubs
 
Significant oversupply of retail space compared 
to other town centres
 
High proportion of vacant shopping premises: 
‘Hollowed out’ town centre
 
Relatively poor night-time economy
 
High proportion of vacant dwellings
 
Decline of built environment / urban fabric / 
dereliction / blight
 
Impeded access to town centre, especially by 
car
 
Increased deprivation since 2000 and 
significant concentrations of severe deprivation 
(especially health)

P
age 58



ACCRINGTON TOWN CENTRE INVESTMENT PLAN 39

OUTPUTS OUTCOMES IMPACT

Improved urban fabric, including conservation 
of historic buildings, focussed around the 
‘Accrington Acre’
 
Refurbished premises available to let, including 
some for a different use class
 
Revamped Market Hall as a well-known food and 
drink destination
 
More open green spaces in the town centre
 
New user-friendly cycle routes and pedestrian 
crossings
 
Improved road junctions and one way systems 
(better ‘gateways’) to increase access to the 
town centre by car
 
New additional car parking spaces for visitors
 
Greened urban landscape and cobbled streets 
and signage for an historic market town 
aesthetic
 
‘2nd chance’ reach out programme - to 
disadvantaged adults / young people who 
underachieved at school - for further learning 
with funding for x places a year

Improved visitor (tourist) numbers and footfall
 
Increased demand / spend from visitors, and 
people stopping off
 
More demand-induced job opportunities for 
town residents, including in food and drink and 
growth sectors
 
Increased demand / spend from Accrington’s 
residents
 
Increased and more diverse retail offer, 
especially independent shops and retailers
 
Increased and more diverse food and drink 
operators
 
Accrington is a well-known town centre 
destination steeped in industrial, cultural and 
architectural heritage
 
Fewer empty shops and premises and blight
 
More diverse, modern and high-quality housing 
offer
 
More people enjoying and relaxing in green 
spaces
 
More people walking and cycling and taking 
exercise
 
More disadvantaged adults young and older 
gaining better qualifications or qualifications for 
the first time

Higher economic growth and economic output, 
including per head
 
Higher proportion of people, including 
disadvantaged adults, in work and economically 
active
 
Improved mental and physical health of town 
residents, improved wellbeing
 
Enhanced civic pride, with a stronger sense of 
community and purpose
 
A diversified local economy less susceptible to 
economic shocks
 
Reduced deprivation in the town’s deprivation 
blackspots
 
Reduced health, living environment, and 
employment deprivation

A happier, healthier and fairer place to live and 
work, for those of all ages and backgrounds

P
age 59



Assessment & development 
of potential interventions

An expression of interest process was run between June and 

September 2021 seeking ideas for possible interventions to 

improve the town centre of Accrington from Hyndburn Borough 

Council, the Town Centre Stakeholder Group and Town Centre 

Partnership Board. Some ideas for potential schemes had already 

been put forward following the High Street Task Force work prior 

to June 2021.

Bradshaw Advisory established a rigorous and evidence-led 

assessment process for all schemes that were put forward, 

including gatekeeping criteria, to which schemes must receive 

two ‘yes’ ratings in order to be considered further. This process 

was based on the HM Treasury ‘Five Case Model’ which looks at 

the strategic, economic, financial, commercial and management 

cases of each proposal. In each sub-criteria of those five cases, 

interventions were given a score from 1-5 with 1 being the lowest 

score and 5 being the highest (see tables below). The Town 

Centre Partnership Board approved this approach, as well as 

the vision for Accrington and a set of guiding principles to assist 

decision making on the 7th September 2021.

The gatekeeping criteria were set to ensure interventions aligned 

well with the adopted vision and guiding principles as well as 

being likely to provide more benefits (both economic and social) 

to the town than the cost of the intervention. 

A total of 26 schemes or possible interventions were put forward 

with significantly varying amounts of detail and information. 

All schemes went through the assessment process and were 

scored independently by Bradshaw Advisory and their team of 

experts. The results of the interim assessments were presented 

to the Town Centre Partnership Board and scheme promoters 

were given an additional two weeks to provide supporting 

information or do further work. Assessment scores were finalised 

and presented to the Town Centre Partnership Board on the 4th 

November 2021. 

In addition to this assessment process, schemes were placed into 

one of four categories to indicate their future potential if further 

scheme development work was done:

1. Strong fit with vision and principles/strong (or likely to be 

strong) benefits case

2. Strong fit with vision and principles/weak (or likely to be 

weak) benefits case

3. Weak fit with vision and principles/strong (or likely to be 

strong) benefits case

4. Weak fit with vision and principles/weak (or likely to be 

strong) benefits case

Schemes that were assessed to fit into categories 1 and 2 are set 

out below.

Fig
ure 4

: A
sse

ssm
e
n

t p
ro

c
e
ss

Fig
ure 5: L

o
c
a
tio

n
s o

f p
ro

p
o

se
d

 
in

te
rv

e
n

tio
n

s in
 th

e
 to

w
n

 c
e
n

tre
 

Intervention 
put forward

Stage 1 Assessment 
(Five Case Model) TCIP Schemes

Stage 1  
Gate keeping 

Criteria 
(Y/N)

P
age 60



ACCRINGTON TOWN CENTRE INVESTMENT PLAN 41

Fig
ure 5: L

o
c
a
tio

n
s o

f p
ro

p
o

se
d

 
in

te
rv

e
n

tio
n

s in
 th

e
 to

w
n

 c
e
n

tre
 

Proposed interventions

P
age 61



Achieving the vision for the future 
of Accrington Town Centre requires 
a coherent package of interventions 
right across the town. These 
interventions - whether delivered by 
Hyndburn Borough Council or third 
parties - will improve the quality 
of life and experience of the town 
for residents and, at the same time, 
boost visitor numbers and help 
create a thriving visitor economy. 

Below we have set out a series of potential interventions which 

can and will fulfil our vision for the future of Accrington. Some 

interventions are at the conceptual and aspirational stage and 

others are a more detailed proposal of how they may be delivered 

and implemented. A summary of the ideas, irrespective of who 

would deliver them and the stage they are at, are described in 

the following pages.

1. Market Hall 

Accrington’s Market Hall is one of the town’s most prized historical 

assets yet demand for market stalls within the hall has fallen 

dramatically over the last few years. In 2015 the ground floor was 

89% occupied, whereas in 2021, occupancy has fallen to 52%. 

What’s more, the Market Hall has been consistently losing money 

with combined net losses of £836,000 over the last three years. 

 

The scale of the Market Hall means that it is impacted by the 

same oversupply of retail units that affect the Arndale and other 

parts of the town centre. As a result, occupancy as of August 

2021 is just 65%, and the majority of retailers provide lower-

end offerings. Occupancy rates differ substantially between the 

two levels of the Market Hall - the ground floor is currently 52% 

occupied, while the upper-level balcony is operating at 91%.

Accrington Town Centre itself suffers from a lack of high-quality 

eating and drinking establishments. Key to regenerating the town 

centre will be establishing an ‘anchor’ or ‘Accrington Acre’

to draw people living outside of Accrington in, to visit the town. 

 

It is proposed that the Market Hall and town square would form 

the centre of the Accrington Acre. We propose the Market Hall is 

refurbished and transformed in whole or in part into a higher-end 

eating, drinking and cultural venue with more modern facilities 

for small independent traders.

2. Town Hall façade improvements 

The Town Hall is an architectural highlight of Accrington. The 

recently completed £2 million project to create a town square 

in front of the hall has begun to rejuvenate the area. With these 

improvements the town square is beginning to work as a focal 

point for people visiting Accrington. The next stage will require 

facade repairs and lighting to the Town Hall to enhance this 

historical building and increase the aesthetic appeal of the wider 

town square and Accrington Acre. 

A programme of facade improvements to restore worn and 

defective aspects of the building will further improve the exterior 

P
age 62



appearance of the Town Hall building and protect this cultural 

asset for future generations and visitors alike. 

3. Transformation of properties at 43-59 
Blackburn Road and 2-18 Church Street

Despite being in a prime location, many of the shops on the 

section of Blackburn Road adjoining the town square/Accrington 

Acre and Church Street are vacant, in a poor state of repair or 

do not encourage the visitor economy. This ‘run-down’ look in 

what is a prominent part of the town centre detracts from the 

aesthetics of the Town Hall, Market Hall and recently developed 

town square. We would like to see properties on these streets 

renovated and repurposed with the ground floors ideally suited 

to independent cafes, restaurants and higher-end retailers. 

Our analysis does not support the creation of additional 

residential units within the town centre as part of Accrington’s 

transformation however there may be potential for transforming 

the upper floors into co-working space or higher quality, modern 

commercial space to support Hyndburn’s entrepreneurs, 

independent traders or public sector providers. Alternatively, it 

could form part of an arts, culture and heritage offer.

If facade improvements were carried out on these buildings it 

could bring them up to a standard in-keeping with the vision for a 

high-end and vibrant town square and complement the heritage 

assets located on or near the town square.

4. Transformation of Burton’s Chambers

Burton’s Chambers, situated immediately opposite the Town Hall 

is currently completely unoccupied apart from a betting shop 

(Betfred) on the corner with St James’ Street. We would like to 

see this important Art Deco heritage building brought back into 

use by repurposing its ground floor premises into independent 

cafes, restaurants and higher-end retailers which would include 

improving the facade of the building.

Our analysis does not support the creation of additional residential 

units within the town centre as part of Accrington’s transformation 

however there may be potential for transforming the upper floors 

into co-working space or higher quality, modern commercial 

premises to support Hyndburn’s entrepreneurs and independent 

traders or public sector providers. Alternatively, it could form part 

of an arts, culture and heritage offer.

5. Transformation of the Victorian Arcade 

The listed Victorian Arcade connects the Market Hall, Blackburn 

Road and Church Street with the successful independent retailers 

of Warner Street. It is uniquely positioned as a potential gateway 

from the heart of town (Accrington Acre) to Warner Street. The 

Grade II listed building is an architectural highlight in the town 

and is thought to be one of the first indoor shopping arcades of 

its kind in the country. 

 

As with other previously vibrant and successful shopping 

destinations in Accrington, the Victorian Arcade has declined 

and with years of neglect has seen parts of the building fall into 

disrepair. It now suffers from the similar low occupancy and 

footfall seen elsewhere in the town. 

 

We would like to see the Victorian Arcade renovated to attract 

higher-end independent retailers and traders that complement 

those already operating on Warner Street. 

6. Improved streetscapes 

At eye level a number of streets are unpleasant and unappealing 

to look at. As we are aiming to gain a larger share of the visitor 

economy, create the Accrington Acre concept and capitalise 

on our assets as a Northern market town, improving their visual 

impact forms an important element of our interventions. 

Important gateways and streets linking into the Accrington Acre 

should be aesthetically improved in a style in keeping with a 

historic market town. This could include more sympathetic street 

lighting and the cobblestoning of selected streets in whole or in 

part.

ACCRINGTON TOWN CENTRE INVESTMENT PLAN 43

P
age 63



7. Improved shop fronts (supporting the 
Accrington Acre)

To improve the visual appeal of streets, it is proposed that the 

council will work with shop owners and landlords to provide 

upgraded, more historically sympathetic and aesthetically 

appealing shop frontages within this area. 

The council will also develop a ‘style guide’ for any upgrades 

accessing the support of public funds. In the first instance, shops 

that are in close proximity to the Accrington Acre (Church 

Street, Warner Street, sections Abbey Street and the stretch 

of Blackburn Road between Church and Abbey Street) will be 

prioritised for investment. 

8. Improved signage

Navigating into and around Accrington is reportedly difficult for 

locals as well as non-local visitors. If the town centre vision for it 

to become a visitor destination is to be realised, it would benefit 

from improved signage for pedestrians and car users. Signage 

on major roads could be improved to raise awareness of the 

Accrington Acre and draw in and direct visitors to attractions. 

Within the town centre, improved signage (done in a historically 

sympathetic style) at street level would aid those navigating the 

town either by road or on foot. 

9. Upgrade the Town Hall Extension 

The Town Hall Extension is a listed building extending from the 

rear of the Town Hall and down along Broadway. It is currently 

largely unoccupied and in need of renovation both internally and 

externally to protect it and make it fit for modern day occupation 

and needs. The proposal is to make facade improvements and 

renovate the interior of the building, bringing it up to a standard 

suitable for rent on the open market. 

10. Junction access improvements 

Eastgate is a main arterial road in Accrington, linking the town 

centre to the east and north. As a heavily-used road it is often the 

first view of the town centre for people travelling into Accrington, 

and therefore, its appearance along with its functionality is 

important. Proposed improvements would see the creation of 

a boulevard along Eastgate, with the removal of some of the 

existing barriers to improve the experience of transport users and 

particularly pedestrians. 

Additional alterations at several gateway junctions around the 

town centre are proposed to improve access by car and those 

on bicycles. The stretch of Whalley Road between Broadway and 

Peel Street would be opened up to two-way traffic and the bus 

lane removed. Improvements at the junction of Burnley Road 

and Eastgate to open the carriageway would allow vehicular and 

pedestrian access through to Whalley Road. Direct road access 

would be provided via Abbey Street into the town centre from 

Manchester Road. The operation of the one way system around 

St James’s church would be reconsidered. Finally, improvements 

would be made at the junction of Paradise Street and St James’ 

Street to aid crossing for pedestrians and cyclists. 

11. Warner Street footway 

Warner Street is currently one of the most popular and successful 

shopping streets in the town centre. Its continued success is a 

vital part of the vision for Accrington. It is proposed that a full 

highway-width footway on the street could be created to improve 

the shopping experience and increase the capacity of the street 

to accommodate growing numbers of shoppers and visitors. 

12. Repurpose old Yorkshire Bank building

The former Yorkshire Bank building sits in a prime location 

adjacent to the town square and Accrington Acre and is another 

example of Accrington’s high quality architecture. The building 

P
age 64



has potential to complement the town square and the other 

transformed properties on it. We would like to see that building 

brought back into use potentially as the location for a restaurant 

or cafe, a community space, museum or commercial office. 

13. Greening of the Town Centre 

A lack of green space in Accrington has been identified by 

stakeholders and the work of the High Street Task Force. 

Improving existing green spaces or creating new ones will not 

only enhance the aesthetic appeal of the town centre, but can 

also provide benefits to the health and wellbeing of residents and 

visitors alike. There is potential to create or improve green spaces 

at several sites around the town centre which should be explored 

and progressed further. 

14. Development of Charlie Brown’s site 

Redevelopment has been suggested for the former Charlie 

Brown’s site on the corner of Abbey Street and Stanley Street. A 

proposal is for the demolition of the old Charlie Brown store on 

the site, to be replaced with the creation of a car park, and a small 

amount of green space replacing the disused buildings on Abbey 

Street. The redevelopment would provide a more welcoming 

entrance to the town centre and additional parking capacity.

15. Park and ride scheme 

Achieving the vision set out for the town centre will see visitor 

numbers to Accrington increase. With this in mind, it may be that 

a park and ride scheme needs to be established in the future to 

bring people easily and conveniently into the town centre. Clearly 

this would be dependent on demand, the success of realising the 

vision and technology and usage patterns at that time.

16. Restoration/renovation of old police station 

The former Accrington police station is a Grade II listed building 

on the edge of the town centre which closed in 2016. We would 

like to see this asset restored and repurposed for hospitality and/

or another visitor attraction such as an escape room. 

17. Platts Lodge Waterpark 

Platt’s Lodge, to the south-east of Accrington, contains a small 

body of water on a former industrial site. It is proposed that this 

site could potentially become a waterpark and visitor’s centre/

cafe. The facility would act as a visitor centre for the Woodnook 

Vale and Peel Park Nature reserves (the two largest local Nature 

reserves in Lancashire) and provide a hub for organised walks 

and activities. The waterpark could feature facilities for a variety 

of activities, such as kayaking and paddleboarding.

The waterpark would serve the dual purpose of improving the 

quality of life for residents and young people, and at the same 

time, providing a visitor attraction to stimulate Accrington’s 

visitor numbers and economy. It could also promote healthy 

lifestyle activities, such as walking and cycling, acting as a hub 

based at the gateway to the two local nature reserves.

18. Accrington Arndale 

Through the analytical work conducted by Bradshaw Advisory it 

is clear that Accrington suffers from an oversupply of retail units. 

Additionally, the Arndale has been identified through stakeholder 

conversations and the representative polling as being extremely 

unpopular and what many refer to as a ‘white elephant’. While 

there are no firm proposals at this time there may be potential 

for that site to be repurposed in whole or in part to support 

the vision within this TCIP, add to green space provision within 

the town centre and through potential demolitions reduce the 

supply of retail units. To be clear our analysis does not support 

the addition of residential units within the town centre within the 

medium term timeframe.

ACCRINGTON TOWN CENTRE INVESTMENT PLAN 45

P
age 65



Logic & rationale of the 
proposed interventions

The interventions detailed above all align with the vision for 

Accrington and the guiding principles we have set out. Several 

interventions, such as the Market Hall redevelopment and the 

creation of the Accrington Acre, will not only improve the retail 

and catering offerings available to residents in the town, but will 

work towards making the town a visitor destination and tap into 

the significant disposable income of the surrounding populations 

within easy reach of Accrington. 

Within a 10 mile radius of Accrington (~20 min drive), there are 

approximately 500k people, with a combined disposable income 

of over £5 bn. Expanding this radius to 20 miles (~40 min drive), 

captures around 2.7 million people with approximately £31 bn 

of total disposable income. Attractions such as the redeveloped 

Market Hall only need to tap into a small fraction of this potential 

market to flourish. 

Sadly, many of the architectural highlights in the town centre have 

been neglected for years. Some are currently unoccupied, and 

others are in varying states of disrepair. Our vision for the town 

is one of heritage-led regeneration. A number of interventions 

are intended to restore and revitalise these historical buildings to 

their past glory. Doing so will raise the sense of pride in the town 

amongst local residents, as well as increase the appeal for outside 

visitors, and hence boost the visitor economy. 

Residents in Accrington and Hyndburn generally have poorer 

general health compared with the regional and national picture. 

Offering facilities in the town to increase physical activity, and 

promote better health and wellbeing are a key rationale behind 

the proposed interventions to increase greening and the creation 

of a Waterpark at Platt’s Lodge. Not only will these interventions 

bring benefits to improve the quality of life for residents, but they 

also add to the appeal of Accrington to outside visitors.

A successful future for Accrington will depend on both improving 

the quality of life and experience of the town for residents, as 

well as stimulating visitor numbers and the visitor economy. The 

interventions proposed have been considered in this dual context. 

Navigation and access interventions, such as the proposed 

improvements to Eastgate and town centre gateway junctions 

meet these two ambitions to ease navigation and access for both 

local residents and visitors. 

Within a 10 mile radius of 
Accrington (~20 min drive), 
there are approximately 500k 
people, with a combined 
disposable income of over £5 
bn. Expanding this radius to 20 
miles (~40 min drive), captures 
around 2.7 million people with 
approximately £31 bn of total 
disposable income.

P
age 66



Strategic alignment with 
Local Plan & Accrington 
Area Action Plan 

The proposed interventions have all been carefully considered 

within the context of the strategic priorities of Accrington and 

Hyndburn. At the heart of the Core Strategy of Hyndburn’s 

Local Plan is the ambition for the borough to be a “distinctive, 

prosperous and vibrant area of Pennine Lancashire” by 2026. 

There is an expressed desire for local and specialist shopping, 

community services and facilities to be readily accessible.

Although the Local Plan is approaching nearly a decade since 

its adoption, and a revision is currently underway, our proposed 

interventions have been designed to align with the high-level 

objectives stated in the plan. The Accrington Acre and Market 

Hall redevelopment will turn stagnant areas of Accrington into 

distinctive and vibrant locations. In turn, they will provide a 

platform for higher-end local and specialist shopping and food 

and drink offer. 

The proposed interventions also align strongly with the 

Accrington Area Action Plan (AAAP), adopted by Hyndburn 

Borough Council on 19th January 2012. A cornerstone of the 

vision outlined in the plan is for Accrington to become a visitor 

destination, a vision shared in this document. 

The Accrington Acre proposal aligns well with the AAAPs 

noted need for a patchwork quilt of diverse experiences such 

as shopping, eating and drinking to draw in visitors. In further 

alignment with the vision for the Accrington Acre, the AAAP 

concludes that a compact cluster where a village-like distinctive 

and intimate environment can be created is most likely to prosper. 

Several policies outlined in the AAAP show alignment with 

the interventions proposed in this plan. These are detailed in 

Appendix D. 

ACCRINGTON TOWN CENTRE INVESTMENT PLAN 47

The Accrington Acre and 
Market Hall redevelopment 
will turn stagnant areas of 
Accrington into distinctive and 
vibrant locations. In turn, they 
will provide a platform for 
higher-end local and specialist 
shopping and food and drink 
offer. 

P
age 67



The Impact 

P
age 68



ACCRINGTON TOWN CENTRE INVESTMENT PLAN 49

As with any impact assessment (and subsequent evaluation), 

establishing a baseline is important. During the course of summer 

2021, Hyndburn Borough Council conducted a footfall count at 

several key retail locations throughout the town centre, including 

the Market Hall and the Arndale Centre amongst others. This count 

only allows us to produce broad range estimates of annual footfall 

in the town centre, because of issues around coverage (meaning 

potential gaps in data) and double counting (one shopper may 

have been counted at two or more different count locations 

meaning over-estimates). Other uncertainties include seasonality.

However, the results suggest that there are a minimum of around 

4,000 shoppers a day (1.5 million a year) in Accrington town 

centre, though this excludes the Tesco store near the railway 

station which is not included in the count or as part of the town 

centre here. This would be around 28,000 a week – roughly 

the equivalent of 80% of the residents of Accrington (children 

included) going to the local shops each week, with no visitors 

from outside. This is probably on the low side.

Equally, there could be as many as around 15,000 shoppers a 

day (4.5 million a year). This would be the equivalent of all the 

residents of Accrington town going to the local shops twice a 

week, plus half as many visits from outside which is likely on the 

high side. 

This TCIP has established that Accrington town centre is suffering from a 
lack of demand and spending power but has some of the key ingredients 
necessary for its transformation. The interventions set out in it are chiefly 
about tackling and bolstering aggregate demand in the town centre by 
attracting more visitors from outside of the town, including tourists. Most 
of the short-term impact on demand will be through raised visitor numbers 
and footfall – impacting chiefly on the retail and tourism sectors22. That is 
because supply side measures, such as improving the skill levels of residents 
or diversifying the local housing stock, will take many years, if not decades, 
to manifest.

Equally, there could be as 
many as around 15,000 
shoppers a day (4.5 million 
a year). This would be the 
equivalent of all the residents 
of Accrington town going to 
the local shops twice a week.

22. Namely the retail and wholesale sector, and the accommodation and food 
services sector

P
age 69



Hyndburn’s gross value added (GVA) is around £1.5bn a year24, 

suggesting GVA per job is around £41,000. GVA data for Accrington 

town centre are not available but a simple apportionment of the 

jobs data (in Table 9) and assuming GVA per job in Accrington 

town centre is similar to that of Hyndburn suggests GVA there of 

around £450 million to £500 million a year. Readers should note 

that in reality the figure is likely to be lower than that estimate 

given the relatively higher levels of deprivation in the town centre 

compared to the wider local area, but insufficient data currently 

exists to provide a more accurate estimate.

There are currently around 36,400 people in work in Hyndburn, 

according to the latest ONS data.25 This is very similar to the 

census 2011 data which showed around 34,700 in work.

The latest data combined with the census suggest between 

10,000 and 11,000 people in work in Accrington town centre – as 

proxied by six wards:

23. Results for count locations covered throughout the day only

24. ONS regional gross value added (balanced) by industry: local authorities by NUTS 1 region, 2018 data (latest) https://www.ons.gov.uk/economy/grossvalueaddedgva/
datasets/regionalgrossvalueaddedbalancedlocalauthoritiesbynuts1region 

25. ONS Annual Population Survey, July 2020 to June 2021, available via NomisWeb Labour Market Profile - Nomis - Official Labour Market Statistics (nomisweb.co.uk)

Tab
le 9

: la
b

o
u

r m
a
rk

e
t p

ro
fi

le
s 

b
y
 lo

c
a
l a

re
a
, c

e
n

su
s 2

0
11

Tab
le 8: A

c
c
rin

g
to

n
 to

w
n

 
c
e
n

tre
 c

o
u

n
t re

su
lts

2
3

 Number of shoppers  Number of count  Maximum number Average number of
 observed at all count  locations included,  shoppers observed at shoppers observed
 locations, per day per day one count location,  across all count 
   per day locations, per day 

Tuesdays & Thursdays 14,804 7.9 4,262 1,877

Saturdays 15,718 8.1 3,808 1,783

  Economically active In work

Barnfield 2,127 1,927

Central 1,887 1,575

Church 1,969 1,679

Milnshaw 1,920 1,764

Peel 2,224 1,966

Spring Hill 2,045 1,706

Accrington Town Centre 12,172 10,617

Hyndburn 39,118 34,663

P
age 70



Current footfall position +5% +10% +15%

4,000 p/d +200 p/d +400 p/d +600 p/d

15,000 p/d +750 p/d +1,500 p/d +2,250 p/d

ACCRINGTON TOWN CENTRE INVESTMENT PLAN 51

Tab
le 10

: E
stim

a
te

s o
f to

w
n

 c
e
n

tre
 

fo
o

tfa
ll u

p
lift fro

m
 L

U
F

 in
v
e
stm

e
n

ts

Impacts

While it is impossible to determine what the impact of the TCIP 

investments will be in driving up footfall, GVA and jobs with 

any real certainty, we can make some high-level assumptions 

to illustrate what might be possible by drawing comparisons 

with other similar regeneration investments from around the 

country. As with all economic illustrations, models and forecasts, 

the numbers that follow should not be treated as facts that 

will happen but more of an indicative reflection of what might 

be achievable through the delivery of the investments and 

interventions we have outlined. 

A useful first stage of analysis is looking at what may happen if 

Accrington is successful in securing funding through the Levelling 

Up Fund which would total around £22m if we include the 

necessary local match funding requirements. Benefits are clearly 

dependent on the package of projects selected, the quality of the 

projects delivered, how a who operates them and the broader 

programme of marketing and cultural events that help to drive 

footfall.

A useful benchmark which can inform our assumptions is the 

refurbishment and transformation of the Grade I listed Piece Hall in 

Halifax. Halifax has severe pockets of deprivation and underwent 

economic decline following the loss of the textile industry placing 

Calderdale (in which Halifax sits) in the bottom 25% of the Index 

of Multiple Deprivation. To try and act as a catalyst for the town’s 

regeneration the Piece Hall was the focus of a major regeneration 

investment in that town of £22 million. That figure is similar to 

the amount of funding available through the Levelling Up Fund 

although, of course, the totality of all the investments set out in 

this TCIP are likely closer to £70-80 million.

The Piece Hall’s regenerative effect on the town’s economy – in 

terms of demand and job creation - was also largely through 

driving up the visitor economy and increased retail footfall, both 

within The Piece Hall and in the shops nearby. It was estimated, 

through a high-level microeconomic evaluation, that The Piece 

Hall achieved a footfall increase of up to 1 million people per year, 

or proportionately +10% and broadly a similar proportionate 

increase in GVA.

However, this increase may be towards the upper end of what 

may be achieved through a heritage regeneration of that scale, 

because the investment leveraged a large and unique heritage 

asset – The Piece Hall being the only remaining example of an 

18th Century Cloth Hall – and has a unique blend of possible uses 

including being able to host large music concerts.

On the other hand, that was a £22 million investment in a town 

over twice the size of Accrington; other things equal a similar 

scale of investment might achieve a bigger proportionate 

increase in a smaller place.

As alluded, the increase in footfall is likely to be equally as 

uncertain, with a scale of investments in the order of £20 million 

to £30 million (via the Levelling Up Fund for example) increasing 

footfall by perhaps 5% to 15% if successful.

The double hit of uncertainties around (i) footfall currently and 

(ii) its % uplift means the footfall uplift numbers are even more 

uncertain and should be treated with suitable levels of caution. 

P
age 71



In other words, hopefully the first tranche of investments outlined 

in this TCIP (which would hopefully be funded through the 

Levelling Up Fund) could see an additional +73,000 to +821,250 

visitors a year, depending on the success of the investments and 

how they are delivered and operated.

The retail sector currently contributes £168 million a year in 

GVA to the Hyndburn economy and the accommodation 

and food service sector contributes £24 million a year or £192 

million combined.26 Around half of Hyndburn’s retail space is 

in Accrington town centre and assuming it is as productive as 

Hyndburn more broadly (an uncertain assumption) then the retail 

and the accommodation and food service sectors contribute 

around £96 million p.a. in GVA to the town centre economy. 

A 10% uplift in footfall could therefore contribute £9.6 million 

p.a. in GVA to the town centre economy, and +2% to overall 

GVA there. These are low value-added sectors but the flipside 

is a bigger proportionate impact on jobs with perhaps +250 to 

+275 supported through higher demand – up to +2.75% jobs in 

the town centre economy overall, ignoring any possibly spurious 

multiplier effects.

Finally, whilst these are increases in Accrington town centre GVA 

and jobs, they would not represent an increase nationally as they 

would simply be fully displaced from outside of the town centre, 

with some of that displacement potentially from Hyndburn more 

broadly.

A 10% uplift in footfall could 
therefore contribute £9.6 
million p.a. in GVA to the town 
centre economy, and +2% 
to overall GVA there. These 
are low value-added sectors 
but the flipside is a bigger 
proportionate impact on jobs 
with perhaps +250 to +275 
supported through higher 
demand – up to +2.75% jobs 
in the town centre economy 
overall, ignoring any possibly 
spurious multiplier effects.

26. ibid

P
age 72



ACCRINGTON TOWN CENTRE INVESTMENT PLAN 49

Appendices

P
age 73



Appendix A 
Full list of members 
of the Town Centre 
Stakeholder Group 

Purves Ali

Accrington Stanley Community Trust

Miranda Barker

East Lancashire Chamber of Commerce

David Berman

Accrington Arndale

Sara Britcliffe MP

Member of Parliament for Hyndburn and Haslingden

Paul Brown

Hyndburn Chamber of Trade

Craig Buck

Intelligent Design Centre

Sharon Burch

YnotAspire

Damian Cunliffe

The Tiger Lounge

Cheryl Duffy

Hyndburn Independents Group

Jen Hill

Hyndburn Chamber of Trade

Cath Holmes

Local Volunteer / Accrington Pals

Mark Hoyle

Hyndburn Borough Council

Cllr Marlene Howarth

Hyndburn Borough Council

Majid Hussain

Globe Enterprises

Julie Hyatt

Barbara Kays

Shaheed Mahmood

Home Run

John McDonald

Bees Knees

Amanda Melton

Accrington & Rossendale College

Eddie Mills

Lancashire County Council Highways

Richard Ogdin

Lancashire Police

Cllr Miles Parkinson OBE

Hyndburn Borough Council

Steve Riley

Hyndburn Borough Council

David Sanderson

Deputy Lord Lieutenant and The Rank Foundation

Lyndsey Sims

Hyndburn Leisure

Victoria Tindall

Hyndburn Borough Council

Stacy Walsh

Accrington Hub

Dave Welsby

Hyndburn Borough Council

Michael Whewell

Whewell’s Timber 

P
age 74



Appendix B 
Full list of members 
of the Town Centre 
Partnership Board 

David Sanderson (Interim Chair)
Deputy Lord Lieutenant and The Rank Foundation

Miranda Barker

East Lancashire Chamber of Commerce

David Berman (on the Partnership Board until September 2021)

Accrington Arndale

Sara Britcliffe MP

Member of Parliament for Hyndburn and Haslingden

Paul Brown

Hyndburn Chamber of Trade

Cheryl Duffy

Hyndburn Independents Group

Cath Holmes

Local Volunteer / Accrington Pals

Cllr Marlene Howarth

Hyndburn Borough Council

Majid Hussain

Globe Enterprises

Amanda Melton

Accrington & Rossendale College

Cllr Miles Parkinson OBE

Hyndburn Borough Council

Lyndsey Sims

Hyndburn Leisure

Dave Welsby

Hyndburn Borough Council

ACCRINGTON TOWN CENTRE INVESTMENT PLAN 55

P
age 75



Appendix C 
Full data tables of all 15 
questions asked in the 
residents polling 

Q1. Summary - On a scale of 1-5 (where 1 is very poor and 5 is very good) how would you rate 
Accrington town centre for the following?

 1a. Shops and  1b. Restaurants 1c. Pubs and  1d. Historic 1e. Green or  1f. Leisure
 retail and cafés nightlife buildings and communal  activities  
    architecture spaces

Unweighted  
Total 505 505 505 505 505 505

Weighted Total 505 505 505 505 505 505

 5 - very good 11 22 25 44 35 12

 2% 4% 5% 9% 7% 2%

 4 15 43 31 100 54 34

 3% 9% 6% 20% 11% 7%

 3 52 112 96 193 135 86

 10% 22% 19% 38% 27% 17%

 2 142 142 103 85 144 141

 28% 28% 20% 17% 29% 28%

1 - very poor 274 158 162 66 119 194

 54% 31% 32% 13% 24% 38%

Don’t know 11 29 88 18 18 38

 2% 6% 17% 3% 3% 7%

NET: Good 27 65 56 143 89 46

 5% 13% 11% 28% 18% 9%

NET: Poor 416 299 265 151 263 335

 82% 59% 52% 30% 52% 66%

Net Good (Good 
minus Bad) -389 -234 -209 -8 -174 -288

 -77% -46% -41% -1% -34% -57%

SIGMA 505 505 505 505 505 505

 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%

P
age 76



Q2. Which of the following statements do you feel most closely represents your views?

Q3. Which of the following statements do you feel most closely represents your views?

Unweighted Total 505

Weighted Total 505

I feel proud when I visit Accrington town centre 57

 11%

I do not feel proud when I visit Accrington town centre 431

 85%

Don’t know 17

 3%

SIGMA 505

 100%

Unweighted Total 505

Weighted Total 505

 Accrington town centre is a good place to visit 77

 15%

 Accrington town centre is a bad place to visit 391

 77%

 Don’t know 37

 7%

SIGMA 505

 100%

ACCRINGTON TOWN CENTRE INVESTMENT PLAN 57

P
age 77



Q4. Which of the following statements do you feel most closely represents your views?

Q5. Which of the following statements do you feel most closely represents your views?

Unweighted Total 505

Weighted Total 505

 Accrington town centre is in need of regeneration and investment 454

 90%

 Accrington town centre is not in need of regeneration and investment 44

 9%

 Don’t know 7

 1%

SIGMA 505

 100%

Unweighted Total 505

Weighted Total 505

 Accrington is good for job opportunities 61

 12%

 Accrington is poor for job opportunities 329

 65%

 Don’t know 114

 23%

SIGMA 505

 100%P
age 78



Q6. Which of the following statements do you feel most closely represents your views?

Q7. Which of the following statements do you feel most closely represents your views?

Unweighted Total 505

Weighted Total 505

 Accrington has a strong sense of community 251

 50%

 Accrington has a weak sense of community 184

 36%

 Don’t know 70

 14%

SIGMA 505

 100%

Unweighted Total 505

Weighted Total 505

 I feel safe in Accrington town centre 323

 64%

 I do not feel safe in Accrington town centre 159

 32%

 Don’t know 23

 5%

SIGMA 505

 100%

ACCRINGTON TOWN CENTRE INVESTMENT PLAN 59

P
age 79



Q8. How often do you visit Accrington town centre?

Unweighted Total 505

Weighted Total 505

 Daily 40

 8%

 Weekly 203

 40%

 Once or twice a month 130

 26%

 A few times a year 73

 14%

 Never 59

 12%

 Don’t know 0

 - 

SIGMA 505

 100%

P
age 80



Q9. When you visit Accrington what is the usual reason for your visit? 
BASE: Those who visit Accrington Town Centre

Unweighted Total 449

Weighted Total 446

 Food shopping 285

 64%

 Everyday services such as banks, hairdressers, opticians, healthcare, council services 277

 62%

 Non-food shopping 185

 41%

 On my way to somewhere else (e.g to get to the train or bus station) 126

 28%

 To visit restaurants or cafes 83

 19%

 To socialise 78

 18%

 Evening entertainment 41

 9%

 For work 33

 7%

 Events 20

 4%

 Other 8

 2%

 Don’t know 0

 - 

ACCRINGTON TOWN CENTRE INVESTMENT PLAN 61

P
age 81



Q10. Summary - For the following list do you think there are too many, about the right number, or too 
few in Accrington town centre? 
BASE: Those who visit Accrington Town Centre

449 449 449 449 449 449 449 449 449 449 449

446 446 446 446 446 446 446 446 446 446 446

15 4 252 246 29 26 9 254 273 34 6

3% 1% 56% 55% 7% 6% 2% 57% 61% 8% 1%

74 67 148 153 116 193 146 97 134 162 74

17% 15% 33% 34% 26% 43% 33% 22% 30% 36% 17%

343 355 28 28 289 199 259 9 15 211 336

77% 79% 6% 6% 65% 45% 58% 2% 3% 47% 75%

15 20 18 18 12 29 32 86 25 39 30

3% 4% 4% 4% 3% 6% 7% 19% 6% 9% 7%

446 446 446 446 446 446 446 446 446 446 446

100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%

Unweighted Total

Weighted Total

 Too many

 About the right number

 Too few

 Don’t know

SIGMA

10
a.

 S
m

al
l/

in
d

ep
en

d
en

t 
sh

o
p

s

10
c.

 D
is

co
un

t/
p

o
un

d
s 

sh
o

p
s

10
e.

 L
ar

g
e/

ch
ai

n 
st

o
re

s

10
g

. I
nd

ep
en

d
en

t 
re

st
au

ra
nt

s/
ca

fe
s

10
i. 

Ta
ke

aw
ay

 f
o

o
d

 s
ho

p
s

 1
0

b
. S

ho
p

s 
se

lli
ng

 lo
ca

l 
p

ro
d

uc
e/

g
o

o
d

s

10
d

. C
ha

ri
ty

 s
ho

p
s

10
f. 

C
ha

in
 r

es
ta

ur
an

ts
/c

af
es

10
h.

 B
et

ti
ng

 s
ho

p
s

10
j. 

N
o

n-
re

ta
il 

sh
o

p
s

10
k.

 E
nt

er
ta

in
m

en
t 

 
(o

th
er

 t
ha

n 
b

et
ti

ng
 s

ho
p

s)

P
age 82



Q11. When you leave Hyndburn what is the normal reason for you to do so?

Unweighted Total 505

Weighted Total 505

 To socialise 304

 60%

 Non-food shopping 290

 58%

 To visit restaurants or cafes 257

 51%

 Food shopping 247

 49%

 Evening entertainment 241

 48%

 For work 196

 39%

 Everyday services such as banks, hairdressers, opticians, healthcare, council services 177

 35%

 Other 18

 4%

 I do not leave Hyndburn 23

 5%

 Don’t know 6

 1%

ACCRINGTON TOWN CENTRE INVESTMENT PLAN 63

449 449 449 449 449 449 449 449 449 449 449

446 446 446 446 446 446 446 446 446 446 446

15 4 252 246 29 26 9 254 273 34 6

3% 1% 56% 55% 7% 6% 2% 57% 61% 8% 1%

74 67 148 153 116 193 146 97 134 162 74

17% 15% 33% 34% 26% 43% 33% 22% 30% 36% 17%

343 355 28 28 289 199 259 9 15 211 336

77% 79% 6% 6% 65% 45% 58% 2% 3% 47% 75%

15 20 18 18 12 29 32 86 25 39 30

3% 4% 4% 4% 3% 6% 7% 19% 6% 9% 7%

446 446 446 446 446 446 446 446 446 446 446

100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%

P
age 83



Q12. Where do you usually shop?

Unweighted Total 505

Weighted Total 505

 Accrington 119

 23%

 Blackburn 117

 23%

 Manchester 73

 15%

 Great Harwood 56

 11%

 Online 45

 9%

 Burnley 22

 4%

 Preston 14

 3%

 Clitheroe 12

 2%

 Rawtenstall 11

 2%

 Oswaldtwistle 10

 2%

 Haslingden 2

 0 

 Other 14

 3%

 I do not shop 3

 1%

 Don’t know 6

 1%

SIGMA 505

 100%

P
age 84



Q13. Where do you usually go out to eat or socialise?

Unweighted Total 505

Weighted Total 505

 Manchester 123

 24%

 Accrington 66

 13%

 Clitheroe 64

 13%

 Blackburn 59

 12%

 Burnley 28

 5%

 Great Harwood 27

 5%

 Preston 27

 5%

 Oswaldtwistle 21

 4%

 Rawtenstall 7

 1%

 Haslingden 2

 0 

 Other 28

 6%

 I do not go out to eat or socialise 46

 9%

 Don’t know 7

 1%

SIGMA 505

 100%

ACCRINGTON TOWN CENTRE INVESTMENT PLAN 65

P
age 85



Q14.  Which of the following do you think MOST needs improving in Accrington Town Centre?

Unweighted Total 505
Weighted Total 505
 Shopping 346
 68%
 Restaurants/cafes 181
 36%
 Nightlife 158
 31%
 Aesthetics/how it looks 139
 27%
 Events and activities 98
 19%
 Cleanliness 97
 19%
 Car parking 79
 16%
 Safety 76
 15%
 Green space and parks 62
 12%
 Social/community space 43
 9%
 Access to the town centre 30
 6%
 Public transport 29
 6%
 Events 28
 6%
 Congestion 10
 2%
 Other 39
 8%
 None of the above 12
 2%
 Don’t know 16
 3%

P
age 86



15. Which of the following things do you like about Accrington Town Centre?

Unweighted Total 505

Weighted Total 505

 Historic buildings/architecture 181

 36%

 Good transport links 179

 35%

 Accrington Market Hall 177

 35%

 Accrington Town Hall 133

 26%

 Sense of community 95

 19%

 Outdoor spaces 92

 18%

 Good value for money 64

 13%

 Cleanliness 31

 6%

 Accrington Arndale 28

 6%

 Range and choice of shops 24

 5%

 None of the above 87

 17%

 Don’t know 17

 3%

ACCRINGTON TOWN CENTRE INVESTMENT PLAN 67

P
age 87



Appendix D 
Alignment of the Town 
Centre Investment Plan 
with the Accrington  
Area Action Plan 

This appendix details where this Town Centre Investment Plan 

and its proposed interventions align with the Accrington Area 

Action Plan and include the following aspects of specific policies:

Policy ATC1:
• The enhancement of the retail offer/quality and improve 

the vitality and viability, meeting the needs of retailers and 

catchment area shoppers to maintain Accrington Town 

Centre’s role and status as a key centre in Pennine Lancashire.

• The support for existing and future retailers.

• The maintenance and enhancement of the character of 

shopping streets.

• The creation of clearer pedestrian retail circuits.

Policy ATC2:
• Shopping frontages and the use of floors above shops.

• In order to protect and strengthen the retail offer in the 

town centre the Council will control the use of ground floor 

premises in shopping streets through the exercise of its 

planning powers to safeguard and enhance the vitality and 

viability of the town centre.

Policy ATC3:
• Retain and enhance the Victorian Market Hall and associated 

Pavilions through its role in managing and licensing of the 

markets.

Policy ATC4:
• The redevelopment and improvement of the existing office 

floorspace.

Policy ATC6:
• Support proposals which enhance or diversify the range of 

arts, culture, entertainment, leisure and recreational facilities, 

subject to an assessment of the scale, character, location and 

impact of the proposal on existing facilities and residential 

use.

Policy ATC7:
• Support apartment development within or in proximity to 

Accrington Town Centre where this would be returning 

existing buildings into use or where the regeneration benefits 

of apartment development can be demonstrated.

Policy ATC9: 
• Improve signage and street furniture within the town 

centre and reduce streetscape clutter with the removal of 

inappropriate street furniture and unnecessary signage.

• Improve the quality of public spaces and require the provision 

of new public spaces, including destination spaces as part of 

major development proposals.

• Improve the quality of the pedestrian environment, ensuring 

that routes are clear, legible, safe and convenient.

• Improve the environment of the road network and crossings 

as identified through the Quarters.

• Create attractive ‘gateways’ to mark and enhance the main 

approaches to the town centre to achieve a sense of arrival 

and identity.

• Require environmental improvements and landscaping in 

association with new development.

• Enhance the quality of public spaces, streets and 

passageways into the Town Centre Conservation Area.

Policy ATC10:
• Increasing the amount of green spaces overall in the town 

centre.

• Improve opportunities for cycling and walking in the town 

centre.

Policy ATC11: 
• Where appropriate, enhance the town centre’s character 

and historic environment

• Make best use of redevelopment opportunities.

Policy ATC13: 
• Enhance or replace buildings/structures which detract from 

the appearance and character of the area.

P
age 88



Policy ATC14:
• Opportunities to secure regional and national funding for the 

preservation and en- hancement of statutory listed buildings, 

locally listed buildings and other historic buildings and 

features within the conservation area will be actively pursued.

Policy ATC15: 
• Review signing and implement an integrated signing strategy 

for vehicles, buses, freight, pedestrians and cyclists.

• Seek to balance competing needs on the town centre road 

network, including the need to maintain traffic circulation 

and minimise congestion with opportunities to give greater 

priority to pedestrians, cyclists, public transport users.

Policy ATC18:
• The Council will improve the walking environment by 

continuing the programme of pedestrian priority schemes 

and improvements to pedestrian routes identified through 

the masterplanning process.

Policy ATC21:
• The Council will work with partners to provide a clean, safe, 

friendly, well managed and well maintained town centre in 

the daytime and at night.

• Key Partners include: Local businesses, private land and 

property owners, the police and local community.

Policy ATC24:
• All planning applications for development of sites of 1 hectare 

or more in flood zone 1 and all proposals for new development 

located in flood zones 2 and 3 on sites identified in this plan 

and other sites which may come forward for development 

shall be accompanied by a site specific flood risk assessment 

(FRA) to be undertaken by the developer. The assessment 

should include measures to be taken to manage and mitigate 

the risk.

• All proposals for development on sites which include 

sections of culverted main river watercourses or its 8 metre 

easement must include details of the exact location of the 

culvert and its easement, the presence of which must be 

taken into account in the develop- ment of the site.

• Consideration should be given in the design and layout 

of sites to the opportunity to open up and naturalise the 

culverted river watercourse.

Policy AQ1:
• Restoration of the Victorian Arcade and introduction of new 

cafes, restaurants at ground floor and residential in upper 

floors to create a focal point linking Blackburn Road area to 

Warner Street and the Grange.

ACCRINGTON TOWN CENTRE INVESTMENT PLAN 69

P
age 89



P
age 90



 

Customer First Analysis 

 

Town Centre Investment Plan  

 

1. Purpose 

 What are you trying to achieve with the policy / service / function? 
The production of a strategic Town Centre Investment Plan, (TCIP) that sets out the agreed 

vision and suggested interventions for the regeneration of Accrington town centre over a 10 

to 15 year timescale, which has been developed and agreed by the Stakeholder Group Board. 

 

 Who defines and manages it? 
A Town Centre Stakeholder Group, comprising of representatives from the following 

organisations: Hyndburn Chamber of Trade, Hyndburn Independent businesses, 5 x Town 

centre (TC) businesses, Accrington Arndale, East Lancashire Chamber of Commerce, the 

Leader of Hyndburn Council and Leader of the Opposition, Chief Executive of Hyndburn 

Council, The MP for Hyndburn, Hyndburn Leisure, Accrington and Rossendale College, 

NISIAC, Lancashire Police, Lancashire County Council, Accrington Stanley Community Trust, 

YnotAspire, Accrington Town Team, Accrington Community Events Team.  

The stakeholder group had regard to equalities issues with target areas such as youth, ethnic 

minorities, resident safety, disability/accesses, being represented by group members. 

 

 Who do you intend to benefit from it and how? 
The town centre regeneration will benefit all residents and visitors through an improved 

town centre offering. Local businesses and new businesses will benefit from increased 

employment, footfall and customer spending from both within and outside the Borough.  

 

 What could prevent people from getting the most out of the policy / service / 
function? 

Lack of funding/investment to deliver the proposed interventions and town centre 

regeneration, such as government funding, capital investment from the Council or private 

investment.   

 

 How will you get your customers involved in the analysis and how will you tell people 
about it? 

The stakeholder group members and through the representative survey of around 500 

residents which reflected the demographics of Hyndburn (using the general make-up of the 

Borough’s population in terms of age, ethnicity, gender and income). This was undertaken by 

Survation (a British Polling Council member and government approved polling company) and 

Page 91



informed the proposed interventions within the TCIP. No equality issues have been raised at 

this point.  

 

A further resident survey on the proposed TCIP is to be undertaken later in January 2022 by 

the Council. This will be open to anyone, with prior contact of the various target groups to 

promote the survey.   

 

2. Evidence 

 How will you know if the policy delivers its intended outcome / benefits? 
Feedback from the stakeholder group, (including equality groups), property vacancy and 

footfall levels and further resident polling (which again would reflect the demographics of 

Hyndburn) could be undertaken over the longer term.  

 

 How satisfied are your customers and how do you know? 
Feedback provided by the stakeholder group and resident polling identified areas of most 

and least satisfaction and informed the proposed interventions within the TCIP. A further 

resident survey on the proposed TCIP will be undertaken later in January as detailed above. 

 

 What existing data do you have on the people that use the service and the wider 
population? 

The Council brought together key local town centre businesses, individuals and wider 

organisations to create a large and diverse Stakeholder Group.  

Government appointed experts from the High Streets Task Force and Design Council helped 

the stakeholder group to clarify the vision and future direction of the town centre.  

To understand town centre users’ needs and wishes, a representative survey of around 500 

residents (which reflected the demographics of Hyndburn) has been undertaken as detailed 

above. 

Local Councillors have set out their wishes and provided feedback to the proposed 

interventions. 

 

NEMS Market Research carried out a Household Survey in 2016 across the Borough’s main 

townships, with the data broken down into age, gender, employment status, postcode. 

 

 What other information would it be useful to have?  How could you get this? 
A further resident survey on the proposed TCIP will be carried out later in January as detailed 

above. 

 Are you breaking down data by equality groups where relevant (such as by gender, 
age, disability, ethnicity, sexual orientation, marital status, religion and belief, 
pregnancy and maternity)? 

Yes, where applicable. 

Page 92



 Are you using partners, stakeholders, and councillors to get information and 
feedback? 

Yes, to inform the proposed interventions.  

3. Impact 

 Are some people benefiting more – or less - than others?  If so, why might this be? 
The TCIP covers the wider Town Centre regeneration area and multiple interventions. The 

plan does not intentionally benefit or disadvantage any group, although individual funding / 

private investment may be focused on smaller areas or specific projects, which may benefit 

some more than others.  

4. Actions 

 If the evidence suggests that the policy / service / function benefits a particular 
group – or disadvantages another - is there a justifiable reason for this and if so, 
what is it? 

None identified at this stage  
 

 Is it discriminatory in any way? 
Nothing identified at this stage  
 

 Is there a possible impact in relationships or perceptions between different parts of 
the community? 

None identified at this stage. 

 What measures can you put in place to reduce disadvantages? 
The regeneration of the town centre will seek to build on a number of Council’s priorities 

such as providing increased employment opportunities and increased business growth and 

providing a vibrant town centre that can be enjoyed by anyone.  

 

 Do you need to consult further? 
Councillors through Council and Cabinet and a further resident survey. 

 

 Have you identified any potential improvements to customer service? 
None identified at this stage. 

 

 Who should you tell about the outcomes of this analysis? 
Further reports on progress will be submitted to Cabinet/Council as and when necessary. 

 

 Have you built the actions into your Business Plan with a clear timescale? 
Yes and the proposed Levelling up Funding bid will include the relevant programme 

timescales for the potential interventions. 

 

Page 93



 When will this assessment need to be repeated? 
The TCIP is being presented to Council and thereafter Cabinet for formal approval. Once 

approved, there should not be the need for any review during the short to medium term. 

However, in the light of any major changes in policy/planning, resident shopping or leisure 

habits and vision for the town centre, it may then be necessary to review. 

 

Steve Riley 

Executive Director  

January 2022 

Page 94



1 
 

   

REPORT TO: CABINET  :  COUNCIL 

DATE: 12th January 2022  :  13th January 2022 

PORTFOLIO: Cllr Joyce Plummer - Resources 

REPORT AUTHOR: A Martin – Principal Accountant 

D Donlan  – Head of Accountancy Services 

TITLE OF REPORT: Prudential Indicators Monitoring and Treasury 
Management Strategy Update 

EXEMPT REPORT:  No 
 

 

  

KEY DECISION: No If yes, date of publication:  

 
 
 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 

This report updates Cabinet on activities in this area since the start of this financial year.   
 

2. RECOMMENDATION(S) 
  
2.1 To note the report. 
 
3. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 
 As given in the Background paragraph 4. 
. 

  
4. BACKGROUND 
 
4.1       The Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities requires the Council to set 

Prudential Indicators annually for the forthcoming three years to demonstrate that the Council’s 
capital investment plans are affordable, prudent and sustainable. The Council adopted its 
current prudential indicators at its meeting in February 2021. 

 
4.2        The Prudential Code requires the Council, having agreed at least a minimum number of 

mandatory prudential indicators (including limits and statements), to monitor them - in a locally 
determined format and frequency.  This half-year report to Cabinet complements a more 
regular review by the Deputy Chief Executive. 

 
4.3       The indicators are purely for internal use and not designed to be used as comparators between 

authorities.   If it should be necessary to revise any of the indicators during the year, the 
Deputy Chief Executive will report and advise the Council further.  

 

Page 95

Agenda Item 7.



2 
 

4.4       ‘Treasury Management’   relates to the borrowing and cash activities of the authority, and the   
effective management of any associated risks.    On 25th February 2021 in the same report 
referred to at 4.1 above the Council also set out and then approved its current Treasury 
Management Strategy.  This was in accordance with the CIPFA (Chartered Institute of Public 
Finance & Accountancy) code of practice on treasury management in public services,  the 
Council having previously adopted, via Cabinet, the then revised code of practice.  Associated 
treasury management Prudential Indicators were included in the February 2021 report. 

 
5. PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS MONITORING  
 
5.1      Table 1 and Table 2 (Appendix 1) show the monitoring information for each of the prudential 

indicators, limits and statements.   They relate to: 

 External debt overall limits – Table 1    

 Affordability   (eg implications for Council Tax) – Table 2 

 Prudence and sustainability  (eg implications for external borrowing) 

 Capital expenditure  

 Other particular indicators for Treasury Management.   
 
6. TREASURY MANAGEMENT UPDATE 
 
6.1      Current Treasury Position 
 

 
Portfolio Position 2021/22 
 

Original 
Estimate 
2021/22 

£000 

Projected 
Outturn 
2021/22 

£000 

External Debt 
Debt at 1st April 
Expected Change in Debt 
Other Long Term Liabilities 

 
9,595 

- 
362 

 
9,595 

- 
942 

Gross Debt at 31st March 9,957 10,537 

Capital Financing Requirement  (CFR) 8,866 9,446 

Under / (over) borrowing (1,091) (1,091) 

 
TOTAL INVESTMENTS (other than short-term) 

 
- 

 
- 

 
6.2 Within the prudential indicators there are a number of key indicators to ensure that the Council 

operates its activities within well-defined limits. In general the requirement is that CFR exceeds 
gross debt. However in 2021/22 the gross debt will exceed CFR.  This is due to the annual 
payment of Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP). Other Liabilities reflect the transfer of contract 
hire leases to balance sheet to comply with IFRS16.  

 
6.3 The requirement to have CFR exceed Gross Debt centres around providing an assurance that 

borrowing is not taking place for Revenue purposes.  However, as the Council is not borrowing 
additional funds at this time, this is not an issue.  

6.4  The current position of the treasury function, and its expected change in the future, introduces 
risk to the Council from an adverse movement in interest rates.  The Prudential Code is 
constructed on the basis of affordability, part of which is related to borrowing costs and 
investment returns.   

Page 96



3 
 

 
6.5 The Capital Programme 2021/22 will be funded by the use of Government Grants (including 

New Homes Bonus Grant and S31 Grants) and other external financing. It will also be 
supported during the year by greater use of internal sources of capital finance (including capital 
receipts reserve) because of the reduced level of external grant allocation. It is not anticipated 
currently that any capital borrowing will be required. 

 
7 Expected movement in interest rates 
 
7.1 The Council appointed Link Asset Services as treasury adviser to the Council and part of their 

service is to assist the Council in formulating a view on interest rates.  The following table gives 
Link’s latest available view of the expected future movement in interest rates, from quarter 
ending 30th September 2021 (their Qtr3 2020) onwards.  

   

 Qtr 3 
2021 

Qtr 4 
2021 

Qtr 1 
2022 

Qtr 2 
2022 

Qtr 3 
2022 

Qtr 4 
2022 

Qtr 1 
2023 

Qtr 2 
2023 

Qtr 3 
2023 

Qtr 4 
2023 

Base 
Rate 

0.10% 0.10% 0.10% 0.25% 0.25% 0.25% 0.25% 0.50% 0.50% 0.50% 

5 yr 
PWLB 

1.40% 1.40% 1.50% 1.50% 1.60% 1.60% 1.60% 1.70% 1.70% 1.70% 

10 yr 
PWLB 

1.80% 1.80% 1.80% 1.90% 1.90% 2.00% 2.00% 2.00% 2.10% 2.10% 

25 yr 
PWLB 

2.20% 2.20% 2.20% 2.30% 2.30% 2.40% 2.40% 2.40% 2.50% 2.50% 

50 yr 
PWLB 

2.00% 2.00% 2.00% 2.10% 2.20% 2.20% 2.20% 2.20% 2.30% 2.30% 

 
7.2       In all the above forecasts there is a high level of uncertainty – due to the difficulties of 

forecasting the timing and amounts of ‘quantitative easing’ injected into the economy, and also 
the uncertainties around Brexit. 

 
7.3 The Council’s exposure to interest rate movements is largely neutralised currently as our 

borrowings are effectively at a fixed rate until a trigger point is reached, where the lender 
believes a better rate can be achieved elsewhere.  Interest rates would have to exceed 4% and 
possibly 5% before this is likely to happen. The above table indicates that this is unlikely to 
happen until beyond 2023 at the earliest. 

 
7.4       The Council has invested relatively small amounts of surplus cash on a short-term, temporary 

basis. The interest received from these investments is below the budgeted expectations for the 
six months to 30 September, mainly due to lower interest rates plus the impact of covid19 on 
surplus cash available for short term investment.  Our strategy continues to focus on the 
security of deposits and the liquidity of funds. 

 
7.5       The Council continues to invest surplus cash in the top rated financial institutions.  We continue 

to spread our money around a number of institutions to ensure that we are not potentially 
damaged by the unforeseen collapse of any one bank.  Deposits are also held with banks 
where we believe that the respective governments are likely to be able to guarantee deposits in 
the event of bank failure.  This strategy is continuing to yield an appropriate rate of return, 
though at a lower rate, as there is less risk attached to these deposits.  We also operate a policy 
of holding no more than £2m in any one bank (with the exception of the liquidity account held 
with Nat West Bank where the limit is £3m) to ensure that the risk is spread.   

 
 

Page 97



4 
 

8. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REASONS FOR REJECTION 
             

None applicable. 
 
9.        CONSULTATIONS 
 

None applicable in this instance. 
 
10.        IMPLICATIONS 
    

Financial (Including 
any future financial 
commitments for the 
Council) 

There are none arising directly from this report. 

Legal and human 
rights implications 

The Local Government Act 2003 (part 1) and associated 
regulations gave statutory recognition to the Prudential Code - 
therefore there is a statutory backing to the background and local 
purpose of the report.   
Treasury Management activities of local authorities are prescribed 
by statute – the source of powers is, in England & Wales, the 
2003 Act.    ‘Statutory Guidance’ on investment is given by the 
DCLG to local authorities.  

Assessment of risk There are inherent risks in capital finance and treasury 
management.  When appropriate the risks are identified and 
assessed as part of the various recommendations made on 
Prudential Capital Finance and in the Council’s Treasury 
Management Strategy. 

Equality and diversity 
implications 

There are no specific implications for customers’ equality and 
diversity arising directly from the recommendations in this report 

 
 

12. LOCAL GOVERNMENT (ACCESS TO INFORMATION) ACT 1985 

 Background papers are the legislation referred to in section 10 above, and the report 
approved by Council on 25th February 2021. 

 Part 1 of the Local Government Act 2003 and related regulations 

 The Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities (CIPFA 2017) 

 The Council’s Policy Statement on Treasury Management (Full Council February 2021) 

 The Councils Policy on Treasury Management Practices ( Full Council February 2021) 
 
 
13. FREEDOM OF INFORMATION 

The report does not contain exempt information under the Local Government Act 1972, 
Schedule 12A and all information can be disclosed under the Freedom of Information Act 2000. 
 
Contact Officer(s):     
   David Donlan, Head of Accountancy Services,  tel  380973 (internal 2973) 
   Amanda Martin, Principal Accountant (Capital),  tel  380668 (internal 2668) 
 
 

Page 98

https://democracy.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/documents/s14371/PIs%20Monitoring%20and%20TM%20Strategy%20-%20Update%20Report.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/26/contents
http://www.cipfa.org/Policy-and-Guidance/Publications/T/The-Prudential-Code-for-Capital-Finance-in-Local-Authorities-2011-Edition-Book
https://democracy.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/documents/s14371/PIs%20Monitoring%20and%20TM%20Strategy%20-%20Update%20Report.pdf
https://democracy.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/documents/s14371/PIs%20Monitoring%20and%20TM%20Strategy%20-%20Update%20Report.pdf


5 
 

 
                                                                                                                                          Appendix  1                                                          
 

TABLE 1     
      

 TREASURY MANAGEMENT INDICATORS     

 Prudential Indicators – actual and projected 

Original 
Indicator 
Estimate 
2021/22 

£'000 

Actual 6 
months 
£'000 

Projected 
Outturn 
2021/22 

£'000 Note 

           

 External Debt - Gross Borrowing 9,957 10,537 10,537 1 

 Authorised limit for external debt 35,000 35,000 35,000   

 Operational boundary for external debt 20,000 20,000 20,000   

 Maximum principal sum invested >364 days 3,000 0 0   

 Limit on fixed interest rate for net borrowing 100% 57% 100%  2  

 Limit on variable interest rate for net borrowing 100% 43% 43% 2 

           

 Maturity structure of borrowing limits (Upper Limit)        

  Under 12 months 43% 43% 43% 3 

  12 months - 24 months 0% 0% 0%   

  24 months - 5 years 0% 0% 0%   

  5 years - 10 years 0% 0% 0%   

  10 years and above 57% 57% 100%   

      

 
1. Includes the minor portion of borrowing from Charities (Internal Borrowing) - approximately £70k.  The 

debt is based on the capital value of mainly loans outstanding and does not include accrued interest or 
effective rate of interest adjustment (accounting adjustments to be made).  
No temporary borrowing is expected. 
The figure also reflects the liability for finance leases. Several leases have had their terms extended 
rather than be replaced due to the Coronavirus situation. 
Contract hire leases are also included in this figure to comply with IFRS requirements 

 
2. In 2016/17 Barclays notified Hyndburn that they will class £5.4m LOBO debt as fixed rate debt.  The 

interest rate has remained the same.  The balance of debt outstanding remains as LOBO’s which are 
classed as variable.  It is not expected that these loans will be “called” and repaid during 2021/22.  
However the projection reflects that this may be a possibility (depending on movements within the 
market) and replaced with fixed rate debt. 

 
3. Borrowings of £4.12m are via LOBO agreements.  As they have a call period of 6 month intervals they 

are classed as borrowing under 12 months.  £5.4m former Barclays LOBO’s are classed as long term 
debt.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 99



6 
 

                                                                                                                               
Appendix 1 cont’d 

 
 

TABLE 2     

 CAPITAL FINANCE PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS    
 
 

 Prudential Indicators - Latest Estimate 

Original 
Indicator 
Estimate 
2021/22 

£'000 

Latest 
Estimate 
2021/22 

£'000 Note  

 Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) 8,866 9,446 1  

 Estimated Capital Expenditure   2,315 7,993 2  

 Ratio of Financing Costs to Net Revenue Stream  4% 4%   

      

      
 

1. The capital financing requirement (CFR) includes the finance lease position for the Council. CFR is a 
prescribed measure of the capital expenditure incurred historically by an authority which has to be 
financed. 
The increase in CFR reflects the transfer of contract hire leases to comply with IFRS16 requirements. 
 

2. Approved capital programme, including slippage b/fwd and additional fully funded schemes. 
 
 

Page 100



 

 
1 

 
CABINET 

 

 
Wednesday, 8th December, 2021 

 
Present:  Councillor Miles Parkinson OBE (in the Chair), Councillors Paul Cox (Vice 

Chair), Loraine Cox, Munsif Dad BEM JP and Joyce Plummer 
 

In Attendance: Councillors Michael Miller and Jenny Molineux 
 

 
190 Apologies for Absence 

 
There were no apologies for absence submitted on this occasion. 
 

191 Declarations of Interest and Dispensations 
 
There were no reported declarations of interest or dispensations at this point during the 
meeting.  (NB. Councillor Munsif Dad BEM JP made a declaration prior to the discussion 
reported at Minute 197 below). 
 

192 Minutes of Cabinet 
 
The minutes of the meeting of the Cabinet held on 20th October 2021 were submitted for 
approval as a correct record. 
 
Resolved - That the Minutes be received and approved as a 

correct record. 
 

193 Reports of Cabinet Members 
 
Councillor Paul Cox, Deputy Leader of the Council and Portfolio Holder for Environmental 
Services, reported on a record breaking year for the Green Flag Awards.  Nine of 
Hyndburn’s parks and open spaces now boasted the Green Flag Award, which recognised 
the quality work undertaken.  In addition, at the recent 25th Annual Green Flag Awards 
ceremony, held on-line, Hyndburn had been successful in winning 2 categories: 
 

 Gordon Mason was victorious as one of four finalists for Employee of the Year 

award.  He had been a crucial part of Hyndburn Council’s Parks Team for almost 50 

years. 

 

 Ann Warrington was one of 15 finalists for the Volunteer of the Year award.  Ann 

had taken on the creation and development of the Friends of Rhyddings Park, 

Oswaldtwistle. 

 
The Cabinet’s thanks was recorded to the above individuals and to all of the other 
employees and volunteers whose hard work had helped to make the Council’s parks, 
cemeteries and open spaces so exceptional.  The Leader noted that these achievements 
were a credit to all involved. 
 
Resolved (1) The Cabinet notes the Borough’s successes in 

relation to the Green Flag Awards 
 

Page 101

Agenda Item 8.



 
 
 

 

 
2 

(2) That the Democratic Services Manager be requested 
to draft a letter on behalf of the Leader of the 
Council, Cabinet and Leader of the Opposition to 
thank the above-mentioned award winners for their 
hard work. 

 
194 Rent Concession for the Indoor Market Hall Traders 

 
Councillor Paul Cox, Deputy Leader of the Council and Portfolio Holder for Environmental 
Services, provided a report asking the Cabinet to consider further support for the indoor 
Market Hall traders by extending the current period of rent concessions, due to the 
unprecedented pressures brought about by the Coronavirus pandemic and reduction in 
footfall across local high streets. 
 
Councillor P Cox provided an introduction to the report as follows.  The Council 
acknowledged the difficulties faced by traders within the indoor Market Hall and understood 
the best way to help them throughout this period.  Previously, a 22.5% rent concession had 
been agreed at the Cabinet meeting in July 2021, on top of a 30% rent concession agreed 
at its meeting in November 2019,  However, footfall remained low on the ground floor and 
stalls were struggling.  There were some positive signs, as there was now a waiting list for 
the first floor balcony outlets and high occupancy levels of the outdoor stalls.  Nowhere else 
in the North West currently offered the level of support provided by Hyndburn Borough 
Council, which recognised the importance of this amenity to the Town Centre’s 
redevelopment. 
 
Councillor Michael Miller, Joint Deputy Leader of the Opposition, asked whether it might be 
more prudent to extend the concessions for, say, six months only and then review the 
measures.  The impacts of COVID were not expected to be permanent and ultimately the 
Market Hall needed to be self-sustaining financially.  There was a suggestion that a 3 year 
business plan should be developed, but that repeatedly extending concessions was not the 
right approach.  He queried whether this had led to increased take up of stalls. 
 
Councillor P Cox responded that the measures were intended to show a commitment to 
supporting existing traders, to acknowledge that they were included in the Council’s future 
plans and to provide them with a degree of financial certainty.  Use of the outdoor market 
pavilions had increased and the first floor balcony was doing well.  Rental values were 
thought to be realistic given the circumstances.  Concessions had brought new traders in 
and there remained a potential for small businesses on the balcony to grow and move 
downstairs. 
 
The Leader remarked that the Market Hall was a commercial venture, but that it was also 
central to the emerging Town Centre Investment Plan.  Overall recovery might take several 
years, but there were quick gains to be made by improving footfall in the Market Hall.  A 
recent survey had showed a disappointing level of patronage by local residents.  However, 
if the Market Hall adapted to provide a goods which could not be purchased easily on-line, it 
could ‘wash its face’.  The stall rental values were set based on demand, taking into 
account an oversupply of retail units in Accrington and the rent currently set for shops in the 
area.  Accordingly, the concessions were thought to be appropriate at this time. 
 
Approval of the report was not deemed a key decision. 
 
Reasons for Decision 
 
Previous reports to Cabinet had highlighted the downturn in trading on high streets across 
the country, with Accrington Town Centre and the Market Hall not immune to this.  

Page 102



 
 
 

 

 
3 

However, as restrictions for Covid-19 had been relaxed and more residents were starting to 
return to the high street, there were some positive signs to improved trading, but this was 
not yet back to pre-Covid levels.  
 
Occupancy rates within the external pavilions for October 2021, showed of those Peel 
Street Kiosks available for rent, all were leased.  In addition, the open stalls on the 
Thursday and Sunday market days were now regularly achieving close to 100% occupancy 
level.  However, levels for the Tuesday, Friday and Saturday market days were 
substantially lower, ranging from 24% to 34%.  
 
The balcony units inside the Market Hall were performing well, with 100% of those available 
for rent now occupied.  In fact, these smaller units with the ‘all inclusive’ monthly rents were 
proving so popular, the market team was looking into the feasibility of reducing / relocating 
some facilities downstairs, where only around 60% of available units/stalls were leased out 
and thereby offering a further income opportunity.  
 
The Council wishing to show support for the indoor Market Hall traders, had approved the 
following rent/service charge concessions over the past 3 years.  However, without any 
further extensions, the 22.5% rent concession would expire at the end of December 2021, 
followed by the 30% rent concession at the end of December 2022. 
 

 a 50% concession on rents and service charges for two months in 2018; 

 a permanent reduction in rents of 13.4% in 2019; 

 a 30% concession on rents for a period of three years in 2020; 

 a 22.5% concession on rents for twelve months in 2020; and 

 an extension to the 22.5% concession on rents for a further six months in 2021.  

 
No concessions were currently proposed in the level of service charges for the Market Hall 
traders, as these costs had to be passed on to the users.  However, the level of rent was 
set by the Council and the traders had continued to express views that they were only able 
to continue given the rent concessions currently in place.  
 
Whilst there seemed to be a ‘potential’ loss of income from applying rent concessions, this 
assumed traders were able and willing to pay the higher level of rent.  Where rents were too 
high and not in line with similar properties across the wider town centre, there was a risk 
that many would simply leave the Market Hall, meaning all their rental income would be 
lost.  
 
If approved, the concession being proposed to the Market Hall traders would be as per 
previous agreements:  
 

 that traders continue to make all monthly rent or other payments via Direct Debit 

and adhere to the Council’s Market Regulations; 

 where a current trader was in rent arrears, this concession would not be applied to 

the arrears and if applicable, any credits due would be used to reduce the 

outstanding debt; and 

 where a trader was up to date and, if applicable, any credits would be returned in 

full. 

 
Traders from the balcony units or outside Peel Street Kiosks would not be eligible for the 
proposed rent concession. 
 
Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection 

Page 103



 
 
 

 

 
4 

 
The Council could let the current rent concessions expire.  However, this had been rejected 
because the indoor Market Hall traders continued to raise concerns around high rents and 
trading viability.  Given the reality that footfall levels and spending remained below pre-
COVID levels, if the concessions did not remain, there was a high probability that traders 
would seek other properties within the town centre that were offering lower rental deals. 
 
Resolved (1) That Cabinet notes the report and the work 

undertaken by the Markets Team in continuing to 
implement improvements within the Market Hall, 
which contributes to the retention of existing traders 
and attracting new traders but also the various 
promotions to drive up customer footfall. 

 
(2) That Cabinet approves an extension of the 22.5% 

rent concession agreed at its meeting in July 2021, 
from 1st January 2022 until 31st March 2023. 

 
(3) That Cabinet approves an extension of the three 

year 30% rent concession agreed at its meeting in 
November 2019, for a further 3 months from 1st 
January 2023 until 31st March 2023. 

 
(4) That Cabinet notes that the rent concessions will 

reduce potential income levels within this and the 
next financial year and it is unlikely any efficiency or 
other savings will offset this. 

 
195 Suicide Prevention Scrutiny Panel Report 

 
Members considered a report of Councillor Jenny Molineux, Chair of the Communities and 
Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny Committee.  The subject matter and recommendations 
fell within the remit of the Councillor Loraine Cox, Portfolio Holder for Regeneration and 
Wellbeing. 
 
Councillor Molineux provided a brief introduction to the report as follows: 
 
The Communities and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny Committee had received a report 
and presentation from Lancashire County Council Public Health at its meeting on 8th July 
2021.  The report had highlighted concerns that Real Time Surveillance data of suspected 
suicide rates in Hyndburn had increased.  
 
Each and every suicide was a tragedy, which caused devastating and permanent impacts 
on families, friends and broader communities.  It was estimated that annually 800,000 
people across the world died by suicide, with 5,316 people sadly taking their life in England 
in 2019.  It was of the utmost importance that the Council did all it could to reduce this 
number as far as possible, so that fewer people died by suicide.  But, it was also of the 
utmost importance that when, tragically, somebody did end their life by suicide their family, 
friends and broader community who had been bereaved received whatever support they 
needed in place to manage their loss. 
 
Lancashire County Council Public Health were working in partnership with the Integrated 
Care System to reduce the number of suicides in Lancashire, and had presented their 
Action Plan for the first wave of intervention to the Scrutiny Committee, with a focus on 
prevention. 

Page 104



 
 
 

 

 
5 

 
The Committee had resolved to establish a Scrutiny Panel to carry out a light touch review, 
specifically focussed on: 
 

 What did Hyndburn Borough Council already do to support suicide prevention; and 

 What more could Hyndburn Borough Council do as part of its core business to 

support suicide prevention. 

 
Councillor Loraine Cox reiterated that each suicide was a tragedy, not only to the individual 
but also to their family, friends and the broader community.  The Council should do all that 
was possible to reduce the number of attempts and deaths and to support other persons 
affected.  She encouraged Members to support the Scrutiny Committee’s 
recommendations. 
 
Approval of the report was not deemed a key decision. 
 
Reasons for Decision 
 
The report set out the detailed reasons for the recommendation and included information on 
the following: 
 

 Background and context; 

 Suicides in Lancashire – National data reporting; 

 Hyndburn Borough Council – current interventions: 

o Employee Wellbeing; 

o Staff training; 

o Hyndburn Hub; 

o Policy; 

o Marketing and Communications; 

o Leisure; 

o High risk locations; 

o Other matters; and 

 Hyndburn Borough Council – potential further interventions. 

 
A detailed Mental Health and Suicide Prevention Action Plan was also appended to the 
report. 
 
Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 
The Council could choose not to sign up to the Mental Health Challenge, Appoint a Member 
Champion or adopt a Mental Health and Suicide Action Plan.  This was rejected as real 
time surveillance showed Hyndburn was a growing area of concern for suicides. 
 
Resolved - That Cabinet resolves: 

 
(1) To sign up to the Mental Health Challenge for 

Local Authorities. 
 
(2) To appoint an elected member as the Council’s 

‘Mental Health Champion’. 
 

Page 105



 
 
 

 

 
6 

(3) To identify a member of staff within the Council 
to act as ‘Lead Officer’ for mental health and 
wellbeing. 

 
(4) To implement a Mental Health and Suicide 

Prevention Action Plan, as detailed in 
Appendix 1. 

 
(5) To report back to the Communities and 

Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
annually with progress on the 
recommendations and Action Plan. 

 
196 Financial Position Report - October 2021- Report for the Year Ending 31st March 

2022 
 
Councillor Joyce Plummer, Portfolio Holder for Resources, provided a report on the 
Financial Position as at October 2021 and the financial forecast outturn position for the 
Accounting Year 2021/22. 
 
Councillor Plummer highlighted the following issues in connection with the report:- 
 
The Council’s overall financial position continued to improve as the year progressed and it  
was now able to forecast that an underspend of around £191,000 was likely to occur by the 
year end. 
 
The Council had secured additional funding to help it with the key work it was doing on 
COVID 19 and this had allowed a more robust forecast of the overall position to be made.  
The authority should now be able to cope over the second half of the year with its extra 
COVID activities without it having a negative impact on overall finances, if rates of infection 
and demand on services largely stayed as currently imagined. 
 
However, the threat from COVID remained and if infection levels increased over the winter 
it might be necessary for the Council to increase its activity in combatting the spread of the 
pandemic.  This would lead to additional spending beyond the forecasts made in this report 
and the predicted underspend would dwindle or disappear in those circumstances. 
 
The Council would continue to closely monitor the changing impact of COVID across 
Hyndburn and map its impact on spending, so that any early signs of costs increasing could 
be identified. 
 
Elsewhere on the core budget of the Council, the authority continued to see pressures on 
income levels in Corporate Property and at the Market Hall as the Council contended with a 
changed commercial and retail letting environment, but the adverse variances occurring 
here were offset by savings in other areas of the Council and the position remained positive 
overall. 
 
Councillor Michael Miller thanked the Finance Team for their hard work and prudent 
financial management.  He enquired about the £190k additional staffing costs in 
Regeneration and Property Services and asked whether the expenditure was for core staff 
or COVID support staff.  Mark Hoyle, Head of Regeneration and Housing, responded that 
these costs were largely in respect of core staff, due to using agency staff to fill key senior 
posts.  However, the overspend should come to an end next year. 
 
Approval of the report was not a key decision. 

Page 106



 
 
 

 

 
7 

 
Reason for Decision 
 
The spend for the first 7 months of the financial year to the end of October 2021 was 
£7,558,000 compared to a Budget of £8,396,000 giving a positive variance of £838,000 
over the first 7 months of the year. 
 
The current forecast spend to the end of the financial year in March 2022 was £11,036,000 
compared to a Budget of £11,227,000.  This forecast produced a positive variance of 
£191,000 by the end of the financial year. 
 
The Council had received additional financial support from Lancashire County Council 
(LCC) to meet the cost of continuing COVID 19 pressures over the second half of the year.  
This would allow the Council to meet its current forecast spend in relation to COVID 19 
activities for the remainder of the year. 
 
At this moment in time, it was unclear whether extra spending would be required over and 
above that currently predicted, as it remained uncertain as to whether infection rates would 
surge once again as we entered the winter period.  If the infection figures increased it was 
likely that the Council would need to incur additional expenditure to further assist the local 
community to meet the challenges presented.  If this extra activity was not funded by 
Central Government, the additional cost would fall on the Council and this would have an 
adverse impact on the current forecast outturn position. 
 
The Budget forecast included large elements of expenditure and funding in connection with 
COVID 19.  As this was a new area of budget management, controls and management of 
the expenditure and income was not at the same high standard as for the Council’s normal 
budget expenditure.  There was therefore a higher degree of risk around these figures in 
the forecasts made.  Accountancy staff and Management were working to improve the 
thoroughness and accuracy of these figures. 
 
The report included more detailed commentary about expenditure in the following service 
areas:- 
 

 Environmental Services; 

 Culture and Leisure Services; 

 Planning and Transportation; 

 Regeneration and Property Services; 

 Policy and Corporate Governance; and 

 Non-service Items. 

 
The additional funding of £581,000 requested by the Council from Lancashire County 
Council to support its on-going work around COVID 19, had reduced the risk of an 
overspend this year and if COVID 19 activity largely remained as currently forecast, the 
Council should have sufficient funds to meet the known costs it expected to incur at this 
time. 
 

There were no alternative options for consideration or reasons 

 
Resolved - That Cabinet notes the report on the financial 

position as at October 2021 and asks Corporate 
Management Team to continue to reduce costs and 
increase income over the remaining months of the 
financial year. 

Page 107



 
 
 

 

 
8 

 
Councillor Munsif Dad BEM JP declared a personal interest in the following Item on the 
Hyndburn Leisure Transformation project, in view of his role as member of the Board of 
Trustees of Hyndburn Leisure. 
 

197 Hyndburn Leisure Transformation - Investing in the Health of Hyndburn 
 
Members considered an update report of Councillor Miles Parkinson OBE, Leader of the 
Council, on the Hyndburn Leisure Transformation project. 
 
The Leader outlined the key features of the report as follows 
 
Following a previous report to Full Council on 19th November 2020 and to Cabinet on 10th 
February 2021 and 14th July 2021, a report had been completed, providing Cabinet with 
Sport England’s Strategic Outcomes Planning Guidance (SOPR) document. 
 
This strategic document, developed by Sport England was required to be signed off by 
them, if Capital Investment was being sought by the Authority towards its future capital 
investment projects.  External consultants had inputted into this document, with supporting 
information, evidence, and data from various sources including Sports England’s Project 
Management and Design and Cost Consultants for Major Capital Investment. 
 
The purpose of the SOPR was to provide the Council with service and facility interventions 
for delivering and facilitating community leisure and wellbeing in the Borough that met the 
needs of the local population.  It was based on a well evidenced and researched review of 
provision now and into the future and included clear recommendations providing a delivery 
framework and action plans. 
 
The intention was to develop high quality sport and leisure provision within the Borough.  
Poor health was an issue for many residents.  The Borough’s existing indoor and outdoor 
sports facilities were aging and needed investment.  The Council was committed to 
supporting this and would take a strategic approach.  There was a need to understand 
where best to target resources.  A Local Vision had been developed in collaboration with a 
wide range of stakeholders, which aimed to: 
 

 boost accessibility; 

 promote an active environment; and 

 be sustainable. 

 
Progress against Phase 1 of the project had provided the Council with the rationale for 
improving health and wellbeing based on strong evidence.  Some clear recommendations 
had emerged and a delivery framework and action pan had been produced.  Key projects 
included: 
 

 Refurbishment of Hyndburn Leisure Centre; 

 Replacement of Mercer Hall and possible relocation of facilities to Wilsons Playing 

Fields; and 

 Replacement of the pavilion at Wilsons Playing Fields. 

 
The Mercer Hall facilities could not be replaced like for like at the same location due to the 
constrained site and Wilson’s Playing Fields potentially offered the most suitable alternative 
location, which would include a new build. 
 

Page 108



 
 
 

 

 
9 

The timescales for subsequent Royal Institute of British Architects (RIBA) work stages were 
outlined. 
 
Regarding leisure provision generally, work was already on-going in relation to the 
decarbonisation project at Hyndburn Sports Centre.  In addition, grant funding had been 
obtained by both Hyndburn Leisure and Clayton Amateur Boxing Club for Clayton Civic 
Hall.  In total over £265k would be invested at Clayton Civic Hall over the next six months.  
The Council had been invited to submit a combined Expression of Interest (EOI) to Sport 
England’s Strategic Facilities Fund for £2 million, comprising £1.5M for a new facility to 
replace Mercer Hall Leisure Centre and £0.5M for the Hyndburn Leisure Centre 
refurbishment.  Hyndburn Leisure had also entered into a partnership with Accrington 
Academy for a joint membership scheme.  Great Harwood Otters and other schools were 
already making use of the swimming facilities at the Academy. 
 
Further reports would be provided as the various projects progressed. 
 
Councillor Michael Miller reported that he was aware of a Freedom of Information request 
about Mercer Hall which queried whether essential maintenance had been carried out 
under the terms of the lease to Hyndburn Leisure and whether lack of repairs had led to the 
current poor state of the building.  Use of numerous Council owned buildings had been 
offered on a long term lease, but ultimately the properties could return to the Council.  
Recently two properties operated by charity Mercer 1842 had been returned to the 
Council’s control.  He asked if officers monitored compliance with the maintenance clauses 
in the property leases.  The Leader responded that compliance with the leases was a legal 
issue.  However, in most cases the buildings had come back to the Council’s control in a 
better condition than when originally transferred, because they had been brought back into 
regular use.  In respect of Mercer Hall, the issue was not about maintenance, but about the 
building no longer being fit for purpose as a modern leisure facility. 
 
Councillor Miller also queried the decision to relocate facilities from Mercer Hall to Wilsons 
Playing Fields and asked if a more local site in Great Harwood could be identified.  The 
Leader reiterated that the final decision on this had not yet been taken, but relocation was 
currently the preferred option.  Other suggestions for potential sites were being received, 
but these were not without issues.  The Wilsons Playing Fields facility was very close to a 
large area of Great Harwood and had the advantage of being a prime site for a much wider 
leisure offer.  He understood the sentimental views about Mercer Hall posted on social 
media, but the facility would have to be completely rebuilt, with only the façade retained, to 
bring it up to modern leisure usage standards.  Councillor Miller acknowledged this rational 
and asked that the case for replacement be explained carefully to residents.  The Leader 
indicated that more information would be available about options in the report at the next 
stage. 
 
Approval of the report was not a key decision. 
 
Reason for Decision 
 
Poor health and well-being in Hyndburn was a major issue, highlighted during the current 
Covid-19 Pandemic and the Council needed to maintain and improve the health and 
wellbeing offer to the local community if it was to challenge the current position. 
 
Whatever your age, there was strong scientific evidence that being physically active could 
help residents to lead a healthier and happier life. 
 
People who maintained regular activity had a lower risk of many chronic diseases, such as 
heart disease, type 2 diabetes, stroke and some cancers.  Research showed that physical 

Page 109



 
 
 

 

 
10 

activity could also boost self-esteem, mood, sleep quality and energy, as well as reducing 
the risk of stress, depression, dementia and Alzheimer’s disease. 
 
Investing in leisure facilities, pitches, and parks could play a key role in reducing obesity; 
ensuring a healthier, more active and productive nation in the future.  It could also make a 
significant contribution towards reducing the local carbon footprint. 
 
The current indoor and outdoor sport and leisure facilities in Hyndburn were ageing and 
required significant levels of investment to maintain the current service offer.  The work of 
the Council and Leisure Trust over the past three years had aimed to understand the 
potential to enhance the existing leisure offer to maximise positive outcomes for the local 
community. 
 
The Council was committed to strengthening leisure provision across Hyndburn and was 
taking a strategic approach to identify the most effective investment plan, to benefit the 
local community. 
 
In September 2021, Swim England had published the report, A Decade In Decline: The 
Future of Swimming Pools In England.  It estimated that before the end of the decade the 
number of pools would have reduced from 4,336 to around 2,468, if sufficient intervention 
was not made.  That equated to almost a quarter of local authorities in England having a 
deficit of at least one average-sized pool. 
 
A full strategic assessment and report for the provision of swimming pools across the 
Hyndburn Borough Council area had been carried out.  The findings were based on Sport 
England’s Facilities Planning Model (FPM) data from Sport England’s national assessment 
of swimming pools.  This report identified that a new public swimming pool to replace the 
ageing Mercer Hall Leisure Centre pool site should be a 25m x 4 lane pool, which would 
increase the total supply of water space in the Borough.  
 
The Hyndburn Leisure Transformation project sought to secure investment which would 
extend and enhance sport, leisure and wellbeing facilities in the Borough, providing high 
quality opportunities for decades to come. 
 
The report included further details on the findings and recommendations from the Strategic 
Outcomes Planning Report.  It also documented ongoing progress against Phase 1 of the 
Leisure Transformation plans. 
 

There were no alternative options for consideration or reasons 

 
Resolved (1) That Cabinet approves the Strategic Outcomes 

Planning Guidance (SOPG) document as its final 
version and submission to Sport England. 

 
(2) Cabinet supports the three recommended leisure 

capital projects as priorities for investment - Mercer 
Hall Leisure Centre replacement/major 
refurbishment, Hyndburn Leisure Centre 
refurbishment and Wilson Playing Fields Pavilion 
replacement. 

 
(3) Cabinet approves that the priority project is the 

replacement/major refurbishment of the Mercer Hall 
Leisure Centre site as soon as practicably possible. 

 

Page 110



 
 
 

 

 
11 

(4) Following advice given by Sport England and 
recommendations from the Strategic Outcomes 
Planning Guidance report, Cabinet approves that 
RIBA Stage 1 work is undertaken at this time for the 
Mercer Hall Leisure Centre site, as set out in 
Paragraph 4.7 of the report. 

 
198 Exclusion of the Public 

 
Resolved - That, in accordance with Regulation 4(2)(b) of the 

Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) 
(Meetings and Access to Information) (England) 
Regulations 2012, the public be excluded from the 
meeting during the following item, when it was 
likely, in view of the nature of the proceedings that 
there would otherwise be disclosure of exempt 
information within the Paragraph at Schedule 12A of 
the Act specified at the item. 

 
199 Disposal of Land at Back Lane, Baxenden 

 
In accordance with Regulation 5(6)(a) of the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) 
(Meetings and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012, approval was given by 
Councillor Jenny Molineux, Chair of the Communities and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee, to the following decision being made by Cabinet on 8th December 2021, in 
private, on the grounds that the decision was urgent and could not reasonably be deferred.  
The relevant notice had been published on 30th November 2021. 
 
Exempt information under the Local Government Act 1972, Schedule 12A, Paragraph 3 – 
Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including 
the authority holding that information) 
 
Councillor Loraine Cox, Portfolio Holder for Regeneration and Wellbeing, provided a report 
seeking the Cabinet’s approval to the disposal of 0.49 acres of land at Back Lane, 
Baxenden. 
 
Approval of the report was not a key decision. 
 
Reasons for Decision  
 
The reasons for the decision were set out in the exempt report. 
 
Alternative Options Considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 
The alternative options considered and reasons for rejection were set out in the exempt 
report. 
 
Resolved - That the recommendations as set out in the exempt 

report be approved. 
 

 
 

Signed:…………………………………………… 
 

Date: …………….………………………………………… 

Page 111



 
 
 

 

 
12 

 
Chair of the meeting 

At which the minutes were confirmed 
 

 

Page 112



 

 
1 

 
LICENSING SUB COMMITTEE 

 

 
Monday, 15th November, 2021 

 
Present:  Councillors Joyce Plummer, Steven Smithson and Dave Parkins 

 

Apologies Councillor Abdul Khan 

  

 
165 Apologies for absence, Substitutions, Declarations of Interest and Dispensations 

 
Apologies were submitted on behalf of Councillor Abdul Khan and Councillor Dave Parkins 
acted as substitute representative on behalf of Councillor Khan.   
 

166 Appointment of Chair of Meeting 
 
Due to the Chair of the Committee, Cllr Abdul Khan, being unable to attend the meeting, the 
Committee were requested to appoint a Chair for the duration of the meeting. 
 
Resolved - That, Councillor Joyce Plummer be appointed as Chair 

of the Licensing Sub-Committee for the duration of the 
meeting. 

 
167 Minutes of the Last Meeting 

 
The Minutes of the last meeting held on 25th August 2021 were submitted for approval as a 
correct record. 
 
Resolved - That the Minutes be received and approved as a correct 

record. 
 

168 Licensing Hearing Procedure 
 
The Council’s Conduct of Licensing Hearing procedure to be used in relation to a hearing, 
required under the Licensing Act, was submitted. 
 
Resolved - That the Procedure be noted. 
 

169 Licensing Act 2003 Determination Hearing - Nags Head, Blackburn Road, Accrington 
 
In accordance with the Hyndburn Borough Council Policy on the Conduct of Hearings and 
the Licensing Act 2003 (Hearings) Regulations 2005, the Licensing Manager (Mrs Redfern) 
advised the Licensing Sub-Committee of the details of an application that had been 
received to review a premise licence pursuant to Section 51 of the Licensing Act 2003 (‘the 
Act’).   
 
A copy of the Licensing Authority’s Conduct of Hearings had been circulated prior to the 
meeting with the agenda. 
 
The Licensing Manager advised the Sub-Committee that Lancashire Constabulary, a 
responsible authority, had made an application to review the premise licence of The Nags 
Head, 88 Blackburn Road, Accrington.  The premises licence had first been granted in 

Page 113

Agenda Item 9.



 
 
 

 

 
2 

January 2006 and there had been various applications for transfer of the licence since.  On 
16th January 2020 the new nominated Designated Premises Supervisor (DPS) was Mr. 
Simon Widdowson.  An application for review of the premises licence was received from 
Lancashire Constabulary on 27th September 2021 on the grounds that the licensing 
objectives relating to public safety and the prevention of crime and disorder were not being 
upheld.  A representative from Lancashire Constabulary was present at the meeting to 
comment on the application and to respond to questions from the Committee.   
 
A copy of the current licence was attached as appendix 1 of the agenda and a copy of the 
review application was attached as appendix 2.  During the consultation period the 
Council’s Licensing Enforcement Officer submitted a representation, attached as appendix 
3, and was present at the meeting to comment on his statement. 
 
The premises licence holder and DPS of The Nags Head, Simon Widdowson, was present 
at the meeting and was represented by his Solicitor and Barrister to submit their comments 
on the application and to respond to questions of the Committee.   
 
The Sub-Committee considered the application and representations from all parties and 
took into account the statutory guidance pursuant to Section 52(2) and (3) of the Licensing 
Act which states that the Licensing Authority must hold a hearing to consider the application 
and any relevant representations and that it must take such steps mentioned in Section 
52(4) (if any) as it considers necessary for the promotion of the licensing objectives. 
 
Resolved - That, having taken into account Section 52(4) of the 

Licensing Act 2003 and after considering the 
representations made by Lancashire Constabulary and 
the premises licence holder and his representatives, the 
Licensing Sub-Committee expressed concern at the 
reports of high levels of drunkenness at the premises, 
the amount of time it had taken the licence holder to 
update his licence and his failure to carry out proper 
pest control inspections.  However, the Committee 
considered that there was not enough evidence to 
determine that the licensing objectives relating to public 
safety and the prevention of crime and disorder were 
not being upheld.  The Committee determined that no 
further action was required but urged improvements in 
management standards at the premises.  

  
 

 
 
 
 

Signed:…………………………………………… 
 

Date: …………….………………………………………… 
 

Chair of the meeting 
At which the minutes were confirmed 

 
 

Page 114



 

 
1 

 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

 

 
Tuesday, 30th November, 2021 

 
Present:  Councillor Eamonn Higgins (in the Chair), Councillors Judith Addison, 

Diane Fielding, Melissa Fisher, June Harrison, Susan Hayes, Terry Hurn, 
Sajid Mahmood, Caroline Montague, Dave Parkins (Vice Chair), Kath Pratt 
and Kate Walsh 
 

Apologies: Councillor Mohammad Ayub 

  

 
185 Apologies for Absence, Substitutions, Declarations of Interest and Dispensations 

 

Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Councillor Mohammad Ayub. 
 
Julian Joinson, Member Services Manager, declared an interest in agenda Item 3, 
as a season ticket holder at Accrington Stanley Football Club, but as an officer of 
the Council would take no part in the Committee’s decision. 
 

186 Minutes of the Last Meeting 
 

The minutes of the last Planning Committee held on the 5th October 2021 were 
submitted for approval as a correct record.  
 
Resolved - That the minutes be received and approved as a 

correct record. 
 

187 Town and Country Planning Act 1990- Planning Applications for Determination 
 
The Chief Planning and Transportation Officer submitted a report and update sheet setting 
out recommended action on the following application: 
 
11/21/0474 - Major Full: Erection of 1no building (D2) to provide changing area, physio 
area, manager office, guest lounge meeting area turnstile and WC following demolition of 
existing building - Crown Ground Livingstone Road Accrington BB5 5BX. 
 
Note: 
 

1. LK, a local resident, spoke against the application. 
 
Resolved (1) That planning permission is GRANTED in respect of 

application 11/21/0474, subject to the planning 
conditions recommended in the report and subject 
to an additional condition that the colour of the 
composite flat panel cladding to first floor of the 
south west elevation be entirely in goosewing grey, 
in the interests of residential amenity in accordance 
with the provisions of Core Strategy Policy Env7 and 
Development Management Development Plan 
Document Policy DM29. 

Page 115



 
 
 

 

 
2 

 
(2) That delegated powers be granted to the Chief 

Planning and Transportation Officer to finalise the 
wording of the conditions and informatives, prior to 
the notice being issued. 

 
188 Exclusion of the Public 

 
Resolved - That, in accordance with Section 100A(4) Local 

Government Act 1972, the public be excluded from 
the meeting during the following item, when it was 
likely, in view of the nature of the business to be 
transacted, or the nature of the proceedings, that 
there would otherwise be disclosure of exempt 
information within the Paragraph at Schedule 12A of 
the Act specified at the item. 

 
189 The Gypsy and Traveller Site at Back Lane, Baxenden, Accrington 

 
Exempt Information under the Local Government Act 1972, Schedule 12A, Paragraph 5 – 
In respect of which a claim to legal professional privilege could be maintained in legal 
proceedings) 
 
A report containing exempt information was considered by the Committee. 
 
Resolved - That of the two options presented in the report (a 

and b), members voted unanimously to support 
Option b. 

 
 

Signed:…………………………………………… 
 

Date: …………….………………………………………… 
 

Chair of the meeting 
At which the minutes were confirmed 

 
 

Page 116



 

 
1 

 
STANDARDS COMMITTEE 

 

 
Thursday, 9th December, 2021 

 
Present:  Councillor Andrew Clegg (in the Chair), Councillors June Harrison (Vice 

Chair) and Kath Pratt 
 

  

 
200 Apologies for absence, Declarations of Interest and Dispensations 

 
Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Rahila Hussain, Frank Whitehead and 
Laurence Loft (all Independent Members). 
 
Cllr Kate Walsh and Altham Parish Councillor Rennie Pinder were absent from the meeting.   
 
There were no declarations of interest of dispensations declared at the meeting. 
 

201 Minutes of Last Meeting 
 
The Minutes of the last meeting held on 15th October 2020 were submitted for approval as a 
correct record. 
 
Resolved - That the Minutes be received and approved as a 

correct record. 
 

202 Grant of Dispensations 
 
Members were requested to consider a report of the Executive Director (Legal and 
Democratic Members considered a report of the Executive Director (Legal and Democratic 
Services) on the grant of dispensations. 
 
Members were informed that, in June 2012, Hyndburn Borough Council and Altham Parish 
Council had each adopted a new Code of Conduct following the introduction of the new 
standards regime under the Localism Act 2011.  Unlike the previous codes, the new Codes 
did not expressly enable Councillors to speak and vote on a number of specific issues 
where a large number would have an interest, e.g. setting the Council Tax.  Therefore, 
Standards Committee would need to consider granting dispensations on those issues 
where legislation did not specifically allow Hyndburn and Altham Parish Councillors to 
speak and vote. 
 
Hyndburn Councillors Dominik Allen, Peter Britcliffe, Susan Hayes, Carole Haythornthwaite, 
Michael Hindley, Sajid Mahmood, Caroline Montague and Steven Smithson submitted 
individual requests to renew their dispensations.  The requests related to dispensations to 
speak and vote on the following matters:- 
 

 An allowance, payment or indemnity given to Members; 

 Ceremonial honours given to Members; 

 Setting Council Tax or a precept under the Local Government and Finance Act 1992 

as amended from time to time or any superseding legislation; 

Page 117



 
 
 

 

 
2 

 Setting a local Council Tax reduction scheme for the purposes of the Local 

Government Finance Act 2012 as amended from time to time or any superseding 

legislation; and 

 Setting a local scheme for the payment of business rates, including eligibility for 

rebates and reductions, for the purposes of the Local Government Finance Act 2012 

as amended from time to time and any superseding legislation 

 
Dispensations in the above terms had previously been granted to the other 27 Hyndburn 
Borough Councillors and were not due to expire until either 2022, 2023 or 2024. 
 
Similarly, legislation was silent on the issue of Parish Councillors being able to speak and 
vote on the setting of a parish precept, even though most, if not all of them, could have an 
interest in the decision as local residents.  Following a number of casual vacancies in 2021, 
three Councillors had been co-opted by Altham Parish Council. Councillors David Murray, 
Robert Dexter Stubbs and Joshua Haworth had all submitted requests to renew their 
dispensations to speak and vote in respect of the setting of a precept under the Local 
Government and Finance Act 1992 (as amended from time to time) or any superseding 
legislation.  Dispensations to this effect had previously been granted to the four remaining 
Altham Parish Councillors and were not due to expire until either 2022 or 2024.   
 
The Government had taken the view that a dispensation was unnecessary in certain 
circumstances and that councillors did not have a disclosable pecuniary interest in 
decisions relating to the setting of Council Tax levels.  The matter had not been decided by 
a court however and there was scope to argue that Hyndburn Borough Council and Altham 
Parish Councillors did potentially have a disclosable pecuniary interest when making 
decisions of this type, as they resided in the Borough / Parish and would be required to pay 
any new level of Council Tax or precept.  However, legal grounds existed to grant the 
requested dispensations pursuant to the Localism Act 2011. 
 
Standards Committee was invited to decide whether to grant dispensations to allow each 
Councillor to speak and vote on the relevant issues. 
 
A dispensation had to specify the period for which it had effect and the period specified 
could not exceed four years.  None of the current applicants had existing dispensations in 
force as they were newly elected/appointed.  Due to the postponement of the elections in 
May 2020 until May 2021 and the election or co-option of some individuals as a result of in 
year vacancies, it is proposed that the dispensations be granted for such periods of time so 
as to bring them into line with the timetable of local government elections for the seats held 
by the individuals concerned to simplify the administration of future dispensation requests.  
If the Committee were minded to grant approval to the latest dispensation requests, it was 
proposed that the approval should cover the following periods:- 
 

- 10th December 2021 – 15th October 2022 – Steven Smithson, Robert Dexter Stubbs, 
Joshua Haworth and David Murray. 

- 10th December 2021 – 29th November 2024 – Dominik Allen, Peter Britcliffe, Susan 
Hayes, Carole Haythornthwaite, Michael Hindley, Sajid Mahmood and Caroline 
Montague. 

 
The Committee could grant a dispensation to speak only, or could grant a dispensation to 
speak and vote.  A dispensation could be granted if Committee was satisfied on any of the 
following grounds:  
 

 The number of members prevented from speaking or voting would be so great as to 

“impede the transaction of business”;  or 

Page 118



 
 
 

 

 
3 

 The political balance at the relevant meeting would otherwise be sufficiently affected 

as to alter the likely outcome of the vote;  or 

 The dispensation was in the interests of people living in the area; or 

 All the members of the Cabinet were affected by the interest; or it was otherwise 

appropriate to grant the dispensation. 

 
Resolved (1) That the requests from Altham Parish Councillors 

Robert Dexter Stubbs, Joshua Haworth and David 
Murray, to grant dispensations to speak and vote on 
the issues set out in Section 3.4 of the report, be 
approved, to have effect for the period 10th 
December 2021 to 15th October 2022. 

 
(2) That the request from Hyndburn Borough 

Councillors Dominik Allen, Peter Britcliffe, Susan 
Hayes, Carole Haythornthwaite, Michael Hindley, 
Sajid Mahmood, Caroline Montague and Steven 
Smithson, to grant dispensations to speak and vote 
on the issues set out in Section 3.2 of the report, be 
approved, to have effect for the period 10th 
December 2021 to 29th November 2024. 

 
203 Annual Ombudsman's Letter 2021 

 
The Committee considered a report of the Executive Director (Legal and Democratic 
Services) regarding the annual Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman’s 
(LGSCO’s) letter for 2021.  The Chair provided a brief introduction to the main points 
contained within the report. 
 
The LGSCO had published its annual complaint figures in respect of each local authority for 
the period 1st April 2020 to 31st March 2021.  The data was produced in respect of every 
local authority in the same format. 
 
For many years the LGSCO had received a low level of complaints about Hyndburn, 
making it difficult to identify trends from the statistical information provided.  The low level of 
complaints might however reflect good service delivery and / or a good internal complaint 
handling process. 
 
Last year the LGSCO had changed the reporting format and less detail had been provided 
and as a result, there was no longer any information to identify service areas to which 
complaints related.  The Ombudsman’s letter does not specify any areas of concern about 
either the Council’s services or its procedures for dealing with complaints. 
 
During this period the LGSCO had carried out 1 detailed investigation in response to a 
complaint about the Council, and this complaint was upheld. 
 
Most importantly, the Ombudsman’s letter did not flag up any areas of concern about either 
the Council’s services or its procedures for dealing with complaints. 
 
The table below showed a comparison between the Council’s position and that of 
neighbouring District Councils over the same period.  This exercise also did not indicate 
any obvious cause for concern in respect of the Council, with Hyndburn’s performance 
being comparable to its Lancashire neighbours.  Additionally, the level of complaints across 
the County was so low it made it difficult to draw any specific conclusions from the statistics 

Page 119



 
 
 

 

 
4 

available, although it would be worth noting that the LGSO ceased to deal with complaints 
for several months at the height of the pandemic, and this may have suppressed the figures 
shown below: 
 

Council Complaints 
investigated by 
LGO 

% of complaints upheld after detailed 
investigation (the average for similar 
council is 45%) 

Hyndburn 1 100% (i.e. 1 upheld) 

Burnley 3 67% (i.e. 2 upheld) 

Pendle 2 0% 

Rossendale 3 67% (i.e 2 upheld) 

Ribble Valley 0 0% 

Chorley 2 50% (i.e 1 upheld) 

South Ribble 2 0% 

Preston 1 100% (i.e 1 upheld) 

West Lancs 0 0% 

Lancaster 0 0% 

Wyre 0 0%  

Fylde 2 0%  

 
A table at 3.6 in the report showed performance data for 2019/20 which was comparable 
data as the first year for which data was produced in this format. 
Resolved - That Committee welcomed the Ombudsman’s letter 

and noted the report. 
 
 

204 Review of Council's Member Code of Conduct 
 
The Executive Director (Legal & Democratic Services) submitted a report to inform the 
Committee of the Local Government Association (LGA) model code of conduct and sought 
Members views about adoption of the same, either in whole or part. 
 
Members were informed that the Council was requested by law to have a Member Code of 
Conduct, although the terms of the code were largely for each local authority to decide for 
itself.  The terms of the rules relating to disclosable pecuniary interests were statutory and 
therefore compulsory.  Any changes to the Council’s Code of Conduct required approval by 
Full Council.  She referred Committee Members to appendix C – the Council’s current Code 
of Conduct adopted in 2012 and was almost identical to the Code of Conduct adopted by 
Lancashire County Council.  The aim was to ensure the same standards and requirements 
applied to dual hatted Councillors.  Altham Parish Council also adopted a Code of Conduct 
in similar terms.   
 
The current Member code appeared to be satisfactory with a low level of complaints about 
Councillors over the last decade.  However, there was a view that the current statutory 
requirements may not provide a sufficiently comprehensive framework for the standards 
regime and as a result the LGA had produced a model Code of Conduct for Members, with 
guidance, attached to the report as appendices A and B, respectively.   
 
She provided a summary of the main changes, should the model code be adopted: 
 

- The model and guidance goes into more detail than the current HBC code. 
- The rules relating to declaration and registration of interests were different and more 

detailed and would bring the benefit of greater certainty and consistency but at the 
expense of ease of understanding and application. 

Page 120



 
 
 

 

 
5 

 
The Council had not reviewed its Code of Conduct for some time.  It was proposed that the 
model code and guidance were shared with all Members as part of a short consultation 
process with comments being brought back to this Committee for consultation before a final 
proposal was submitted to Full Council.  The Executive Director (Legal and Democratic 
Services) indicated that she would draft a summary of the new code and changes, email 
Councillors to invite comments and provide options from which Councillors could choose.  
She would then collate the Councillor responses and report back to Committee for 
consideration before submitting a proposal to Full Council for a decision.   
 

Resolved (1) That the Executive Director (Legal & Democratic 
Services) drafts a summary of the model Code of 
Conduct and changes that would be applied to the 
current HBC code and consults Councillors inviting 
comments, collates responses and reports back to 
Standards Committee; and 

 (2) That, following consideration by Standards Committee a 
proposal is submitted to Full Council for decision. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Signed:…………………………………………… 
 

Date: …………….………………………………………… 
 

Chair of the meeting 
At which the minutes were confirmed 

 
 

Page 121



This page is intentionally left blank



 

REPORT TO: Council 

DATE: 13 January 2022 

REPORT AUTHOR: Julian Joinson, Head of Member Services 

TITLE OF REPORT: Motions for Debate at Council -  

1. End Misogyny and Violence against Women 
and Girls 

 

EXEMPT REPORT:  No  

KEY DECISION: No If yes, date of publication: N/A 

 
The Council will be asked to consider the following motions submitted under Council 
Procedure Rule A9, as amended by Section 10 of the Remote Meetings Procedure Rules:- 
 
1. End Misogyny and Violence against Women and Girls 
 
This Council resolves to ensure Hyndburn Council continues to do everything in its power to 
build a borough free of misogyny and violence against women and girls. 
 
This Council recognises that it is vital that women’s and girls’ voices are heard and they will 
bring forward a process that proactively encourages and listens to women’s voices across the 
borough. 
 
This Council will call on the Government to listen to the lived experiences of women and girls 
across our country and to urgently act on any recommendations the Commission makes to 
strengthen the law on hate crime and to reform legislation around harassment to recognise it 
as an offence a ‘course of conduct’ which targets women and girls in their community 
 
This Council will also call on the Government to provide the resource and the funding for 
police forces across the UK to effectively tackle harassment misogyny and domestic abuse. 
 
Proposer: Cllr Kate Walsh 
Seconder: Cllr Melissa Fisher 
 

Submitted on 4th January 2022 (12.29pm) 
 

Page 123

Agenda Item 10.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4. Confirmation of Minutes
	6. Town Centre Investment Plan and Levelling Up Funding Bid
	Appendix A - Accrington TCIP 2022-2032
	Appendix B - Equalities Impact Assessment

	7. Performance Indicators Monitoring & Treasury Management Strategy Update
	8. Minutes of Cabinet
	9. Minutes of Committees
	Planning Committee Minutes - 30 November 2021
	Standards Committee Minutes - 9 December 2021

	10. Motion(s) submitted on Notice

